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Friday, April 1, 2022
--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  Welcome back.


First up, are there any preliminary issues?

Preliminary Matters:

MR. O'LEARY:  One very small housekeeping matter, Mr. Chair.  Yesterday in my haste to have Mr. Weaver qualified, I neglected to mention that there was an updated expanded resume that was filed the week before the proceeding, and I would ask that that be marked as an exhibit.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be marked as Exhibit K5.1. 

EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  UPDATED EXPANDED RESUME OF MR. WEAVER.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And Mr. Murray, is now the time to mark the updated Enbridge compendium?  I should -- just for the purposes of the panel's understanding, we served last night an updated compendium with some additional materials, some of which was intended to be included in the earlier compendium and some of it for use today.  It is 74 pages in length, and I suspect we should give that a separate number as well.


MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  We can mark that as Exhibit K5.2. 

EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  UPDATED ENBRIDGE COMPENDIUM WITH UPDATED MATERIALS.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  That's all I have, sir.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  I would note that we're commencing the fifth day of this oral hearing, and there is a lot of ground that we have left to cover if we want to finish.  It is not a crisis if we don't finish, but it is preferable to all if we did today.


A brief reminder with respect to cross-examination.  The cross-examination is not intended to provide an opportunity for the questioner to restate a party's position.  It is to bring clarity to the evidence, if necessary challenge the elements of the evidence where appropriate, and find support for conclusions derived from the evidence.


We know that demand-side management matters are -- involve much context, but short, concise questions may accomplish that goal without a lengthy preface.


With that, Mr. Elson, could you present your witness.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.  Dr. Heather McDiarmid is an independent consultant based in the Kitchener area.  Dr. McDiarmid is the principal of McDiarmid Climate Consulting, as well Alectra and the Sustainability Living Lab coordinator at the University of Waterloo.  Dr. McDiarmid has a Ph.D. in biochemistry and a Master of climate change, with respect to heat pumps in particular.


Dr. McDiarmid has published a number of reports, presented on the subject, and is involved in ongoing research.  Dr. McDiarmid's CV is attached to her evidence in this proceeding.


Now, it appears to us that most, if not all, of Dr. McDiarmid's report and evidence is not in the nature of opinion evidence.  However, that line is not always fully clear, and so we would ask that Dr. McDiarmid be qualified as an expert in residential heating options modelling, and I have canvassed all of the parties, and I understand that there are no objections to this.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Dr. McDiarmid is recognized as an expert scheduled (sic) in residential heating options.


MR. ELSON:  Dr. McDiarmid, I only have one question for you.


MR. MORAN: Sorry, I have to swear her in.


MR. ELSON:  Oh, yes.  Of course.  Good point.

ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE - PANEL 6
Heather McDiarmid; Affirmed.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Elson:

Dr. McDiarmid, do you adopt your evidence in this proceeding as your sworn testimony, including your report, interrogatory responses, the undertaking responses, and the presentation?


DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  I have no questions in-chief, Commissioner Janigan, and I believe the first on the list with questions for Dr. McDiarmid is Mr. O'Leary.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, go ahead, Mr. O'Leary.

Cross-Examination by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good morning, Dr. McDiarmid.  Let me start by asking Ms. Adams to go to our compendium at page 68.  And hopefully I have the right page.  I do.


Now, our understanding is that at the Presentation Day you were provided with an addendum of avoided costs by your counsel, Mr. Elson, that was filed with your presentation materials.  Is that correct?


DR. McDIARMID:  Correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And I understand in those materials that were filed was a spreadsheet that included the backup information for the tables that you provided in the addendum.  Correct?


DR. McDIARMID:  Correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And so what I wanted to confirm was that in the materials that you filed were the 2020 avoided costs table that -- presenting currently on the shared screen.  Would that be it?


DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  And can you tell me, where did you obtain these avoided costs?


DR. McDIARMID:  These are the IESO annual planning outlook avoided cost figures for 2020.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Did you request them yourself?  Or were they given to you by Mr. Elson?


DR. McDIARMID:  I believe they're also available on the Internet.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But they were given to you by Mr. Elson?


DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.  He did share them.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And have you made any enquiries with the IESO about how they use these avoided costs and for what purposes?


DR. McDIARMID:  No, I have not.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And do you know whether or not they include the cost of carbon in their avoided costs?


DR. McDIARMID:  No, I don't.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And if we look at the top where it says "2020 avoided energy cost by season and time-of-use period", it says "2020 dollar per megawatt hour".


Would you agree with me that this is in real dollars?  It appears to be, right?


DR. McDIARMID:  Pardon me?


MR. O'LEARY:  It appears to be.


DR. McDIARMID:  It would appear to be.  That is not something I claim to be an expert on.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  So then could I then ask Ms. Adams to turn to page 58 of the updated Enbridge compendium, K5.2, and this is taken from -- sorry, if you can just scroll up a little more.  I am just trying to identify what we have here.


This is a response from Enbridge to Environmental Defence number 16, Exhibit I.5.  And you will see the top left they've got inflation factor, discount rate.  And in the far right are the electricity avoided costs.


You will agree with me that for the purposes of Enbridge's calculations they have used nominal dollars?  It's been inflated?


DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then Ms. Adams, could you please go to the spreadsheet that we forwarded to Mr. Elson last night.  And I don't know if you have had time to do this yet, but it's the one entitled -- thank you, that's it.  At the top it is "outputs for report tables".


My understanding is that this is your spreadsheet.  If you scroll down a bit, Ms. Adams.  We have used some of your cells to generate various figures for 2025, 2026, and 2027.  So we sent it over last night in the hope that you would have a chance to look at this and simply confirm that our calculations and results are correct.  Were you able to do that?


DR. McDIARMID:  I have looked at it.  I can confirm that your one-year energy values are correct, that your one-year energy cost values are correct, but I don't understand why you did the calculation as you did for the cost per kilowatt-hour.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  It is simply a matter if you don't understand how it was done, not that you --


DR. McDIARMID:  I understand how it was done.  What was done was they added the cost per kilowatt-hours plus the cost per kilowatt to get the total cost and then divided it by the total kilowatt-hours, which to me is akin to taking the cost of apples and oranges and dividing it by the total number of apples.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  But we did get our math correct.  You don't necessarily agree with the methodology, but the math is correct.

DR. McDIARMID:  You're sourcing the values from the right places, yes. 

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Let's then move on.  Let me get into a less technical area for a moment.  The evidence of the Enbridge panel 2 witnesses, when they were asked about new construction residential space and water heating, indicated that currently new homeowners are about 98 percent going with natural gas space and water heating.

Did you happen to hear that part of the evidence?

DR. McDIARMID:  I have heard about it since.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  But you will accept that that is currently the trend.  Right?

DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And you will agree with me that for new residential subdivisions, that the decision that is made as to whether or not they install gas infrastructure is something that is made by the developer at the time that they're actually going to plan and then to start construction of the residential development?

DR. McDIARMID:  I am not -- I am not aware of the all of the complexities involved in that decision.

MR. O'LEARY:  But it kind of makes sense.  It is logical that if you're going to add gas pipes, you do it before you put the asphalt on the roads, right?

DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And the reason why I am asking is that you will appreciate that even if you did incent homeowners to go completely to an electric heating system and hot water system, that certain homeowners will still want to have gas fireplaces, gas stoves and ovens, gas barbeques, gas clothes dryers, and these are the kind of things that a customer, a prospective customer may want.  Would you agree there will still be some demand for that?

DR. McDIARMID:  I would agree that there would be some demand for that, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Then when a developer then is considering whether or not to have gas infrastructure mains put down and service lines put down in the streets, would you agree that a developer would likely consider it a competitive disadvantage if they did not construct that subdivision with the gas infrastructure in the roads?

In other words, do you not think that somebody who is trying to sell their homes would want to offer their prospective purchasers the option of connecting to the gas system?

DR. McDIARMID:  I imagine that is the way it is now.  I also imagine that will change with time.  But you are asking about now, aren't you?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  So what I am simply saying is that in your report in different places, you have indicated that one of the cost-effectiveness comparisons you would look at between the all electric system and the hybrid system is the fact that you might be able to exclude the cost of the gas infrastructure.

I am going to suggest to you that that in fact is a mirage, that builders are going to put the gas lines down the street in any event.  Therefore, you are including an avoided cost that is not actually being avoided.  Will you accept that?

DR. McDIARMID:  I guess that is the way things probably work in the current -- in the current climate.  I imagine that is going to change because of our climate commitments.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  So can I ask you now, Ms. Adams, can you turn to page 3 of the updated compendium?

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. O'Leary, before we do that -- it is Lawren Murray for OEB Staff.  The Excel document that you are referring to, has that already been marked as an exhibit?

MR. O'LEARY:  My apologies.  I meant to do that.  No.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you describe the title of the Excel spreadsheet so we can mark it as an Exhibit K5.3?

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Ms. Adams, if you go back to the title.  I believe it read -- I did describe it, and forgot to ask for an exhibit number.  It is "Outputs for report tables", and these are the spreadsheet calculations that were taken out of the spreadsheet which was attached to the ED presentation and their addendum.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "OUTPUTS FOR REPORT TABLES"


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry about that.  Ms. Adams, can you then go back to page 3 of our compendium?

I am not sure if you are familiar with this, but this is a Ministerial directive to the IESO dated September 30th, 2020.  And if you scroll down, you will see the words, the legalese:  
"Now therefore the directive attached hereto is approved."


So the government of Ontario has approved the directive to the IESO.

If you could scroll over to the next page, and what this relates to is the government telling the IESO to generate a CDM plan for the years 2021-2024.

And in the -- under the sub heading "Overview of CDM programs", the government of Ontario directs the IESO that the new CDM framework will focus on cost-effectively meeting the needs of Ontario's electricity system, including by focussing on the achievement of provincial peak demand reductions.

Dr. McDiarmid, you understand what peak demand in electricity refers to?

DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And so the government is clearly saying, as I think we all know, that generation capacity at peak is somewhat challenged here in Ontario.  And as a result, they want to achieve peak demand reductions and they're directing the IESO to take steps to achieve that objective.  Fair enough?

DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And yesterday, in my discussion with Mr. Neme, who is counsel for both ED and GEC, I took him to an Enbridge exhibit that demonstrated that over the past number of years and a couple of years into the future, the forecast is that there will be residential new additions to the gas system of about 42,000 per year.

And we had a little discussion about how, if in a certain area if the new residential customers all went electric and if that required changes to the electricity distribution and transmission infrastructure, he agreed that if those were costs that needed to be incurred to support those new electricity customers, that those costs should be included in the comparison between the all electric system and the hybrid system.

Would that be fair?  You would agree with him?

DR. McDIARMID:  Sure.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And given the time, we didn't go any further, but let me ask you this.  So if we had two or three years of natural gas -- what would have been natural gas customers, new residential customers, if they went all electric, so you've got say 120,000 residential customers that are now on the electric system for space heating and hot water, would you agree with me that that is going to have an impact on the peak demand for electricity in Ontario?

DR. McDIARMID:  Are we talking summer peak demand or winter peak demand?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am going to suggest to you both.

DR. McDIARMID:  Well, I think Chris Neme mentioned that for the summer peak demand, cold climate -- all electric heat pumps tend to have better efficiencies than air conditioners, so that it would tend to reduce the summer peak demand.

And as for winter peak demand, it will increase demand in winter, but the peak from a heat pump doesn't coincide with the peak demand times currently in the winter.

So we peak in winter -- our on peak times are 7 a.m. to 11 a.m., and 5 p.m. to 7 p.m., whereas the times in winter when a heat pump is most active or drawing most power is sort of middle of the night, when it is coldest.

So there isn't -- there is not a lot of coincidence between those.  It will take a lot of new all-electric homes to shift that peak from where it is now to 
a winter -- sorry, to a nighttime peak.

And it will take a lot of extra installations before you get that peak up to where it is in the summer, because we're currently -- our summer peak is higher than our winter peak --

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But you will agree that -- sorry I didn't mean to interrupt, if I did.

DR. McDIARMID:  I don't know what the numbers would be, how many homes it would take to get that, but it would seem to me that it would be a very large number.

MR. O'LEARY:  But eventually you will be adding to at least the winter peak demand, right?

DR. McDIARMID:  Eventually, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yeah.  And the fact that uncertainties happen, we've had COVID for two years, everybody is staying home, and all of sudden those smart thermostats, which are supposed to set heat back during the day while we're at work is not happening.  Everybody's staying home and they're heating their house all day.  Doesn't that mean that -- wouldn't you want to factor into your calculations as well?

DR. McDIARMID:  The optimal way to operate a heat pump in a home is to actually not use setbacks, so you keep the home -- the temperature constant through the day and the night, and so you wouldn't have those -- that changes that you were describing with -- that we saw with COVID.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  So are you familiar with the IESO's CDM program, the 2021-2024 program?

DR. McDIARMID:  No, I am not.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Would it surprise you to know that they do not offer residential programs?

DR. McDIARMID:  No.  It doesn't surprise me.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Well, were you aware of the fact that the IESO does not provide any incentive whatsoever for electric air-source heat pumps, whether they're cold-climate or not?

DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.  I was aware of that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  You are aware of that.

DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And I am going to suggest to you that the reason why the IESO did not incent this equipment is because it was directed by the Government of Ontario to not negatively influence peak demand in Ontario.  So it decided it will not include heat pumps, and therefore we will not see the peak demand increase due to the flip over from gas to electricity.

Do you agree with that?

DR. McDIARMID:  Well, I don't know what the IESO was considering when they made that decision.  I wonder if they've took into account some of the technologies, such as electric thermal storage, electric vehicle batteries, home batteries that have the ability to shift or -- and reduce peak power demand in the wintertime.

So I don't know what went into that decision and what -- I can't really comment on it.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  But one could be that they were fearful that incenting a large number of gas customers to move over to electricity would have a negative impact on peak demand.  That's logical.  Correct?

DR. McDIARMID:  Whether it is -- whether their concerns are rightly placed, I couldn't say.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Let me just move on to another issue.  My understanding is that your clients, ED and GEC, are advocating that Enbridge Gas should be incenting the all-electric heating and water-heating -- space-heating and water-heating option.

So we know that the IESO does not provide any incentive.  So the electric ratepayers, indeed the Ontario taxpayers, are not incenting such equipment.  I just want your view about the equity, the fairness, of asking gas ratepayers to incent current customers to get off the system and no longer contribute to the costs of the gas system.

Do you have a view as to whether that is fair?

MR. ELSON:  Mr. O'Leary, I should just note that Dr. McDiarmid is not a witness for GEC.  It is only for Environmental Defence.

MR. O'LEARY:  My apologies.

MR. ELSON:  And also that, you know, our position will be outlined in our submissions.  I am not sure if this is an area where Dr. McDiarmid could comment on it, but I am happy for her to answer the question as best she can, but it seems to be a bit outside of what we're talking about here.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am just asking you for your view, Doctor.

DR. McDIARMID:  Well, it seems to me that if the primary goal of the low-carbon transition program is to cost-effect -- find solutions that are cost-effective and climate-aligned, then they really ought to be examining all electric heat pumps, because they are cost-effective and they are very climate-aligned.

What system should be used to incentivize that is -- as Mr. Elson pointed out, this is beyond my area of expertise, and maybe some things need to be rethought.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  One final question is that when it comes to ultimately a customer making a decision, you will agree with me that a few homeowners are going to sit down and go through your spreadsheet and your comparison of avoided costs to determine which equipment they select.

Would that be fair?  It just doesn't happen?

DR. McDIARMID:  Well, I imagine avoided costs is not something that a consumer is interested in any way.  They would be more concerned about what the cost is to them.  And it is clear that the all-electric heat pumps are cost-effective for consumers, but I think there is a lack of awareness of that both among consumers and among installers, which would be one of the goals of a market transformation program.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ultimately they're going to look at what is the cost to them on their energy bill, and they're likely going to make the decision on the one that actually has the appropriate impact that they consider appropriate.  Right?  It is a customer choice thing.

DR. McDIARMID:  Yes.  It is a customer choice thing.  And certainly the all-electric heat pumps are cheaper to operate than many of the gas alternatives.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, we will go into the evidence in argument and talk about which is cheaper and which is not and which has more upfront installation costs and all of that, but those are my questions.

DR. McDIARMID:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  I am getting -- I don't know if I am the only person, but I am getting a bit of reverberate noise from when you are questioning.  I am not certain if that is something that is a fault of the system or something that is a problem at your end.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, was it only when I was questioning, because I actually heard some -- I thought it was coming back to me.

MR. JANIGAN:  Ah.  Well, I thought it was when you were questioning, but I may be wrong.  And I am certainly no technical expert --

MR. O'LEARY:  No.  And I am not either.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can I ask possibly Ms. Walter if you experience the same thing?

MS. WALTER:  I did, and I don't know -- I don't hear it any longer.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  It might be some sort of --

MR. O'LEARY:  April Fool's?

[Laughter]

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, indeed.  Okay.  Well, I will leave it at that, and we will continue.  I believe that this is a time for any Commissioners' questions of Dr. McDiarmid.

MR. MORAN:  I don't have any questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Commissioner Zlahtic.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  I don't have any questions either, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  I don't have any questions as well.  Do you have any redirect, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  No, I don't have any redirect.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you, Dr. McDiarmid, for your patience and waiting through this to testify and for your answers, and have a good weekend.  Thank you.

Can we proceed to the next item on the agenda, which is the evidence of the Small Business Utility Alliance.

MS. SEERS:  Good morning, Commissioners.  We have Mr. Love and Mr. Wyatt with us, we do.  Great.

So the Small Business Utility Alliance is putting forward as experts in this proceeding Mr. Francis Wyatt and Mr. Theodore Love, who are with us.

Their CVs are attached to their expert report, which for the record is Exhibit L.SBUA.1.  In summary, Mr. Wyatt is a Vermont-based civil engineer with nearly 30 years of experience in the energy efficiency field, during which he has reviewed, critiqued, analyzed, and assisted with electric gas and other fuels, demand-side management, program planning, design, and implementation.

Mr. Love is also a Vermont-based expert in energy efficiency who specializes in providing economic-based insights into the design, analysis, and implementation of energy efficiency and distributed energy resource programs.

Their experience spans multiple jurisdictions in North America, including Nova Scotia, British Columbia, Ontario, Vermont, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Wisconsin, Louisiana, Texas, the District of Columbia, Illinois, Oklahoma, Connecticut, and Florida.

Mr. Wyatt is currently also a member of the Nova Scotia utility and review board's DSM advisory group.

So we request that the Board qualify them as experts capable of testifying on energy efficiency program design and analysis.  We canvassed the other parties last night and understand there is no objection to that qualification.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Ms. Seers.  The panel will qualify your witnesses as the experts in energy efficiency program design and analysis.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you very much.  I would ask that they be affirmed.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Love and Mr. Wyatt.
SMALL BUSINESS UTILITY ALLIANCE - PANEL 7
Theodore Love,

Francis Wyatt; Affirmed.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.
Examination-in-Chief by Ms. Seers:


MS. SEERS:  Mr. Love and Mr. Wyatt, do you adopt your evidence in this proceeding, including your report, your interrogatory responses, your technical conference testimony, your undertaking responses, and your presentation as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you.  I just have one question in examination in-chief before turning the panel over to cross-examination.

You will recall that during his cross-examination, Mr. Grochmal confirmed that Enbridge is willing in principle to expand the range of measures available to small business customers, but stated that it is facing budget constraints in doing that.

What is your reaction to that?

MR. LOVE:  I think we believe that the portfolio of programs as currently proposed by Enbridge will leave small business customers underserved.  As long as cost-effective energy efficiency is delivered to these customers, then the net benefits from the portfolio will be increased even if, for instance, the benefit cost ratio declines.

I think that leaving these additional net benefits on the table means less money going into Ontario's economy and specifically, into Enbridge's small business customers' pockets.

MS. SEERS:  Thank you.  Mr. Wyatt and Mr. Love are available for cross.

MR. JANIGAN:  [microphone not activated]


MR. LOVE:  Mr. Janigan, I believe you are on mute.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  The first up is Environmental Defence.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Commissioner Janigan, we I believe advised we will not be asking any questions to this panel.  So we can move along, and I will buy you a bit more time for today.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Elson.  Then we will move to the Green Energy Coalition.  Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Good morning, panel.  Good morning to the commissioners.

Panel, do either of you have experience analysing, or developing, or reviewing energy-efficiency potential studies?

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MR. LOVE:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you.  Now, in the Energy Futures Group report, it states that efficiency potential studies are inherently conservative in their estimates of how much efficiency savings can be cost-effectively achieved, and they cite an ACEE -- American Council for Energy Efficiency, I believe it is called -- report that comes to the same conclusion.

Do you agree with that conclusion, that efficiency potential studies tend to be inherently conservative in their estimates of cost-effective savings potential?

MR. WYATT:  I do.  They tend to take the perspective of basing their assumptions on what we know in current time, and neglect to take into account that efficient measures tend to go -- decline in their costs over time.  An example of that is LED lighting.

They often will do take into account the decline or the increase in the efficiency baseline equipment, but they often don't make that same adjustment for the increases on the higher end of efficiencies. So they're understated there.

They will also tend to look, you know, when you are screening for which measures are going to be cost-effective, look on the average bases which ones will be cost-effective and neglect to include those same measures for certain customers where they will be cost-effective, and so that's left out of the savings potential.

And then lastly, they will sometimes take into account some amount of emerging technologies, but are often very conservative if they do at all and there's just continuingly new efficiency measures that come into the market that don't get counted in the future savings for potential studies.

MR. POCH:  Would those observations apply to all customer segments, including the small commercial?

MR. WYATT:  Oh, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, would you also agree that net-to-gross ratios can be significantly affected by program design?

MR. LOVE:  Definitely, yes.  We definitely agree with that.  There's a number of aspects of program design that can lead to affect on net-to-gross ratios.

I think we have talked about incentives as one of those.  Increasing incentives can increase the percentage of customers who are not free riders in your program.  So in other words, increasing your net-to-gross ratio, decreasing free ridership.

Other aspects of the program design, such as streamlining the way in which a customer might participate, can also affect the net-to-gross ratio.

Mr. Wyatt, anything else you might want to add to that?

MR. WYATT:  No.  I agree with your assessment.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I have had conversations with a couple of other witnesses in this case about comparisons of portfolios, either between utilities or between scenarios in the achievable potential studies and whether it is appropriate to simply freeze the net-to-gross ratio experienced with the lesser portfolio, if you will.

And would you agree that it's not appropriate to do that since moving to a more aggressive portfolio with more budget would tend to improve net-to-gross ratios?

MR. LOVE:  We generally agree that improving program design and, for instance, increasing incentives would lead to an increase in net-to-gross ratios.  Freezing them at a lower level doesn't necessarily make sense.

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. WYATT:  I understand the inclination to do that because you have information based on your current programs, but it is inaccurate to assume that it stays steady as you increase the incentives or offer more assistance.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And that is simply because you are assuming you are going to increase participation and with higher participation --


MR. WYATT:  Right.  Free riders are going to stay the same, but you increase the non-free riders.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Turning to bill impacts, would you agree that to properly understand bill impacts, it would be appropriate to include what's been called DRIPE and cross-fuel DRIPE, and also long-term transmission and distribution savings functions?

MR. LOVE:  In terms of bill impacts, I think -- I think, yes.  We definitely agree DRIPE is part of an avoided costs of energy savings, and DRIPE being demand reduction induced price effects.  I think it comes down to a simple supply and demand economics, where you have reduction in demand given the same supply, the price will also go down.  I think that is a real effect that should be counted.

And in terms of long term T&D, avoided -- transmission and distribution avoided costs, I mean that is absolutely something that efficiency can help avoid.  But I am not sure exactly -- we haven't examined it in this case in particular.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Thinking about the sector that you are deposing on, one of the concerns that has been discussed in this proceeding is whether it is appropriate for the utility to be incenting measures that aren't fuel neutral.  That will be, in effect, stranded investments if customers switch over to be fully electrified.

Is that something you would agree is an appropriate consideration at this point, that the focus should be more on efficiency measures that will be valuable regardless of the fuel?

MR. LOVE:  I think in our evidence we specifically stated that we would like the low-carbon transition program to be fuel-neutral.  I think our concern is mainly from the perspective of the customer, making sure they have the most cost-effective for them options available.

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. WYATT:  And also allow that, you know, certain customers may wish to reduce their carbon impacts, and so it would be good for them to have that information for which of the technologies they can choose from, whether it is electric or gas or otherwise, could help them decrease their carbon impacts the most.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I think you may have impliedly said this already, but just to sum up, in the small-business sector is it fair to say that some leading jurisdictions are in your view getting significantly better savings results than Enbridge?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.  I definitely agree, and I think 
our --

MR. POCH:  All right.  Go ahead.  Finish your sentence.

MR. LOVE:  I was just going to say I think our evidence points to a few of those jurisdictions.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

Mr. Brophy, Pollution Probe, is next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Thanks very much.  It just took a minute.  The camera wasn't cooperating.

Good morning, Commissioners and panels and other stakeholders.  Good to see you again.

Okay.  So I will just jump in.  I only have a couple of lines of questioning and should be able to go fairly quickly.  The first reference I had was the Pollution Probe IR SBUA, Appendix A.  It is the community energy plan reference there.

Sorry.  I think that is the wrong one.  But you know what, for expedience of time why don't I -- I will focus on this, and then -- oh, okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.  That is the one.

Okay.  So this is two diagrams that represent communities.  There's -- in Ontario that have initiated energy and emissions savings plans, so this -- city of Toronto is the first one.  If you flip to the second, it is city of Ottawa.  It is really meant to be an example backdrop, and I think that you have seen things like that and answered some questions.

So you had indicated a strong link between DSM and reducing emissions, and I want go through all of that.  I think in Pollution Probe.SBUA.1 you gave, you know, quite a good explanation on those linkages.

So you had indicated there is a strong synergy and link between DSM and climate change, but I think actually it is even stronger than that.

In my mind, DSM is emissions reductions.  Every unit of DSM you achieve for natural gas is equal exactly to a unit of reductions in emissions.

So I think it would be even stronger than a strong linkage.  In my mind, it is exactly the same.  DSM is a climate-change reduction program.  Is that fair?  Or am I going a little too far?

MR. LOVE:  I would agree that there is an exact amount of emissions reduced by every unit of energy saved, absolutely.  But I think that there is also additional goals of DSM beyond climate change, although emission reduction is an increasingly important goal for DSM programs.

MR. WYATT:  And I would say that, you know, DSM tends to be the cheapest source of reducing carbon emissions as well.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  I think we can agree on that.  So again, you know, we can use either of these examples.  City of Toronto is a huge city, biggest city in Ontario.  City of Ottawa, you know, is smaller than Toronto, obviously, but still a fair size.

So when you look at this example going from today down to -- well, even 2027, but even beyond that, but there is a significant reduction targeted for natural gas.

Do you see that on the -- I think I was calling it teal line there.  Okay.  I see you nodding.

MR. WYATT:  Yes, yes.

MR. LOVE:  I see the graph.  I'm just understanding.  Is this usage?  What is this a graph of?  I am a little confused.

MR. BROPHY:  This is natural gas usage.  So it takes the natural gas usage in the city of Ottawa and takes it from current to where they are planning for it to be in alignment with their net zero goals, and I think, actually, Ottawa is net zero by 2040, summer, as far as 2050, and City of Toronto I think is actually even earlier, but, you know, in that ballpark.

MR. LOVE:  I see that, yes, hmm-hmm.

MR. BROPHY:  There, yeah.  So I won't ask you to do math, but, you know, I had suggested before that if DSM is going to play a large part of the reduction in natural gas here, there's going to be a lot of DSM, probably more than -- much more than status quo in order to help contribute to the goals.

Does that sound right, based on these reductions?

MR. LOVE:  I would say that is reasonable, yeah.

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  And as you know, municipalities in Ontario, there's about 444 in total, make up 100 percent of the customers that Enbridge serves, be it homes and businesses; businesses include small businesses and large businesses.  So it includes the target area, I think, that you have been focusing on.

So, you know, DSM I think you have indicated can contribute.  More is going to be needed to hit these goals, but small businesses being a piece of this declining slice in natural gas usage, what other things do you think that could be done in alignment with DSM?  We talked a little bit yesterday about supporting the municipalities in their program efforts and resourcing and that kind of thing, and Enbridge had indicated that they're hoping to do that.  They have some resources now and are hoping to do that in the future, but they have been really constrained by budgets and haven't been able to address that.

Do you agree that that would be an area, either providing resources on loan or directly to municipalities like this or direct partnership in delivering their programs, would help small businesses in these communities?

MR. LOVE:  So I think your question is asking will Enbridge partnering with municipalities help deliver energy efficiency, additional energy efficiency, to small businesses.  Is that what you are asking?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And emissions reductions that are even complementary to that.

MR. LOVE:  Yeah.  Okay.  Yes.  Definitely.  I think that comprehensive partnerships are a very important part of efficient delivery of energy efficiency.

I think, for instance, having the opportunity to reach more customers through existing channels can make it cheaper for a company -- an administrator such as Enbridge to reach customers.  It also makes it easier to make customers who necessarily wouldn't pay attention to traditional marketing activities, and I think that it also allows an administrator to leverage existing resources on both sides of the partnership.

Other things, like we noticed there was a list of current coordination activities that Enbridge provided, I believe, on Monday, and that listed a direct-install program for the -- that the IESO is running, but it was not applicable to the data.  There was no coordination between the two programs.  


We feel like that is an exact example of something that coordination would help with, being able to reach, say, a customer at the same time, reducing the number of interactions that customer might have to have to get additional energy efficiency services, and reducing the cost required to those customers would be an excellent example of how partnerships could increase the reach of energy efficiency programs, even given the same budgets.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I would like to go to the other exhibit Bonnie had pulled up, Appendix A, IESO engagement principles.

And then just for the help of Bonnie then I'm going to move to JT3.7, SBUA's undertaking response after that, if that is helpful.

I am not going to go through this document.  You had seen it, you know, and provided your responses in relation to this indicating it is best practice and should be used, you know -- well, it is used in Ontario.  It is an IESO engagement principle document from Ontario, but I think you suggested it would fit for DSM.

So along this line, and again I won't walk through each of the best practice elements, but it is about communication.  IESO's done a very good job of building out their website and putting information to bridge some of the consultation and stakeholder engagement gaps that we have been talking about in this proceeding.

So you may be aware that the OEB agreed in an IRP proceeding last summer that stakeholdering needed to be improved, and mandated Enbridge to build a website for that very purpose.  It would include, you know, a source for small businesses to go to, municipalities, you name it, any stakeholders as the go-to source for information and also to help know what engagement is going on.

So I was just going to ask, you know, for that specific type of thing, similar to what the OEB mandated for IRP, would the same apply for DSM?  Would that improve or help to improve?  It wouldn't fix a hundred percent, but certainly improve some of the information accessible to stakeholders and potentially improve stakeholder engagement.

MR. LOVE:  I definitely agree with that, yeah.  Having a more comprehensive stakeholder engagement is absolutely something that we are recommending in our evidence as well.

And having, for instance, a central website to do so makes a lot of sense.  I believe there is also some proposals from other parties around having some sort of commission or -- not a commission, the word escapes me -- but kind of a stakeholder group that is consulted for program design changes.  I think something like that would also make a lot of sense.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I guess, you know, what I have been hearing and what I believe it is not one of these things, it is actually all of them.  You don't want to undershoot.  You would want to try to do your best.

Would you agree you don't just do the program committee through the OEB, or the website, or including these engagement principles in the framework, but you should be doing all of them.  Would you agree with that?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you very much.  For the interests of time, I will move on to the next reference that I had, which is JT3.7.  It was the undertakings that you responded to from the technical conference.

So if we scan down just a little bit.  You probably recall it was around specific recommendations to the OEB that they could include in their decision around programs, budgets, that kind of thing.

So maybe we will just do a quick scan down, just to refresh.  I won't go through all of the items, but there is prescriptive programs, et cetera, targets, budgets, you know, that kind of thing.  So do you recall this?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  First of all, thank you very much for this.  I found it very helpful in helping to commend a lot of the things you have been putting forward in the proceeding, and to exactly what the OEB should be doing with that.  Because, you know, at the end of the day, the OEB is going to have to make a decision, put, you know -- put numbers into budgets, you know, how much it should go up, what the targets are, by which area, those kind of precise things.

So thank you very much for this.  It was very helpful in thinking through that.

So I just wanted to ask.  Most of these recommendations in here give specific programs that should be added, the budgets and the targets for that.

So for those ones, then the OEB would just take these and just add them on to -- on to what's being proposed by others and they would be kind of incremental in the decision.  Is that right?  These are incremental programs that should be added?

MR. LOVE:  I don't think we're suggesting any specifically new programs here.  But I think that we're requesting some additional improvements to existing proposed programs, and some significant expansion of some of those programs.

And in terms of guidance for the commission, I would suggest that this gives -- the numbers that we're providing here are meant as kind of a rough estimate of the directionality of some of these suggestions, and that it might be more along the lines of showing how much additional savings there might be, or that it might cost a significant amount more in some ways to achieve those, but that there is still significant opportunity there.

And that, yeah, and there's some specific program recommendations around coordination as well, but not necessarily new programs that we are requesting.

MR. BROPHY:  That is very helpful.  So just using what is on the page as an example then, so for the one there it says savings impact, 663,000 m3 additional net annual gas savings, so that is pretty clear on what that is.  It is net additional and it is annual.

And then budget is, you know, just over 2 million increase, so that is incremental.  So I think the words that are in here when the Board goes through will understand what is, you know, existing and what is incremental.

There was another probably only a couple of things in what you are recommending where you didn't have the time and I think you only had a week or two at most, not the years to pull the DSM plan together.  So thanks again for the quickness in being able to do that.

But for some of them you indicate that, you know, you couldn't put something together in that time, or it would take more.

So for those items then, would it make sense that the OEB takes those -- if they agree -- then they would direct Enbridge to come back in their mid-term review and I think it is about two years, or whatever the timing is, and include those items where they can actually work through all of the incremental math on those -- well, hopefully in conjunction with your organization, potentially.

Is that what would make sense?  For the ones where you can't say, okay, here's exactly what should happen, but something should change, is that how it should be done in the mid term for those ones?

MR. LOVE:  I'm not sure the mid term is necessarily the best option here.

I think we would like to see the improvements made as early as possible.  I think we talked about how urgent some of the requirements are for increasing energy efficiency investment.

I think partially -- part of the issue, too, as you mentioned was time.  I think we only had about a week or two to put these together.  But we also had limited access to information for putting the assumptions together.  I think that our approach here was mainly a rough top-down analysis here, and that we believe Enbridge would be in a much better position to provide a more comprehensive bottom-up analysis based on all of the information they had in the development of their plan.

In terms of when these recommendations should be implemented, I believe that some of these program implementations could be -- could be included even as part of the existing program framework.

I mean, they are not being restricted to the number of measures or types of measures that they are proposing, and those could be included -- a number of them, I believe, are still already in their existing TRM, so they wouldn't have to come up with new savings for them.

I believe they could be included in any approved plan filing, or at least a commitment to include them.  Maybe the measures that we hope that they will continue to expand to won't be in the first year of program design.  Maybe it might take them a year or two to ramp up to including additional measures or increased incentives.

But I think we also talked -- I think a number of the other witnesses also discussed how incentives can be changed by Enbridge, you know, at any time as well.

So, you know, there could be -- there could be on one hand a much more comprehensive revamp of program design thinking that might make sense to be included in a mid term application, or there could be some incremental changes implemented as part of any approved programs out of this proceeding here, I think would be my answer.

MR. WYATT:  I also want to add that, you know, what we have done in this undertaking I think does account for the majority of the increase in savings and increase in budgets that we would expect from our recommendations.

Some of the recommendations -- other recommendations we did not necessarily address did not necessarily have that much of an impact on the budgets.

And it seems like most of our recommendations it seems like Enbridge actually agrees with, and the only issue comes down to whether they could increase the budget to implement those recommendations.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. WYATT:  So if they were given the go-ahead from the OEB to do that, I think they would be amenable to it.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I think, you know, what I heard, and, you know, obviously there was more, but don't waste two years, get going now, because if you wait until the midterm you have lost time that, you know, the OEB could put this in their decision, get the ball rolling now, provide funding, allow some things to happen, and then at least there is also an opportunity to kind of revisit it or look at it at the midterm, but we're not losing, you know, the next couple of years as well.  So that's very helpful.

Thank you very much.  I will just end there and hand it back to Commissioner Janigan.  Thank you very much.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.

We will next have Mr. O'Leary with questions for this panel.
Cross-Examination by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.

Ms. Adams, could I ask you to pull up the one-page set of tables that we sent to parties last night.  It is not included in our compendium.  And that is it.

Gentlemen, let me just ask for an exhibit, and I will describe it first for Mr. Murray.  It is  two tables that reference SBUA's response to Undertaking JT3.7, and I would ask for that exhibit number.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K5.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K5.4:  TWO TABLES THAT REFERENCE SBUA'S RESPONSE TO UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.7.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  So my questions, gentlemen, are really matters of clarification, somewhat follow along what Mr. Brophy was asking, about what you are proposing in terms of several of the commercial program offerings.

Let me start by confirming that when you filed your Undertaking JT3.7, you attached a workbook with it so people could then see how you came up with your various numbers and calculations?

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MR. LOVE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  So we're just trying to understand exactly what you did.  So if you wouldn't mind following me along.

So we're going to mostly use the top table and a little bit the second table, but the way -- for the benefit of the commissioners, I am only going to be dealing with the first two rows, 6 and 7.  And that is the prescriptive downstream and midstream program offerings, where it says "all".

So I appreciate that what you are saying is about 37 percent based upon the evidence is what would be the small commercial customers, but let's just talk about what the budgetary impact you are proposing to the entire program offering is, so I am going to stay with the "all".

So the first column it says "original budget".  Am I correct in my understanding that the figure that you include there is taken directly from the evidence for 2023 that shows the incentive amount -- the incentive component of the budget for that year?

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MR. LOVE:  Yes.  And I believe we marked it as incentive in our evidence, in the undertaking.  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am not disagreeing with that.  I just want to marry the number.  In fact, just so we're clear on this, Ms. Adams, could you go to Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 1, page 11.

MS. SEERS:  And while Ms. Adams is pulling that up, I just want to remind if it is useful to actually have the workbook that is attached to the undertaking, that should be pulled up as well.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yeah.  I hope it's not necessary, because I think our math is correct.  Page 11, please.  There we go.

So this is the proposed budget broken down by the different programs, and you will see under the commercial program sector the two program offerings we're talking about are prescriptive downstream and prescriptive midstream.  So that is the second and fourth ones.

The first column when we've got the dollar figures is the incentive costs.  So the figure you have taken for prescriptive downstream is the 2.1 million?  And for the prescriptive midstream is the 520,000.  Is that fair?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And so you have not, for the purposes of increasing the proposed incentives, you have not taken the promotion cost and the delivery cost and the administrative costs that Enbridge has forecast.  You have simply looked at the incentive.  Correct?

MR. LOVE:  Well, I think for increasing the incentive portion, yes.

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.

MR. LOVE:  I think our analysis also does include some additional costs as well when I look at the full program.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Ms. Adams, can you go back to Exhibit K5.4 then.  So you will see if we go back to the prescriptive downstream, prescriptive midstream, the numbers that I just took you to under the column "original budget", 2.1 million for the downstream and 520,000 for the midstream.  Those were out of the actual evidence that we just looked at, right?

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And then you've proposed an increase to the budgets for those program offerings, and by my calculations, I understand that it is about 2.1 million for the downstream offering, which is the top one, and that would take it to about 4.2 million, roughly?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And then for the midstream you are proposing an increase of about 2.97 million, and that would take it to about 3.5 million?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.  And the context for is this that we went from the current weighted average incentive percentage for each of the programs.  For the prescriptive I 
believe -- the downstream I believe it was around 34 percent.  And we will increase that to 60 percent.

So that would be essentially a doubling there, as you can see.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.

MR. LOVE:  And then for the midstream program, it was an 11 percent weighted average, and we're taking that to 60 percent, would be about a 600 percent -- 571 percent increase there --


MR. O'LEARY:  Yeah, and -- okay.  Thank you.  You have answered my next question.

So then the fourth column, which is "original annual cubic metre savings", am I correct in understanding that the figures you have there were taken out of Exhibit I.5.EGI.GEC-6 attachment 1, and that is the attempt by the -- that is the evidence of the company allocating the 100 percent target to the different program offerings that was requested by GEC.

Is that what you used to come up with your original cubic metre savings figures?

MR. LOVE:  That sounds right, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Subject to check then.

MR. LOVE:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. O'LEARY:  I didn't want to take you there because it appears in your workbook that that is there.

Then from the workbook we have -- we understand that the increase in savings for those two programs with the additional budget would increase the savings that are forecast to 1.95 million cubic metres for the downstream and two and a half million for the midstream.  Is our math correct there?

MR. LOVE:  Subject to check, yes.  And just to provide a little bit more -- is that the higher savings level or the difference?  That is the higher savings level, yes.

So just to provide a little context there too.  This is -- the way -- the approach we took here was we utilized the 2019 electric and natural gas potential study for Ontario.  There was some acceptance rate curves in that, which basically are ways to estimate, given the payback for certain measures, how many -- how much of a percentage of a certain customer class might participate in a program.

So what we were trying to do here was an attempt say how much more of -- how much more savings you might be able to get from those customers if there was a lower payback for them, and the difference in payback between the current incentive levels and the proposed higher incentive levels, 50 percent.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you for that.  The objective is of course you want to see more participants brought in because you have higher incentives and therefore it is going to be more successful.  Right?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.  And one thing I would also note is that we did not do any adjustments to net-to-gross ratios here and I think, as we have discussed previously, many other stakeholders mentioned the idea of increasing incentives also would increase your net-to-gross ratios here.

So you could potentially see significantly more savings than what we are proposing here or presenting here.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  You hit on this earlier, but I did not see -- even though there is going to be more participants that you are hoping to attract to these program offerings, I did not see any inclusion in your suggested increased budget for other costs, for example, the promotional delivery and administrative costs that the company will incur, or the monies it will pay to third parties to successfully operate these program offerings.

So in addition to the incentive amounts, would you agree there would also be some column "other costs" that would be necessary to successfully operate these program offerings?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.

MR. WYATT:  I agree.  But I think it wouldn't be at the same scale.  If you already have prescriptive program then you just add, you know, you increase your incentives 

-- you know, getting more participants doesn't necessarily increase your cost very much.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  But there will be some additional costs.  You have more participants, you have to write more cheques, right?

MR. WYATT:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, okay.

MR. WYATT:  But it would be minimal.

MR. O'LEARY:  So the conclusion that at the end I would ask you to accept is that by the math that's been presented here, it shows that the increase that you are suggesting in the incentive levels, which results in the increase in cubic metre savings, it's not a linear increase.  In other words, it is not dollar for dollar?

MR. LOVE:  I mean, it's not a one to one ratio.  And I think that the acceptance curve is not linear either. It might actually be exponential in some portions.

But, yeah, I would say it is not dollar for dollar.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then I take you down to the next table, the direct install program offering.  And in this one, I won't take you back, but the original budget, subject to check and I hope you will accept this, includes all of the other costs, internal  promotional cost, delivery cost, and administrative cost.

So the budget you have used there of 4.7 million is the entire budget for that program offering.  Is that fair?

MR. LOVE:  Yes, subject to check, yeah.

MR. O'LEARY:  And what you are proposing is a budgetary increase of about 13.3 million, which would take the proposed budget up to about 18 million, a 279 percent increase?

MR. LOVE:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And the increase in natural gas savings, relative to the target, takes you from three and a half million to about 7.2 million.  That is what you would anticipate would be the new target, if I could put it that way?

MR. LOVE:  Let's see here.  I think...


MR. O'LEARY:  I think Mr. Wyatt is nodding his head yes.

MR. LOVE:  I am trying to double-check these numbers here.

MR. WYATT:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. LOVE:  Some other context though around these numbers here is this is an extremely rough calculation here.

We are basically just taking the costs from the Massachusetts program and applying them to the Enbridge program, just as --


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay, fair enough.  Just one final question.  By my math -- and please take it subject to check, because it is my math -- but the aggregate of your proposed increases to budget is 18.3 million.  Is that roughly right?

MR. LOVE:  I think that sounds roughly correct.  And I think it is also important to provide this in context of the overall portfolio.  I believe your 2023 projected portfolio spend is something around $140 million.

So I think this represents approximately, what, a 15 to 17 percent, somewhere around there of that -- of that overall.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  The panel has no questions.  Is there any redirect?

MS. SEERS:  No redirect, Mr. Commissioner.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Seers.  Thank you very much, panel.  When Dr. McDiarmid was leaving, I thought I would say have a safe trip home, but I realize she was already home.  So just have a good weekend.

[Laughter]

MR. LOVE:  Thank you very much.

MR. WYATT:  You, too.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Next I think I would like to get started on the BOMA evidence.  Mr. Jarvis, can you present your panel?

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Good morning, Mr. Janigan. Hi there.  My name is Matthew Rutledge, and I am counsel for BOMA.  At the time we proceed, it is our intention to have Mr. Ian Jarvis and Gillian Henderson called as expert witnesses on performance based energy conservation, pay-for-performance programs, and energy efficiency and commercial buildings.

I am not currently aware of there being any objections of Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson being qualified as expert witnesses and in the absence of such, if the Board may prefer, I can quickly provide a summary of their curriculum vitae which was provided as part of their proposed evidence on October 6th, 2021, and then request that they be qualified as expert witnesses and affirmed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  The panel is prepared to accept Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson as experts in the areas that you have suggested.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you very much.  I would quickly ask that they be affirmed.
BUILDING OWNERS AND MANAGERS ASSOCIATION - PANEL 8

Ian Jarvis, 

Gillian Henderson; Affirmed

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Rutledge:


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you very much.  So in the interests of time, we only have a couple of questions and I would propose to Mr. Jarvis -- Mr. Jarvis, do you adopt your previously-written submissions and your presentation as your evidence for this proceeding?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you very much.  And I am not sure whether or not the Board would like to mark that as an exhibit, or it already may have been.  I understand there was discussion previously about whether or not the presentations would be included as exhibits themselves.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  I believe we're in the process of resolving it so that all of the Presentation Day presentations will be marked as exhibits.  In terms of the report, that will already have been filed on the record, so I am not sure it needs a specific exhibit number.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Fantastic.  Thank you very much.  So then I just have a few questions for Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson.

MR. JANIGAN:  Did you want to ask Ms. Henderson the same question, if she was involved in the preparation of the evidence?

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Yes, sorry.  Ms. Henderson, I would ask the same of you, whether you would like to adopt your previously-written submissions and the presentation as evidence as your evidence for this proceeding?

MS. HENDERSON:  I would.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you.  Mr. Jarvis, could you please provide the Board with your opinion regarding pay-for-performance programs and capturing operational savings?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  Just very briefly, I note in Mr. Shepherd's discussion around operational savings, as you mentioned there, and it gets to the heart -- the conventional wisdom is that optional savings can't be relied upon and therefore they have a use -- relatively short deemed useful life.

The core of the idea of pay-for-performance programming is to help owners identify those buildings where operational errors, maintenance errors are causing unusually high energy use, fix those improvements and then through the multi-year relationship that the program has, make sure that they keep those in place so they don't slip back.

So the operational savings piece that was referred to, we don't see them degrading over time through pay-for-performance, as it is intended to address that.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you.  And Mr. Jarvis, how would a pay-for-performance program support a school board's transition to low-carbon and net zero emissions for both new and existing schools?

MR. JARVIS:  That was another question that -- or commentary that Mr. Shepherd raised around, this is what school boards are thinking about these days, and this model that is emerging, the low-carbon transition plan, where step one is energy efficiency.

You get everything you can out of energy efficiency, because subsequent steps are more expensive, and that the energy efficiency improvements drive cash flow, they drive significant operational savings that can be used to help fund those subsequent more expensive steps.

So all of the school boards that we're having conversations with -- and I think Mr. Shepherd would agree -- their starting point is, let's get the most we can out of energy efficiency.  Again, pay-for-performance is intended to capture maximum savings from that front before moving on to the more expensive low-carbon options.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you.  And Ms. Henderson, my understanding is that Enerlife Consulting Inc. works directly with hundreds of commercial building owners and thousands of buildings.  Is that correct?

MS. HENDERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you.  So Mr. Jarvis, then, how would you characterize the interest in and demand for demand-side management at this time as it relates to pay-for-performance programming?

MR. JARVIS:  Again, briefly, these are unusual times.  All building sectors are dealing with COVID, are dealing with climate.  They're concurrent crises, so they're tackling their way through the level of interest today within the commercial sector, and the institutional sector publicly-funded buildings has never been higher in climate, and they're looking for help there.  I think that is the core part of this.  We need to have focused attention, and we see pay-for-performance programming approach giving that kind of support that owners need to get started down this path.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions for Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson.  If I may turn them over.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rutledge.

I notice that Pollution Probe has ten minutes of questions.  I think we will take that -- Mr. Brophy's questions and then have a morning break.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.  It is amazing to be ahead of schedule today.  There were some very efficient questions and very efficient answers, so I am going to keep up that theme, and if I am too efficient 

-- because I am not going to read words and go through everything -- then just stop me if -- I will try to go at an appropriate rate.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:

So good morning, panel.  If we can pull up JT3.6.  It is the BOMA undertakings.  I would like to refer to that and maybe go to table 1 in the response -- or not in the response.  It is an undertaking.  Right there.  Maybe make it a little bigger, potentially.  It is a little hard to read.  But -- okay.  So that blue area there.

So again, I am not going to go through this whole document.  Thank you very much for it.  This was an undertaking response kind of similar to what we went through with the previous panel this morning.  BOMA had submitted, you know, a lot of helpful material and proposals in this proceeding, and we appreciate that.

During the technical conference there were some questions about what the OEB could specifically do, because, you know, there's so much material on the record it's very hard to sift through it all, to come down to, okay, what's the kind of brass tacks of, you know, how much the budget should go up per area, the savings, et cetera.

So, you know, similar to the previous panel on small business, you know, you only had about a week or so to do this, so thank you for -- it is amazing what can be done in a week.  You didn't have years to put a DSM plan together.  So thank you for that responsiveness, and I just want to walk through some of this at a high level.

So the first table here is the pay-for-performance proposal scorecard metrics for K to 12 schools.  Is that correct?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And this is just K to 12 schools.  I am going to go to table 2 in a minute, but let's just stick with this one for a minute.

So based on the proposal, if this program was adopted by the OEB it would result in -- and again, my eyes are a little -- hard to read this too, but total lifetime savings for the pay-for-performance just for K to 12 schools of 119,494,398.  So almost 120 million cubic metres of lifetime gas savings.  Is that correct?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct from this model, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  And the total cost -- and I am sure Mr. O'Leary's going to get into much more math like he did on the last panel than I am, and I love math as an engineer, but he seems to be better at it than I am.

So the total costs when you add all these things up is incremental total program costs.  So that is incentives, et cetera, of 15,350,917.  So just over $15 million.  Is that correct?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I see you did the math.  I did it in a calculator, then I noticed you had it.  It is about 13 cents a cubic metre.  Is that correct?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  That seemed too good to be true even ten years ago, let alone now.  That is why I ask.  Very cost-effective.

So, okay, great.  So I understand this table correctly and what was there.  So that if this is implemented, then this is what we would get.

Okay.  So I am just going to reference the 119 million and some odd savings.  And then if we go to table 2, go to table 2 again.  Just down below.  It is a similar kind of format.  Oh, there we go.  Great.  So there is the 119 million, K to 12 schools, that we went over.  And then you include other sectors for pay-for-performance, commercial office, multi-res, colleges, and hospitals.  Do you see that?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we do.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  So I just want to make sure I am getting this right, because I think it is pretty clear and easy, but I just don't want to be mistaken.  Okay.  So we went through the K to 12 school example.

So then all the OEB would have to do is take that and then take the other ones, so you have gas savings, and then that would result, you know, if that program was done, would result in the estimated savings, it's 1.7 billion cubic metres, and I think this is lifetime cubic metres.  Right?

MR. JARVIS:  It would work out that way, and I think the difference is -- doesn't merit the time.  So that order of magnitude and the intent of the table was to suggest that the potential across other commercial building sectors was somewhere between four and eight times the school boards if pay-for-performance was to become established across all commercial building types.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  And, you know, my understanding of programs is, you know, if you do a pay-for-performance or any other kind of program, you know, the more sectors you can apply it to the more economies of scale, the better you get.  You know, if you just apply it to one, then, okay, it is -- probably the overhead costs are, you know, a bit higher in the ratio, but, you know, you know, if you have, you know, program staff doing a pay-for-performance program and you apply it to more sectors, there is more economies of scale and efficiency on the back-end costs.

Would that be a good assumption?

MR. JARVIS:  I think that is a good assumption.  There is also the fact that the nature of pay-for-performance is there is a law of diminishing returns that comes through the model if every one of these segments of the commercial market has a relatively small proportion, maybe a quarter of the buildings that have the lion's share of the savings.

So by tackling more than one segment of the market, you would get at those what we call low-hanging fruit, the very big returns on -- and then as you work your way through each of those segments the saving potential is less and less and less, but as say, you learn as you go and you become more efficient at doing this.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.  So I guess just the final kind of question is, so -- okay.  The OEB can take this, put it in the decision.  You've got the savings.  You've got a lot of material in here that I didn't go through, and that's on the record.

And then you did have a cost for the -- a total cost for the schools and because it's the same program, then the OEB can just prorate then those costs against the others and come up with the total costs for the program across all sectors.  Is that correct?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.  We would just like to point out here that we have not at this point included municipalities or retail or hospitality.  So this is not exhaustive, but these are the sectors we think are the most ready for this kind of approach, with our priorities being schools, commercial offices, and hospitals.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And you know, obviously if it's a good approach and proves out, it should be broader.  But you know, we do have a mid-term review coming, so if this is done and implemented in 2023, you will have a year or two of real results against these sectors and then the other ones can be added then, I suppose.

Okay.  Well, I think I understand that well and that is it.  So I am going to keep us ahead of time and I will end there.  Thank you very much.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  We're going to take our morning break now and come back at 11:20.
--- Recess taken at 11:06 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.

Mr. O'Leary, do you have questions for this panel?

MR. O'LEARY:  I do.  Thank you, Mr. Commissioner.
Cross-Examination by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  Could I ask Ms. Adams to go to our updated compendium, Exhibit K5.2, and pages 52 and 53, please.  Thank you.

So what we have done, Mr. Jarvis -- good morning -- I think we're still morning -- and Ms. Henderson.

MR. JARVIS:  It is still morning.

MR. O'LEARY:  Glad to see that it is still morning.

We have taken your -- the table that Mr. Brophy took you to, which is actually in our table here.  That is the first line.  So that is actually your Undertaking J3.6, and we have used that.  We have also used the spreadsheet that you sent with that undertaking response and then used some of the information that you gave orally in your examination-in-chief.

So could I first of all ask you to confirm that you told us that your calculations were based on a forecast number of participants, which is 500?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  And I think your forecasting savings per participant of about 25 percent of their annual consumption?

MR. JARVIS:  It doesn't work out quite that way.  It is a percentage of the savings potential.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Well, let's see where we go with this.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  So your total annual forecast gas savings of those participants in the very first column is -- that's an annual one.  It is about 24 million cubic metres.  Correct?

MR. JARVIS:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And what we have done is, we've taken the 500 and divided that into 24 million, and you arrive at a per participant total of using the 25 percent figure of about 48,000 cubic metres.

MR. JARVIS:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And we're just trying to understand what you have done and the math that went into it and the other inputs.

And so the top table, which has a consumption of 191,000, that is simply the 100 percent figure that you would require for a participant to have as an annual consumption if they're going to ultimately be able to save 48,000.  So 25 percent of 191 is 48,000.  It is straight math.  Would you accept that?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we will.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay, thanks.  So before getting further, I just thought I would try and explain the second row, which is the Enerlife analysis updated and the yellow boxes.

And first my question to you was, are you aware that under the pay-for-performance program that Enbridge is offering, that once a participant exceeds the 20 percent and they're entitled to a bonus, that in fact the bonus is then paid out on their entire savings, not just the bonus amount?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we interpreted it differently in our model, as you can see there, which is the bonus would be -- one, we love the bonus.  It's a great addition.  It really focuses minds.  And we would look to that bonus being paid on the amount in excess of the 20 percent threshold, and we see here that you've applied it.  Both would work, and there is a couple of other variations on the theme that we might consider, but we understand exactly what you have done and --


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay --


MR. JARVIS:  -- thanks for getting that to us early this morning so I could look at it.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And the other thing that we seem to have noticed was that there were some start-up costs that were not in the original calculations, but they showed up later of $100,000.  We have added those to it as well.  Fair enough?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  Those were always in our model.  I am not sure --


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.

MR. JARVIS:  -- how that played out previously, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  So with the addition of the bonus paid out over the entirety of the forecast savings, your new program total costs would be about $19 million.

MR. JARVIS:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  So what we've done in the last row is the analysis on a participant basis, but before I go there, I'm just curious as to -- because this is directed towards the K2 to 12 -- or 13 -- 12.  13 was my day.  K2 to 12 school board --


MR. JARVIS:  Yeah.

MR. O'LEARY:  -- and schools -- if you could go to the next page, Ms. Adams.

We did a little research, and from the source that is identified, it is publicly available, we have determined that in Ontario there are only 231 schools that have consumption levels above 192,000.  Were you aware of that?

MR. JARVIS:  Let me just -- yes.  We have all of this data, and process it with the 2018/'19 year.

The analysis looks instead at savings potential.  So going back to your original math, taking an overall 25 percent and applying it, some of these schools have substantial savings potential.  Not 25 percent.  Much more.  Just -- and again -- we touched on this I think in the Presentation Day -- there are 1,107 schools in Ontario that have savings potential of greater than 50 percent.

In other words, they're using more than the top quartile school of their type is using --


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.

MR. JARVIS:  -- so 1,107 -- bear with plea for a second, because --


MR. O'LEARY:  Yeah.

MR. JARVIS:  -- it is a different approach to the math --


MR. O'LEARY:  Yeah.

MR. JARVIS:  -- and we think the model is okay.  Out of that 1,107 the 500 therefore would be less than half of that total that would go down this path, but many of them will save substantially more than 25 percent, so that is where the math diverges between what you've done and what we did.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Could you, Ms. Adams, go back up to page 52 of the compendium.  And so I am just now trying to understand a couple of the columns.  So the total incentive, if we take the updated figure of just under $12 million on a participant basis, that's about 24,000.  You will agree with the math, I presume?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And then you've got a total administrative costs and total technical costs.  You've got the exact same number, 1,100 -- sorry, 1.2 -- 1.1 million for each of them.

Can you tell me what specific inputs did you use to arrive at those costs?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  We used the same model that we had applied -- we were asked a similar question to map this out back in the 2012 gas pipelines hearings, you may recall.  I believe you were part of that process, Mr. O'Leary.  And we put a model together there that was submitted in evidence to say what would a program look like, but could deliver the kind of peak gas load reductions that might avoid or reduce the cost of the pipeline.

With the time available we replicated that model, which is a percentage of the gas savings number.  At that time it was seen that the more gas you can save, the more resources you are going to need to be able to help make that happen.

So it is simply a formula.  It is in the assumptions and the model that we provided to you, and we were hoping that Enbridge would take it and say, well, that doesn't make sense.  We will do it this way, not that way.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I am just trying to understand your model.  So you can't tell us today what specifically are the types of costs that are included in the admin and tech costs that you have identified here.  Is that fair?

MR. JARVIS:  That's fair, yes.  When we were asked for the undertaking we said, Enbridge will know its costs better than we do, but we will put our best estimates in there of what they might be.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And then you have total participant costs.  And that number with the update doesn't change.  It is about four-and-a-half million dollars.

If we do the straight division of that by 500 participants, we arrive at a little over $9,000 participants -- per participant.  Would you agree with that math?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And can I ask, what inputs did you use to come up with that number?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  That is a bit more specific.  So we went back through a lot of the recommissioning work that we've done recently.  I think there were 12 or 15 buildings.  And there is a whole -- even though this focus is on operational and maintenance improvements, there are different costs which different owners incur, costs replacing leaking valves, reprogramming building automation systems, hiring a recommissioning consultant.  We looked at all those costs, turned them into a dollars per square foot as a starting point.  And again, you will find that in the assumptions page that is within that spreadsheet.

And we erred on the high side.  So even though this is primarily operations and maintenance, there are some costs involved.  Whether or not they would be picked up, whether they would be self-reported under the pay-for-performance model, we don't know that we have that allowance in there for what the owners would have to spend to modify their systems to achieve these operational savings.

MR. O'LEARY:  So you are suggesting there is something in that figure, which is a five year figure, correct?  9,193 is the aggregate over the five years.

MR. JARVIS:  It's a one time figure for each participating building, whether it does it in year 1, year 2, year 3, year 4, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  You would agree with me at that figure, you are not upgrading the building envelope at all?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And you are not upgrading anything mechanical or instrumentation for that price?

MR. JARVIS:  Well, within that, some buildings will need to replace dampers, some will need to replace thermostats, some will need to reprogram.  So there are some physical costs -- some will replace control valves, which can be quite expensive.

We took the average across a lot the buildings that we're directly involved in.

MR.  OLEARY:  So you're basically taking -- your model basically includes nothing for capital improvements at any of these buildings.  Right?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.  Most, if not all of these costs would be called operational maintenance costs.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. Chair, those are my questions.  Thank you very much, Mr. Jarvis.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  The panel has no questions.  Is there any redirect?

MR. RUTLEDGE:  No, sorry.  We have no redirect, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Rutledge.  And thank you very much, panel.  And once again, have a good weekend.

We're going to proceed next to the panel number 4, the Posterity Group.  Mr. O'Leary, can you present your panel?

MR. O'LEARY:  I would be delighted to, Mr. Chair.

Could I ask Ms. Adams to pull up -- let me first introduce Mr. Shipley, who is a senior consultant with the Posterity Group.

And if I could ask Ms. Adams to pull up -- this was filed subsequent to the pre filed evidence being filed, so I would ask, Mr. Murray, this be marked as an exhibit.  It is the curriculum vitae of Mr. Shipley.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K5.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.5:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF DAVE SHIPLEY


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Moran, if I could ask you to affirm this witness so I don't forget.

MR. MORAN:  And I don't forget as well.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 4

Dave Shipley; Affirmed.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  And Mr. Shipley, can you confirm that your evidence that was filed in this proceeding and all answers to interrogatories were prepared by you or under your direction?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And do you adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, I do.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, we have similarly canvassed all of my colleagues about qualifying Mr. Shipley as an expert in respect of achievable potential studies, input and modelling.

The fact is he has been engaged by the Ontario Energy Board in the past in such a capacity as an expert, and I would ask that he be qualified as such.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  The Board recognizes and qualifies Mr. Shipley as an expert in the matters that you have set out.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Two short questions for examination-in-chief.

Mr. Shipley, from the questions that were asked at the technical conference, I understand that you believe that there was some confusion about the work you performed for Enbridge Gas.

Can you briefly explain the purpose of your engagement, the steps taken, and the results of your efforts?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  We were engaged to develop a model whose purpose was interpretation.  As well as we could, we populated it with the same assumptions as were used in the APS, and where the assumptions were unknown to us, we used the tools in our modelling software to work backwards from the results to assumptions that would produce the same answers.  That allowed us to provide Enbridge with insights on what seemed to be going on in the APS measure by measure.

Our intention was to mine the APS for valuable information and where we found assumptions that didn't seem to match the Ontario context, tried to make adjustments for them to produce a program potential estimate.

We spent some months on that effort, and ultimately ran out of time before Enbridge had to start putting together their DSM plan.

In the end, we identified so many concerns with measure assumptions, and even with the way the reference case was constructed, that we thought it would probably be cheaper to start over.

Obviously, there wasn't enough budget to do that, even if we had time.  But just to be clear, none of us intended to produce an alternative to the APS.  Our model was meant to help interpret the APS, and then to help Enbridge produce a program potential estimate.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Shipley.  At the technical conference on day 2 at page 176 of the transcript, you were asked a question by OEB Staff, Mr. Wasylyk, and I am going to read it to you.  He asked you:  
"How do you recommend that policy makers set energy savings targets to ensure that ratepayer funding is achieving the greatest level of potential energy savings."


He went on to say:

"I think you," being Mr. Shipley, "highlighted two options.  First, having a utility design its programs and then completing a study to determine the potential of those predefined programs using a program potential scenario, or, rather by developing a number of achievable potential scenarios more comprehensively civil without the constraints of specific program design and then requiring the utility to design its programs to meet the efficiency potential identified from that sort of study."


Now, I understand that in reviewing your response to that, you believe that you could be of further assistance to the Commissioners by providing a more fulsome response.  Can you please do that?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  Thank you for this opportunity, Mr. O'Leary.  I considered this a really important question and I didn't think that I had done it justice.  I wouldn't take back anything I said, but I just felt my answer was incomplete.

To recap, the first approach is to review existing programs and estimate potential, and I always assumed that Mr. Wasylyk would include the assumption that the study would expand on that initial potential for programs.

And then the second method is the traditional method which is more comprehensive, and doesn't impose any program design constraints up front.

So in effect, number one starts with a fairly constrained number and progressively removes constraints like budgets and program design choices to expand it to an estimate of what is achievable.

And the second approach starts with an unconstrained number, everything technically possible, and progressively applies more and more constraints, like economic screens and participation estimates, to reach their estimate of what is achievable.

My problem with the question was that I don't agree that this is a choice between mutually exclusive options.  I think the best studies combine the two approaches.  You know, the second approach has obvious advantages, it draws a larger border around the potential and it is less limiting.

And I think if the only objective you have is this high-level guidance on what the potential is, it might be sufficient.

But since the 1990s, I have been doing these studies and the TRC positive savings over 20 years have always been about 15 percent for an electric company, and about 10 percent for a gas company.

It's an evolving set of measures, but it is always about that much stuff -- between the stuff that is too early and expensive to pass the TRC, and the stuff that is so economically attractive that the customer does it on their own.

And the studies that have gone beyond these numbers at least partly do so by using a more expansive screen than the TRC.  So I guess despite our concerns about the underlying assumptions and methods, I believe the APS in 2019 was a good faith effort to provide the overall potential estimate.

But if the only objective you have from an APS is this one narrow use case, I don't think it is worth the money.

It may sound strange for me to say that because I do this for a living, but I am also an Ontario ratepayer, and if the answer is as predictable as I am suggesting it is, and that's all you are getting, I think it is a waste of a million dollars.

To be worth it, the APS has to provide not only this overall estimate, but also a sense of direction.  If I am in the house throwing my rock, it is not enough to know that -- or, I mean, if I am in the hack throwing my rock it is not enough to know that the house is 12 feet wide.  I need my skip to be holding the broom for me.

So where are the savings?  What sectors?  What subsectors, what end uses, what are the big measures?  A well-designed APS points to new directions for the utility that they haven't thought of in their existing programs. And it only works if it is grounded in the local context and the codes and standards of the jurisdiction local construction practices, energy use patterns, previous market uptake of various measures, a host of factors.

You have to draw on the best knowledge in the jurisdiction.  Some of the people that know that stuff work for the utility, and they need to be at the table with the other stakeholders.

And in our experience, it is the first approach that tends to do better at that element of the study, and that is the value it brings.  It can't just be lip service, either.  It has to be -- input has to be taken seriously.  The contractor has to be willing to change input assumptions and even the output design in response to the feedback.

You can tell I am passionate about this, because I have been struggling for years with studies that are hard to turn into action.  Years ago a previous employer was hired to turn our own study into a DSM plan for a client, and it was humbling to find out how hard it was, because we hadn't taken into account this second-use case for the study we were doing.  The 2019 Ontario study seemed to ignore this use case completely.

So I have a sense of urgency about this.  There is another APS coming up in Ontario, and I would like to see it done right, whoever does it.  I believe a good study needs to provide not only the bottom-line number that the regulator needs, but also a living product that could be turned into action.

The measure assumptions and the potential estimates can be a foundation for the program designers.  Obviously they will still have to do their homework, fine-tuning, additional research, but the APS can be their starting point to improve the existing programs and launch new ones.

To give them a place to stand they will move the world, but we have to give them the best tools we can if we want them to achieve more savings.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Shipley.  This panel is now open for cross-examination, Mr. Chair.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.

I believe that Green Energy Coalition, Mr. Poch, is the first questioner.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Shipley, you will recall during the technical conference we discussed ways that the Achievable Potential Study -- Achievable Potential Studies in general and the Guidehouse study in particular could have understated industrial savings potential.  We talked about university students doing generic assessments, and so on.

Would you also agree that, quite understandably, indeed, that study and therefore your mirror model that tried to distill out of it what it was doing indeed could not account for all potential savings from new or evolving technologies that will emerge in all sectors after the study is conducted or from new program innovations similarly?  That is just an inherent shortcoming that is unavoidable?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, I have one other matter I wanted to just canvass with you.

On March 1st in the technical conference around page 160, just for the record, there was a discussion, I think it was with Pollution Probe's representative, about what carbon costs were included in the Guidehouse study and therefore in your mirror model.

I think, if I understood it correctly, you said you didn't actually analyze that.  You just took their commodity costs, whatever they were using and whatever carbon cost was embedded in it, and you were asked for an undertaking, and perhaps we could just pull that up.  It was JT2.19.  2.19.  There we are.  If you scroll down, there is a -- I believe there is a table there.  And this is -- and you were able to provide this, and as you have indicated, this would include what you pulled out of the Guidehouse report that would be their commodity plus carbon cost.  Correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  That was our best estimate of what they were using.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And if we can just note for 2030 it is 28 cents a cubic metre, roughly, correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Now, if we can just go to 5.ED.16.  Thank you very much, Ms. Adams.  If we scroll down.  This was -- Mr. O'Leary referred to this earlier this morning.  And I noticed on this one, scrolling down, I think, a little further, there is a table.  5.ED.16.  Yes, a little farther.  There we are.  If you look at avoided carbon costs there, and we look again at 2030, the number in the rate, which would be in dollars per cubic metre, is 33-and-a-third cents.  Do you see that?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Higher than the 28 cents we saw a moment ago.  Is it reasonable to conclude from that that the -- and these are Enbridge's costs that they're now forecasting, which would include carbon costs as they -- and the newer version of carbon costs that is exceeding -- going up past $50 or going to 170, but -- can we conclude from that that the Guidehouse report would have stopped escalating carbon costs at the $50 level that was legislated at the time?

MR. SHIPLEY:  You could be right about that.  I don't know for sure, but based on the numbers you are putting on the screen it seems like a logical conclusion.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And so assuming that is so, I take it you would agree that that is another way that the Guidehouse study would have understated the cost-effective potential as we go further out?

MR. SHIPLEY:  That seems likely.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, sir, and thank you very much, panel.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Poch.

Next I have Pollution Probe, Mr. Brophy.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Mr. Shipley.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Good morning.

MR. BROPHY:  I just had a couple of questions.  It seems to be going very fast this Friday.  That's great.  I like the flow.

Let me just pull them up.  I had a couple of questions, and then just maybe for Bonnie's benefit, then I am going to refer to the Pollution Probe presentation.  It has some graphs there.  It is probably the easiest way to refer to some things, but why don't I start with some questions first.

So Mr. Shipley, you mentioned that you didn't complete the OEB's 2019 potential study, but that, you know, you've worked on potential studies, and your knowledge about it, knowledge -- you have knowledge about it.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  And that you -- yes.  And that you also acted on a panel of experts to provide assistance to the OEB and Navigant as part of their broad consultation on that project.  Is that correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I think you indicated also that at the technical conference and again with Mr. O'Leary that you were retained to build, I think it is called a mirror model, right, to mirror the 2019 OEB potential study, not to rebuild it.  Is that correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  And I think you also had indicated previously that you did a pretty good job of that, and it is not perfect, but pretty good.  Does that sound right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I would say pretty good is a good level to claim.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Okay.  So as I mentioned this morning, you clarified that you didn't -- you weren't retained to redo the OEB's potential study and rebuild it and redo what the OEB hired Navigant for, but given the budgets that Enbridge had set for you and the time available, you took that OEB model and built the mirror model on that basis rather than trying to replicate what the OEB did.  Is that fair?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, that's fair.  As I said in my earlier comments this morning, the purpose was interpretation and, where appropriate, adjustments to a few of the measure assumptions to try to get to a more accurate number for Enbridge to use.

MR. BROPHY:  And I guess if Enbridge was to have hired you to rebuild it, then it is basically replicating what the OEB had hired another consultant to do and it would have been a duplication and probably a waste of ratepayer funds to do the same job twice, I guess.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I agree it would have been a waste of extra spending and also, I think, inappropriate.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I am going to refer to two slides that are up.  What I will do is I am going to show them to you.  I think you have seen them before, and you probably know them better than I do, to be honest.

But if we just go down, it is slide 3 to start with, and then I will go to slide 7.  It's the graphs.  It is -- you know these better than I do, okay.

So this one is what Enbridge had labelled as net.  And then if we go to slide 7, it is basically the same.  It is gross.  Do you see those?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Can you explain the difference between these two, one being net and one being gross?  If we were to look at them, what is the difference going to be?

MR. SHIPLEY:  The gross numbers will be larger because they include the free riders.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So the gross is everything that can be saved, you know, regardless of how much a program would have contributed to it.  So it is kind of like the consumer Ontario perspective, where the net is -- when you take programs, you're only taking the portion that would have been attributed to programs so it is lower, lower number.  Is that correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Well, what I would say, rather than saying that the gross is showing bigger savings, the difference between the two is a bunch of savings that would have happened if there had been no program, right.

So they're not really savings associated with the program.  They're just things that would have happened naturally.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  If we can just go to the slide 3, maybe I will just use that as an example.  So these graphs or these charts then show what's available to consumers and businesses in Ontario.

MR. SHIPLEY:  According to the APS.

MR. BROPHY:  According to the APS, okay.  And then the shapes of these graphs are similar.  So if you look at, you know, each line, be it the -- I am probably going to quote these wrong, but I think, you know, yellow is the all cost-effective, the red is scenario C, that is a constrained, and then scenario A is like the lowest scenario, or I guess the most constrained.

So when you look at the shape of these scenarios, A, B and C on the net and gross graphs, they're basically the same shape, but just ratcheted up or down in magnitude because of that free ridership adjustment you mentioned.  Is that fair?  Or am I missing something else?

MR. SHIPLEY:  No.  I don't think free ridership is in any of these because it says "net" on the title of the chart.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. SHIPLEY:  So all of these lines exclude free ridership.  All three of those, A, B and C.

The primary difference between them is that B, it is not limited by budget.  And I believe the assumption was that all measures would be incentivized at a hundred percent of their incremental cost, which tends to leverage a lot more participation than you would get in the other scenarios.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And we had talked about, in the technical conference with you and others that brought it up, some of the elements that weren't considered in this incremental and I don't intend to go through those.  But, you know, I think there was confirmation that there are some things that would be incremental.

But if we just assume for a minute that the yellow line is kind of the all cost-effective scenario, even though it's probably a conservative number, you know, that's what I am going to refer to as, you know, all cost-effective for now.  Does that seem to make sense?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I believe that's what it was meant to be in the APS, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So the question I had a minute ago was not the difference between the lines, the yellow, red or blue being scenarios B, C and A.  But when we look at this one versus the gross, if you just take the shape of say the yellow line on both, it is the same shape.  And if you take the shape of the red on the net and the gross -- I should have put them actually side by side, so we could have seen them there.

But I was comparing the magnitude.  On this one, the yellow is the highest just like the gross chart.  The red one, which is scenario C, is the middle one, which is the same in the gross chart.  And the blue one, which is the lowest one, scenario A, is the lowest in the gross.

So I was just drawing parallels that the shape and where these lines sit both in the net and the gross, it is the same.  Is that fair?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.  They're in the same order and they have approximately the same shape, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Of course for Enbridge, it will matter which one because you are applying adjustments for net-to-gross, et cetera.  But, you know, if we're talking about general potential, then the shape is -- the shape is the same.

So okay, I just wanted to make sure we're on the same page for that.

So if we look at -- again I guess we will just use the one that is on the screen for now, the yellow line being all cost-effective.  There's a certain amount of money that it would take to achieve the yellow line.  And I think what you indicated in the technical conference is that if there's additional money that comes in to help with those measures, be it from government, municipalities, other programs or grants or funding, whatever it is, it doesn't move the yellow line up.

All it does is it makes it easier to reach, because the cost you now have to cover to get to the yellow line from DSM is less, because part of that cost is being covered by somewhere else, another program per se.

Does that sound right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Right.  It's changing who pays, but not how much happens.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I think everyone's goal is to get to most cost-effective in society, if you can do that.  And so I guess the key is, you know, DSM is a piece of that working in cooperation with other programs and funding and things, and I think there's been a lot of discussion -- I don't know how long, how many days you have been listening -- but about the intent to cooperate, coordinate.  Enbridge has highlighted some examples of programs that they're hoping to do that on.

So then the DSM is just a piece.  And the more money in the future or support from -- well, I guess it could even be decreases in technology costs as well potentially, the easier it will be in order to achieve that yellow line, the all cost-effective DSM.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I guess there's a lot of assumptions built into your question, and I am not sure what the answer is.  If certain things happen, then it will get easier and if other things happen, it might get harder.  I don't think I can answer very well.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I was thinking, you know, as funding -- so if funding increases on energy and emissions, you know, like we have seen from levels of government already, but we've also talked about municipalities having plans and, you know, also putting in funding.  So that would be incremental funding.  It would just make it easier to achieve the yellow line in the graph. I think you confirmed that earlier.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Okay.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Let me just move to the next question here.  So if the OEB wanted to achieve the all-cost-effective DSM -- which I think, you know, is the yellow line, give or take, we have confirmed that -- would the OEB just take this, take the Achievable Potential Study, and say, we would like Enbridge to partner in the way we just described in order to achieve scenario B per the OEB's potential study?  Or is it more difficult than that?

MR. SHIPLEY:  It's not really -- I don't think I have the expertise to answer that question, because that goes to more how policy-makers apply the outputs of an APS, and I am more of an expert in how to do them.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  But this is not a program delivery question.  It is really if the OEB wanted to achieve all-cost-effective DSM they would then -- that would be the yellow line, which is scenario B, for the potential study.  Is that correct?

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Brophy, but I believe you have heard Mr. Shipley say that you are asking questions that are outside of his expertise and, in fact, what you are doing is making argument.

So may I suggest you move on.  Or Mr. Chair, that you suggest he move along.

MR. BROPHY:  I am happy to move along.  We have already confirmed the yellow-line scenario B is all-cost-effective DSM.  But I was just reiterating the question in a different way.  So I will move on to the next question.

Okay.  So if we can bring up the Posterity report.  It is E.4.1, attachment 1.  And if we can go to page 44 of that report, that would be great.

I am not going to go through -- my kids played some April Fool's jokes this morning on me, so I was thinking, oh, we could, for April Fool's, just go through this whole report, but I don't think anybody would find that funny.  If we can just go to page 44 in the report.  If you go to the bottom.  What page is this?  Sorry?  No, no, the actual Posterity report.  So just go down a little bit.  We will see what page we are on.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I think it is two pages different between the exhibit page and the report page number.

MR. BROPHY:  So the bottom of 44.  There.  Appendix D.  Perfect.  Great.  Okay.  That's it.

So this is Appendix D of your report.  And it describes how the declining incentive costs was applied, and I think you are familiar with this, obviously, Mr. Shipley.  Right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, I am.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it indicates here:

"In the declining incentive costs, we will examine the results from each sector separately..."

So that's fine.

And then you indicate:

"Last week's memo discussed how the model matches the savings potential calculated in the OEB's Achievable Potential Study."

So I know we already covered that.  You did the mirror model that matched that.

And then:

"In this memo, the primary focus will be on program costs."

So it sounds like, then, as you built this you just did weekly memos for Enbridge.  They reviewed progress.  You discussed where to go next.  And you went and kind of went to the next step.  Is that the way it worked?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yeah.  We had weekly meetings, but these memos were periodic depending on when issues arose.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So when you were doing the declining incentive costs, there was one one week, and then you had another one the following week.  So -- but, yeah, as you developed the model in the report, I am sure the memo frequency might have varied, so --


MR. SHIPLEY:  Sure.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  So I understand how you built it in conjunction with the feedback with Enbridge.

Okay.  If we can go to -- well, actually, before we go to the next page, maybe you can just describe what that element of the model does, the declining incentive cost.  What -- what does that piece do in the model?

MR. SHIPLEY:  So this was not a feature that our modelling software originally had, but we determined that in the APS an assumption had been made that measures on average got less expensive for the utility program to implement in the scenario A scenario.

So in other words, to get the same measure to happen later in the study period required a lower incentive and lower administrative costs than it did at the beginning of the study period.

So we added a feature to our model that allowed it to have incentive and non-incentive costs decline with time for a measure so that we could match what the APS seemed to be doing.

And then we could look at the -- at the program costs with that feature in place so that it matched what the APS was showing and then remove it so that the measures didn't get cheaper to implement with time, and then we could see how different the budget would be.

And so this appendix goes through in detail what those numbers look like for each of the sectors and overall as well.  And I guess the reason we wanted to look closely at that is that I believe there are some measures for which the cost of a program encouraging them might decline, and, you know, you could probably think of examples of that, like the LED lighting systems and so on probably got easier and easier to push into the marketplace, but other measures -- like insulation in homes, for example -- the early parts of the program tend to get the low-hanging fruit, and it gets harder to get later participants to implement the projects, because they get more difficult, the low-hanging fruit is already done.

And so some things go up.  Some things go down.  And I don't think it is reasonable to assume an across-the-board change in either direction.

We could have gone through measure by measure and done our best estimate of how each one changes, but we didn't have time for that.  So we just wanted to look at what does it do with the APS assumption and what does it do with no change at all.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And would it be fair to say that when you had the model built per the OEB potential study and then you disabled that declining incentive feature, that it resulted in, you know, a significant difference, right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Can we go to the bottom of page 47 in the Posterity report.  Okay.  Great.  Right there is great.  So I think this confirms what you  just said.  It says:

"When the declining program cost option is disabled, the picture is very different."

And the program spending roughly doubles by the end of the study period.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  So then, you know, for the same level of savings, or the way I interpret it -- and tell me if this is wrong -- from this -- these sentences -- for this piece -- for the same level of savings that the OEB potential study indicated, when it was run with that feature disabled in the Enbridge model, it basically doubles the cost for the same savings.  Is that right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, that sounds right.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I thought I -- I thought I had that right.  Okay.  So if we can just go to Exhibit 9.  It is on -- I think it is on page 51 of the report there.  Down at the bottom.  Oh, there it is.  Perfect.  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.

Okay.  So I think this is the one -- three-sector program incentive spending, so this is with all the sectors in there.  It is kind of the summary, right, the summary graph at the end?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Then the middle column, model with declining program costs, this would be the OEB's potential study model.  And the last column is the one with that declining cost function disabled per the Enbridge model.  Right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  So if we look down at the bottom -- and again this is just again scenario A, it is against one scenario just to compare apples to apples -- the OEB model had a grand total of 8 -- let's call it 864 million; it is 863,952,981 out to 2038.  And then the Enbridge model was about just over 1.5 billion.  Is that right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  So the middle column is our model with the declining costs.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHIPLEY:  The OEB one is the first column, which is 887.  Okay.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, that is helpful.  Okay, sorry, so I did misunderstand that.  Thank you for that.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Right.  The other thing I wanted to point out is that also in this -- in this appendix, there are two measures that got removed in the residential and commercial sectors, and they got removed because they had a very disproportionate amount of program spending in the APS model.

So the home energy reports measure in residential was by 2038 saving two percent of what the overall program was saving, but the APS model was spending three quarters of the incentive dollars on it.

And there was another -- there was an education measure in commercial that was kind of like that.  It was saving only a tiny percentage of the overall savings, but 44 percent of the incentives were being spent on it.

So that first column has those two measures removed because we -- we didn't understand how they could have such enormous incentive spendings and we thought it must be an error.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Thank you for that.  I am assuming that wasn't really a material difference in what we're seeing here, but I do appreciate the clarity on those minor adjustments.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I think that it would change that number in 2038 by something like 40 or 50 million dollars.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. SHIPLEY:  It is a huge difference.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  So I think that is about 5 percent.

MR. SHIPLEY:  No.  It is about double.  It's about a hundred percent, maybe more.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, sorry.  Okay.  No, I was saying 5 percent of the total at the bottom.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Oh, I see.

MR. BROPHY:  187 million, you know, not of the one-year amount.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yeah.  Anyway, you can go back to earlier tables in this same appendix and you can see how big it is.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  So then, okay.  First column was the OEB with those adjustments you mentioned.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Second is your kind of mirror model mirroring the OEB which, to your credit, looks pretty darn close as you indicated.

And then when you disable that part of the model, the third column is the Enbridge one with the disabled amount.

So I did some quick math and when you look at column one, the sum, so the 887 which is close to the 863 million, the Enbridge number of 1.5 billion is about 75 percent higher to achieve the same savings.

Does that sound about right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So then in order even just to achieve the lowest savings, DSM savings in the OEB's potential study, when you look at the modified -- the modifications that Enbridge asked for, then the costs are going up.

So then if the budget, whatever budget the OEB sets, if you use that modelling in the last column, the Enbridge model, you are going to get less savings per spending scenario.  So if the budget -- if the OEB sets a budget as 200 million a year and you use the modelling for the first column, you will get more savings than if you use the modelling for the Enbridge model in the last column.  Is that correct?

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes, you would.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So the other thing I noticed is -- okay.  So this goes out to 2038, right, and we're talking about a plan from right now in 2023 to 2027.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Right.

MR. BROPHY:  So again I did some math.  I just added the columns together.  So when I took the OEB modelling and added 2023-2027, I was coming in around $450 million for reaching scenario A.  Does that sound in the right ballpark?

MR. SHIPLEY:  It looks about right.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  So like Enbridge is proposing in its 2023-2027 plan, even before the OEB makes adjustments based on, you know, other input from stakeholders, but just taking the -- what Enbridge filed a year ago, their budget is about double that.

So does that mean they should be able to do way better than scenario A?  They're going to be spending about double what it takes if you use the OEB's model.  So then you should be getting higher results.  Does that sound right?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I don't know.  You are saying that you are using the first column assumptions to figure out how much Enbridge should be getting from their program dollars?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Not the last column assumptions?

MR. BROPHY:  No.  No, I think that they're using the last column, but if we used the OEB's first column model and we saw that reaching scenario A in the potential study using the OEB's about $450 million over the 2023-2027 period, Enbridge is proposing to spend way more than that, almost double.

So then you would actually be achieving more than scenario A, and what I was trying to figure out is, you would probably be up closer to the all cost-effective potential if you used the OEB model.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I don't agree with that at all.  There are diminishing returns.

And if you actually look at the budget for scenario B, you will find that it is a lot higher than double scenario A.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Oh, okay.  So I should have done that as well.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  If I go to the table in scenario B, add up the 2023-2027 amount, and then compare it against Enbridge's budget for that same period, then I can do the comparison on how close they come to that.

MR. SHIPLEY:  That sounds like a valuable exercise.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, perfect.  And scenario B is in this report, right?  There's so many pages, I have lost track.

MR. SHIPLEY:  I think there's some stuff about it in there, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Is that a table like this for scenario B, do you know --


MR. SHIPLEY:  No, no.  We didn't do this for scenario B.

MR. BROPHY:  Is that something you would be able to provide?

MR. SHIPLEY:  That would be a fair amount of work.  This was not a trivial thing to put together.

MR. O'LEARY:  That's our answer, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, okay.  So I don't know I am kind of -- I am in a Friday mood, so I almost feel like not even pushing the issue, but it is -- we know that this table, scenario A with the proposed Enbridge budget, if you use the OEB model you can do better than scenario A.  But we don't know how close to scenario B you can get.

So I would like to get an undertaking to create this for scenario B, but I would leave it up to the panel, commissioners, to decide.

If that's of value, then we will do it.  If it is not, then we will go on.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Brophy, this undertaking could have been requested in an interrogatory response or at the technical conference.   You have had plenty of opportunity to ask for this, and now you are asking on the fifth day of the oral hearing for something that Mr. Shipley has stated will be difficult to produce, and I would question the relevance for the purposes of this proceeding.

How can anyone rely on a table that is produced after the fact to, then, adjust or consider how it should be used for the purposes of ultimately approving the DSM program?

So I just don't see any basis for it, and, Mr. Janigan, I respectfully request that the undertaking not be sustained -- or not be approved.

MR. BROPHY:  If I could respond to those comments, if the Panel would allow me.

MR. JANIGAN:  Go ahead, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  So as you know, this proceeding has been a progression of information.  There is information that we have that we didn't have before.

To be honest, I don't think any party, including us, understood what was done by Enbridge prior to the technical conference, based on just this report.

So it basically wasn't until now that we even understood these mechanics and what the OEB would need in order to understand what level of spending would lead to what results.  And, you know, it would have been great to have that clarity in the evidence filed by Enbridge, but unfortunately it wasn't.  It didn't come together until more recently after the technical conference and undertakings provided.

So we're in the position we're in.  I am just basing this on what we have today.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  I think the Panel agrees with Mr. O'Leary, and directionally I think you have your answer, Mr. Brophy.  I understand it is a complex proceeding, but this undertaking should have been requested earlier in this proceeding.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Okay.  So maybe I will just ask.  You had indicated that there is information in the report if we were to try to see how close it would come to scenario B.

Do you have any advice on how we should go about that?

MR. SHIPLEY:  I actually would suggest you go back to the APS report and look for the spending associated with scenario B in their report.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. SHIPLEY:  If that's the information you would like to base your -- your calculation on for how much could be achieved according to the APS, then I think you should go to the source.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Okay, thank you for that.  I will finish there.  Thank you very much.

MR. SHIPLEY:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  Does that conclude your questions, Mr. Brophy?

MR. BROPHY:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.  I think I would like to, if possible, have the Optimal Group witness -- sorry, the Commissioners have no questions for this witness, and we thank you very much.

MR. O'LEARY:  And I have no redirect either, Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  I am getting ahead of myself here and looking at the schedule, but once again, have a good weekend, Mr. Shipley, and --

MR. SHIPLEY:  Thank you very much.  You too, Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I wonder if we could call upon OEB Staff to introduce their witness.  I would like to have them qualified and then take a break for lunch.

MR. MURRAY:  Certainly.  I just want to make sure -- I am trying to see their faces.

MS. WALTER:  They're both here.

MR. MURRAY:  Commissioners, I am pleased today to present the Optimal Energy panel.  We have two witnesses here today.  First we have Mr. Phillip Mosenthal, who is a partner at Optimal Energy, and secondly we have Mr. Clifford McDonald, a senior consultant with Optimal Energy.

Their CVs, which outline their expertise, were filed with the Board on February 28th, 2022, and we are asking to have them qualified as experts in natural gas, demand-side management programming -- program planning, including cost recovery and performance incentive options.

I have broached this topic with parties before, and to the best of my knowledge there are no objections.  So if there are none, I am asking that the Board qualify them on that basis.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  The Board will qualify the Optimal panel as experts in the areas that you have mentioned.

MR. MURRAY:  I would ask now that the witnesses be affirmed.
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Phillip Mosenthal,
Clifford McDonald; Affirmed.

MR. MORAN:  You are on mute.

MR. MURRAY:  And despite the name, I think it is actually Clifford McDonald.

MR. McDONALD:  I don't know why I am labelled as Cliff Mosenthal.

[Laughter]

[Off-the-record discussion.]


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.

Do you have a brief examination-in-chief, Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  It is probably about 15 or 20 minutes, given that they didn't make a presentation on Presentation Day themselves, so it is not that brief.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Okay.  Well, why don't we take a break for lunch and come back at 1:15.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:29 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:16 p.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much everyone.  Before we get into the examination-in-chief, there is just a preliminary matter that the Panel would like to address and alert participants that next week the Panel will issue a letter that sets out the principal issues or sub-issues that would be helpful to be addressed by the applicant and parties that have an interest in this proceeding.

That is not to supplement or to produce another issues list, but rather to identify those matters within the issues that must be adjudicated, and which likely will occupy much of the consideration and review of the Panel.

Principal among those matters will be the impact of the Attribution Agreement that is contemplated between Enbridge Gas and NRCan's Greener Homes Grant program.

As this agreement has not been concluded, we anticipate that the submissions will address a preferred or anticipated effect of the agreement on Enbridge's residential program, and upon the Greener Homes Program as well.

Of particular importance is the substantive and procedural implications of an Attribution Agreement concluded before our final decision in August.

So I hope that is helpful to individuals with their submissions and directs them to those -- will direct them with those areas, along with our letter to what, what should be touched upon in the arguments that are presented.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.  We were going to address that, but thank you for highlighting it.  That is very helpful.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  I will turn matters over to you again, Mr. Murray, for your examination-in-chief.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Commissioner Janigan.  And good afternoon once again, Mr. Mosenthal and Mr. McDonald.

I would like to start the examination, direct examination by confirming that a report has been filed by you in this proceeding called "Review and assessment of cost recovery and performance incentive options for natural gas demand side management programs".  Is that right?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And you have also filed a second report, titled "Review and comparison of Enbridge Gas Inc.'s proposed 2023-2027 natural gas demand side management programs".  Correct?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes, correct.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And with the exception of one interrogatory asking for documentation related to your retainer, the interrogatory and undertaking responses to questions on these reports were prepared by Optimal Energy?

MR. McDONALD:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And does Optimal Energy adopt this evidence for the purpose of this proceeding?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Just by way of quick summary, could you give us a high-level description of the purpose of the cost recovery and performance incentive report that you prepared?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Sure.  So we were asked by the Board to consider different cost recovery models and, in particular, you know, also consider how they might work if budgets were increased, and spending was ramped up.

And, you know, I think there's been a lot of confusing details that have gone back and forth, but there is some sort of basic themes and key findings that are worth pointing out.

We did find that amortization can support a significant increase in budget without incurring immediate short term rate impacts, and it is important -- and that it aligns, better aligns costs and benefits.  One of the big barriers in efficiency is you have to -- normally, at the customer level, you have to pay for it up front and it takes a while to get the savings.

And that occurs as well to ratepayers if they're paying for the program costs up front, and as long as the programs are cost-effective and cheaper than supply, in the long run they're going to lower rates, putting aside lost revenue for a moment.

So by better aligning the costs and benefits, you can basically, you know, undo that short term rate impact where the customers have to wait a long time to get the money back.

Lost revenue can appear to increase rates, but it is important to remember that is not a true economic cost, it is not a new cost.  It is simply reshuffling how you capture costs that are already in your rates that you are already capturing.

And one of the key sort of findings that we felt was that we support the concept of shareholder earnings, but we think it is important that they be based on performance and that it is better to incentivize spending, and therefore it is helpful to think of them as a separate component from amortization.

The construct that Ontario's been using is a reasonable one overall.  We have some recommendations on how to improve it, but you know -- so combine them into one big package deal, which is what New Jersey and Illinois does where there is a rate of return built into the amortization, but if scales up or down based on performance.

We think it may be cleaner to just simply think of them as two separate mechanisms, one where the utility basically gets their money back and the other where they --Ted Weaver and Enbridge have been arguing that they need to earn the weighted average cost of capital on any amortization in addition to performance incentive, which is effectively gives the shareholders two rates of return, which we don't think makes sense.

And we found that if you don't end programs and you continue programs that because you're always kind of pushing some of the costs out in a cumulative sense, customers are better off at least for a very long time you know, like 50 years kind of thing, cumulatively.

[Technical interruption]

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Is that better?  Okay.

So customers generally are, we think, cumulatively better off by doing this better alignment of costs and benefits.

Now, you know, Ted Weaver has shown some analyses where you assume programs end and then he showed that you continue to have this outstanding liability that customers have to pay back, and that is certainly true.

It is important to keep in mind that as they're paying it back, they're also getting those future benefits that they haven't collected yet. And the alternative if you are going to stop programs is to spend money on more expensive supply, which you are likely to amortize for even longer periods.  So we don't really see that as a good reason not to do it.

And that's pretty much the main themes.

MR. MURRAY:  And does that also address the performance incentive part of the report?  Perhaps you could provide a high level summary of the purpose of that.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Sure.  You know, as I said, you know, it's worth pointing out that right now shareholders aren't really making an investment.  They're spending the rate payer's money and earning a return, but that's appropriate because they have disincentives to do DSM and their alternative could earn them a return.

And by and large, we think a lot of the performance incentive approach is reasonable.  We think the 50 percent threshold is low.  In a lot of other worlds, that is considered a failing grade and if the ratepayers pay all of the money and only get half the benefits, I don't think it makes sense to reward the utility for that.  So we would recommend about 75 percent as a reasonable threshold level.

The scorecard approach is by and large a reasonable approach.  The way the metrics are broken out by the different sectors, you know, low-income and market residential and large commercial and so on.  I think makes sense.  You know, it's what we referred to as having some countervailing metrics, and the concept is, if you are going to incentivize overall savings or net benefits, you don't want a perverse incentive where you only want to get the cheapest savings and ignore, say, low-income customers. So we think you could keep that or have different countervailing metrics.

The main thing we don't like about the scorecard is that it is based on annual savings.  We think lifetime savings would be an improvement, because it more closely reflects the ultimate value to the ratepayers, but in the end, really, net benefits we think is the best metric approach, because it highly correlates with the annual lifetime savings.  Essentially, the gross benefits come from the savings, and so it provides all the incentive that you get from a savings metric.  So you haven't really lost anything.

But what it does is it introduces a secondary aspect, which is an incentive to be cost-efficient, and we think that is a worthwhile thing, and particularly because -- because if you continue to have the TAM, the target adjustment mechanism, you create some real perverse incentives where Enbridge, for example, could see that it's meeting its savings goals, but it only needed to spend maybe 80 percent of the money.  Well, now it has got a strong incentive to just waste the other 20 percent of the money, because it will lower their goals next year and make it easier to earn more.

So we think having that additional secondary incentive to be cost-efficient is a good approach, and Ted Weaver has testified that he thinks it is too complicated.  But as far as I can tell, the only thing he thinks is complicated about it is it has some extra variables in a math formula, and we have computers and spreadsheets, and that's clearly not a complicated calculation.

And I also don't quite understand how Enbridge would think it is too complicated, because they in fact proposed a net benefits metric themselves.  Just a different type.

I just wanted to just go back to the target adjustment mechanism for a moment.  I think there's been a lot of confusion there around focusing on net-to-gross values and gross savings adjustments, and while I don't think it is appropriate to adjust for those, I agree that reasonable people can have differences of opinion on that, but the real main core of the target adjustment mechanism is simply to say, if you perform poorly, we're going to give you a pass the next year and lower your goals based on your poor performance, and we think that really makes no sense, and I am not aware of any jurisdiction that does that.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much for that.  And perhaps now we could shift to the second report, which was the Enbridge program review report.  I was wondering if you could provide a high-level description of the purpose of that to the Board and your conclusions or findings.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes, certainly.  So the purpose of that report was basically look into Enbridge's proposed portfolio programs for the next program term and do a high-level kind of quantitative comparison with other similar and leading jurisdictions in North America and also a qualitative review to try to identify new programs, new measures, and new program design elements that Enbridge could implement to improve its portfolio doing better and improve its efficiency savings.

Now, I think this was -- this was meant -- you know, the recommendations are meant as kind of, you know, good-faith efforts of, you know, suggestions of how efficiency programs could improve.  And, you know, in general our findings were that -- were that Enbridge programs compare pretty well to other jurisdictions.  You know, we have -- the report kind of goes through a lot of recommendations, a lot of more specific recommendations.  I will highlight a few of the key ones.

The first one is that they fully integrate with electric delivery wherever feasible and wherever possible.  We recognize that IESO does not run residential programs anymore.  So, you know, clearly if there is no electric program on the res side they can't integrate.  You know, they can still -- and they are trying, as they're doing, integrate with the government-run programs, but, you know, I just also want to clarify, you know, there's a lot of -- Enbridge has a lot of language in there saying that they will coordinate with electric administrators, and, you know, this recommendation is -- kind of goes beyond just simple coordination.  It goes beyond just, you know, making sure the requirements for low- or moderate-income program align with the electric program requirements.

It is really about a single -- a single program that delivers both electric and gas.  You know, as an example we can take the custom program.  Custom projects, you know, utility bills, utilities often -- or, sorry.  The custom building managers -- commercial building managers often want to do multi-measure projects at the same time.  A lot of custom projects I have seen are multiple measures.  You know, maybe they result in an ASHRAE audit, and there is a bunch measures that are identified that are both electric and gas, and there is a significant barrier to participation if the participant needs to do two applications, one for electric, one for gas, deal with two program managers, you know.

It is much smoother for all involved and much better and much cheaper, because it avoids kind of significant customer acquisition costs, and you can streamline marketing and outreach if it is really just addressed in one place, if a customer has one place where they can go and address all of their energy needs, you know, because, you know, even though -- even though the utilities tend to think of electric and gas meters, the customer just thinks about energy bills and, you know, doesn't -- really cares about the energy usage and not the electric versus gas usage. So I wanted to clarify that.

Some more recommendations.  Offer on-bill kind of low-interest financing wherever possible for the residential sector, eliminate furnaces and boilers completely.  Aggressively expand the thermostat program.  You know, our report highlighted, for example, Emert (ph), Illinois, which did a thermostat blitz, you know, that in one month installed 12,000 thermostats, and, you know, there's a lot of -- a lot of the programs we looked at are getting significant thermostat penetration specifically, but you would also -- one approach on residential -- do you want to reiterate that residential -- we like the fact that Enbridge is most focused on the whole building retrofit.  We think that is the most important program in the residential sector.

The low-income, you know, we have a suggestion to incorporate more metrics in participation, in particular, multi-family participation into the performance -- into the performance incentive.  You know, this is a sector that is traditionally extremely hard to get participation in.  You know, low-income is very hard, rental units are very hard, because of the split incentive barrier, and then when it is a low-income building, especially a big multi-income building, when maybe there is residential meters in the unit and a commercial meter in the common area, and so it kind of -- it is kind of both residential and C&I.  It is particularly hard.  So that is a very particularly hard sector to reach.  So it is probably worth just making sure that the incentive is there to really go after it, and then also proactively as much as possible coordinate with any -- and any and all government and non-profit programs that are out there, including potentially, you know, public housing agencies or, you know, any kind of entity that oversees multi-family rentals in the low-income space.

On the C&I sector, I think the one recommendation I want to highlight is to increase or remove incentive caps.  Enbridge's C&I program has an incentive cap of $50,000.  This strikes me as very, very low you know, compared to other jurisdictions I am familiar with.

If we kind of look over at B.C., Fortis, for example, has a cap of 500,000 per commercial customers and 1 million for industrial.  So basically ten times more for commercial and 20 times more for industrial.  EnMass in Illinois, where we're actively involved in their notifying incentive caps.

So, you know, I think in a world where -- I don't want to cite the exact numbers, but a small portion of the highest energy users use a big, big disproportionate share of the energy use.  You know, it is really important to make sure that their needs can be covered with the incentive caps and, you know, if it's -- it's hard for me to see that, you know, 50,000 cap as enough to support kind of a large project without –that are non-free riders.

So I think -- I think that is kind of the most, the main points that I want to summarize in this.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you for that.  Thank you for that.  If I could ask that we pull up JT2.10, which provides Enbridge's response to various recommendations that were made in your two reports.  If I could ask that we go to the 6th page of this document, in the top right corner it will say page 6 of 24.

If you could scroll down to the bottom of that page, here in recommendation -- here is Enbridge's response to recommendation number five, which was to eliminate furnaces and boilers as offered measures.

Have you reviewed Enbridge's response to this recommendation?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes, I have.

MR. MURRAY:  And does it change or make you rethink the recommendation as proposed?

MR. McDONALD:  No, I -- no, it doesn't make me rethink that.  Enbridge's I response, to kind of paraphrase here, was that HVAC contractors play an important role in bringing customers into the program, where it is an important foot in the door.

My immediate reaction to this is that just with some stepping back a little bit, some context here, I am familiar with these programs in other jurisdictions and one very significant barrier to them, especially treating the household as comprehensive as possible, is that different types of contractors tend to like to stay in their lane and really don't want to make sales, really aren't interested in trying to promote products that are outside of their main area of expertise.

So, you know, for example, it is very hard to get a HVAC contractor to propose and install weatherization measures.  It is very hard to get -- and vice versa, it's hard to get a weatherization contractor to propose and install HVAC measures.

So, you know, my immediate reaction when I hear that is just -- is concern that if it is true that HVAC contractors are, you know, leading the intake of this program and doing the main audit, you know, how effectively are they identifying and addressing the weatherization barriers that come up.  So, you know, that certainly would be a concern that that answer would raise for me.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you for that.  And I am not going to ask you to go through all of the rest of the recommendations, but there are two more recommendations I would like to take you to.

So if we can turn to recommendation 18, which is found at page 12 of JT2.10.

MR. McDONALD:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  If we go to page 12, here Enbridge provides its response to your recommendation to reduce or eliminate the incentive cap on commercial and industrial projects.  Have you reviewed Enbridge's response to this recommendation?

MR. McDONALD:  I have, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Does it change or make you rethink your recommendation?

MR. McDONALD:  It does not, no.  You know, so again to paraphrase, Enbridge's response says that, you know, a large majority of projects that they're doing in the custom program are not reaching the incentive cap.  And then further they add that their technical support is often considered equally or more important than the incentive to the program.

This doesn't convince me.  First, I would say an incentive cap is an unnecessary constraint, even if it is the case that most projects are below the cap.  You know, as I kind of said earlier, even if it is the case that of the number of projects, most are not reaching the incentive cap.

You know, a few big projects -- given the disparities in the size of energy users just in general, especially in the commercial sector, a few big projects can make a -- that aren't coming in because of the incentive cap can make a huge difference in program savings.

You know, also I would say if it is true that it is rare for the projects to reach the cap, this might -- you know, it is hard to know for sure without kind of more information, but it might indicate the possibility that, you know, program managers aren't successfully driving large customers to participate in the program, especially in a comprehensive way, or that the incentive cap is, you know, discouraging larger projects to even apply to the program.

And then, you know, just also finally I want to add that I do definitely agree that technical assistance is very important.  If it is true that they view it as more important than the incentive, maybe it indicates that the incentive is not structured correctly or large enough to really drive -- drive these projects and, you know, this kind of conclusion might be supported by some high free ridership rates.

You know, I also -- I will also note that the technical -- you know, the cost share for technical assistance is lower than other jurisdictions that we reviewed -- not quite as strikingly lower as the incentive cap, but it is still lower.

And finally, you know, I think -- you know, this is maybe a little bit more controversial than other things I have said, but I think my personal preference is a move towards negotiated incentives that kind of recognize that the era we're entering is an era where everyone is kind of expecting custom solutions and things tailored to them and big data, you know.  


And if you move towards a negotiated incentive structure, the account managers of the large customers could work with the customers to kind of understand what their procurement processes are and, you know, what kind of payback or what kind of financial metrics are needed to see and work to structure the incentives specifically to ensure it is done that way.

And you know, this is done for example in Massachusetts.  I believe it's done in some jurisdictions, too, but I don't know for sure off-hand which.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much.  As I said, I am not going to go through them all, but there is one more recommendation I would like to highlight in Enbridge's response.  If you could turn to page 20 of JT2.10, I would like to focus on the last recommendation on page 20, which was that Optimal is recommending greater integration between electricity and gas efficiency measures.

I know you have touched upon this a little bit earlier in our discussion.  But have you reviewed Enbridge's response to this recommendation?

MR. McDONALD:  I have, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And does it change or make you rethink the recommendation proposed by Optimal?

MR. McDONALD:  It does not, no.  I mean, I think I addressed it in general earlier.  I would say, you know, this specific comment was directed towards the low carbon transition program and I think it is kind of particular -- particularly relevant in that context of this one because it is an electrification program.

And you know, I know there is a requirement in the Low Carbon Transition Program that -- for example, that the customer retains gas heating as their primary heat fuel source, you know, I think there is a little bit of unclarity of what exactly that means, what does it mean to be a primary heat source.

To me it very likely means or -- you know, to me it sounds like maybe there is the main -- you know, maybe the main home uses gas, but there is an extension that has a split that uses it for heat.

But, you know, even if it does mean -- you know, even if it does allow for the cases where, you know, there is a heat pump system that addresses most of the load and the electric system kicks in on the coldest days and maybe it is 10 percent or 20 percent of the heating load, you know, just designing a fuel switching program that prohibits even investigating the cost-effectiveness of all electric compared to, you know, a hybrid system is problematic, you know.

What if it is the case, whether now or in five years from now, technology has changed and costs maybe have come down.  You know, what if there is a case where it is a lot more cost-effective to just slightly expand the capacity of the heat pump that you are installing and just get rid of the gas altogether, you know, get rid of the fixed costs on the bill.

You know, it's just -- you know, it is problematic particularly in this program where, you know, a large purpose of the program is to electrify heating.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you for that.  Just one final question.  Have there been any major developments relating to the subject matter of either of your two reports since the filing of them in December 2021?

MR. McDONALD:  No, not that I am aware of.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  That concludes my direct examination.  Commissioners, just to alert you, earlier today we were advised by the Ontario Vegetable Growers that they don't have -- they don't require any questions.  However, what they are asking for is an undertaking, which OEB Staff is prepared to provide.  So perhaps if I can ask that Mr. Buonaguro come out of order and provide his undertaking.

MR. JANIGAN:  That would be fine, Mr. Murray.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Michael Buonaguro for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.  The way I like to put it is I have distilled my cross down to a single undertaking, and thank you for agreeing to it.

I gave a preview to Board Staff.  It actually -- it relates to the exact same interrogatory that Mr. McDonald was going through, so just for context.  My original undertaking request is related to JT2.10, and Mr. Murray took you through recommendation number 18.

So that was the first one I was going to ask you about, but what I am going to ask you, I will just tell you what the text of the interrogatory undertaking is, as proposed.

The undertaking is to review Enbridge's response to Optimal Energy's recommendations 18, 19, 20, 21, and 22, as set out in Exhibit JT2.10, and provide Optimal Energy's response to Enbridge's comments, if any.

And basically asking you the same, to do the same sort of commentary, if you have any, for those recommendations that Enbridge provided information on in that undertaking.

And I would note, obviously, that you have actually spent quite a bit of time in examination-in-chief on number 18, so for number 18 -- I will leave it in the undertaking, but if you just want to refer to the transcript as your answer, that's fine, or if you have something else to add you can. And then 19, 20, 21, and 22 would be outstanding.

And then just for context, those are all recommendations and responses from Enbridge that relate to the commercial industrial programs, and particularly the custom programs, as I understand it.  So that is the undertaking request.

MR. MURRAY:  And that will be provided.  That will be Undertaking J5.1. 

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, it -- just procedurally I am just a little curious as to how this will work.  These witnesses are here and available to answer questions in respect of these.  I don't want to hold things up by any means, but if we then get responses in writing to questions that could have been asked today, how will the other parties have a chance, in particular how will Enbridge have a chance, to actually ask some questions about the response?  So I am just wondering, does there have to be baked into that an ability for Enbridge then to have the ability to ask some questions in writing on their responses to the undertaking?  It is just a little unusual.

MR. JANIGAN:  It is unusual, Mr. O'Leary, but if -- if this had arisen in the context of cross-examination, I would assume the undertaking still could have been requested, could it not?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, they're not -- as I understand what Mr. Buonaguro is suggesting -- and I appreciate he is trying to save time here, and I support that -- but he is asking them for their response to -- and Ms. Adams, can you pull up 19, 20, 21, and 22?

So now looking at it we see that it relates to -- they're all, as he said, commercial/industrial, and he is asking for these witnesses' response to the company's response, and it means that I will not have a chance to hear what their response is and therefore be able to ask them questions further to it.  I may not have any.  I am not saying that I will.

But it is not an undertaking that they're going back and creating a new document or doing some additional calculations.  These are the types of things that you would normally see in a cross-examination.

So I am in your hands, Mr. Chair.  It is just -- I don't want to delay things, but I am just concerned that we will get a long response -- perhaps it won't be long, but it could be quite a detailed response, and we will have had no opportunity to even consider it, let alone respond to it and ask questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Buonaguro, can you address this?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I am chuckling to myself, because I think my attempt to save ten minutes has just been blown.

[Laughter]

MR. BUONAGURO:  I mean, I could obviously ask the questions, and that was my original intent.  Mr. McDonald provided the response to 18 already orally, and, one, so that means for that one, which is probably the most interesting one, Mr. O'Leary has his answer that he can work off of.

If he is worried about the answers to the rest of them, I mean, you know, not to be glib, but he could ask the same question now, knowing that it is coming up in an undertaking and he can get it orally and he can start the conversation. So I don't think we're necessarily depriving him of that opportunity.

And I know I haven't gone through all of the undertakings, but I can't imagine that there aren't several of them that would be similar, where you are not going to get the answer until two or three weeks from now.

But I am not the one that is trying to suggest that Enbridge shouldn't be able to respond to the response, but then obviously there is nothing right now that allows that, other than if he wants to ask the same question in his cross-examination because he is worried about the answer, then he can get the answer now.

I am not sure how Enbridge would reply then.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, it seems to me that the most satisfactory way to do it is to have you put the questions and get the answers, and rather than retiring and consider this question in some sort of a way that would be -- that would take more time to do.  So why don't we do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, just so I understand, when you say retire, do you mean accept the undertaking?  Or --


MR. JANIGAN:  No, no, the panel retire and consider this matter.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, sorry.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  So that's okay.  So what I would -- I wonder --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry to interrupt.  But the undertaking is out there, so I don't think it should hold up the next person, and I guess we can do it at a break or something like that?

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, why don't we go then to Environmental Defence to start their cross-examination, and then we will return to that response to those questions after that has occurred.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair and panel, and good afternoon, Mr. Rosenthal and --


[Technical interruption]


MR. ELSON:  
Okay.  If I could just start by having our compendium for Board Staff hearing panel marked as an exhibit.

MR. MURRAY:  It will be Exhibit K5.6. 
EXHIBIT NO. K5.6:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 9.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And I would like to start by asking you some questions about large-volume customers, and we heard the suggestion from some parties earlier in the hearing that large-volume customers have inherent incentives to save gas that are much larger than the incentives available under a DSM program and therefore large-volume customers should be excluded from Enbridge's plan.

Can you respond to that suggestion?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  I mean, I would disagree with that.  I think the suggestion is because their energy costs are much higher as an absolute basis than other companies, that that means that they will do cost-effective efficiency.  You know, I don't -- I don't agree that that assertion is true.  You know, I think there might be -- you know, first of all, there might be some industries that are, you know, particularly energy-intensive and in particular some industrial processes.

But in general, you know, the bigger you are, the bigger your energy costs, but also, the bigger all of your other costs.  So it is not necessarily true that just because -- just because you are bigger your energy costs are larger as a portion of your total cost.  Your labour cost, your rent -- building rental cost.  Everything scales up kind of proportionally often.

And, you know, second of all, I think it just bears out that there is still very large entities that are doing efficiency, and they have it, and it is not brand-new technology that they're doing.  I have certainly seen large customers.  I have done a lot of technical assistance for custom programs, and I have certainly seen projects being done with technologies that are ten, ten-plus years old.

So, you know, if it is there, and it's been sitting there for 10 years, then, you know, why would you assume that there's still -- there's none sitting there now.

I think big customers might have some even unique barriers.  You know, maybe their energy using processes are integral for their business purpose, especially if you are industrial and so you really don't want to risk changing things because it is a big risk,  So you know, I think there is also some maybe unique barriers to the big customers.

But I think all evidence shows there is still opportunity for efficiencies savings.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I was just going to add there is a large body of literature that has shown that there is still plenty of cost-effective efficiency in large customers.

Massachusetts I know a while ago did a study -- I think it was Instar, but it might have been a joint Instar and National Grid study looking at sort of segmenting their participant market and trying to understand their customers and where the gaps were.

And they found that the majority of their largest customers participate in their programs every single year.

MR. ELSON:  And can you confirm that large volume customers make up approximately 20 percent of Enbridge Gas's total load, and comment on how that might be relevant to maintain this programming?

MR. McDONALD:  I can't confirm that number specifically, but I trust it.  That sounds about right.  And certainly this program has the lowest cost savings, if you compare the savings from large volume customers to other programs.  So, you know, it would definitely eliminate a source of relatively low cost savings from Enbridge's reach.

MR. ELSON:  And if this programming is cancelled, I take it the budget for this sector wouldn't be reallocated elsewhere because it comes specifically from these customers.  It would just be a reduction in DSM spending, is that fair to say?

MR. McDONALD:  I would presume that if you eliminate the large volume customers you would also eliminate the SBC for them.

I mean so, yes, in that case, yes, that's true.  You just -- if you eliminate 20 percent of the SBC, you will have to reduce the overall budget by 20 percent.

MR. ELSON:  And just for the sake of the record, what does SBC stand for?

MR. McDONALD:  System benefit charge, the surcharge -- I don't even know for sure if that is the term in Ontario, but just that -- I am just referring to the surcharge on the bill as allocated to the efficiency programs.

MR. ELSON:  And if large volume customers are sophisticated enough, motivated enough, and knowledgeable enough, such that large volume DSM programs are not necessary, wouldn't that mean by definition that any program you would offer to them would have a hundred percent free riders?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so that would mean that this competitive motivation argument is inconsistent with previous Board-approved free rider rates for DSM programs, is that fair to say?

MR. McDONALD:  I'm sorry, the competitive -- can you just summarize what that argument is?

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  That argument that large volume customers are sophisticated, motivated and knowledgeable enough such that large volume DSM programs are not necessary.  That argument would be inconsistent with previous Board-approved free rider rates that have shown something south of a hundred percent free riders.

MR. McDONALD:  Oh, yes, I would agree with that, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Would you agree that large volume customers might not implements all cost-effective conservation measures because they have limited capital, and therefore need an incentive to put their scarce resources towards energy efficiency?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes,  would agree with that.  That is a barrier.

MR. ELSON:  Would you agree another reason might be that they don't have perfect or complete information about what energy efficiency measures are available and their relative benefits?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And another reason might be that their managers have limited time and other priorities to deal with, meaning that conservation doesn't get the attention necessary for the achievement of all cost-effective conservation?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. ELSON:  And would you agree that another might be that corporate managers have incentives to focus on initiatives with significantly shorter payback periods?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes, I think so.  I mean definitely -- yes.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think there have been studies that have indicated the implied discount rate is extremely high for large customers and that generally, if something doesn't pay back within a year or two, they're not likely to invest in it.

MR. ELSON:  Now, in my compendium at tabs 1, 2 and 3, there are a number of materials with highlighted statements regarding large volume DSM programs.  Did you have a chance to read over those documents -- not the whole thing, but the specific highlighted portions?

MR. McDONALD:  I am -- I am not sure.  I would want to reread them quickly now, if you are going to ask on them, I think.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well you know, what --


MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  I think that -- well, what I was going to ask is if you agreed with the statements, and maybe you could undertake to review those documents just so that we don't take up more time in this proceeding.

It is the highlighted statements in items one, two and three, and whether you agree with what they've said about the importance of large volume customers.  Can you undertake that?

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I have an even bigger concern about what Mr. Elson is requesting.  Yesterday he filed a compendium that is 480-some-odd pages.

I can certainly feel for both Mr. McDonald and Mr. Mosenthal not being able to review all of that.  I certainly didn't.  So to put a basically a 500-page compendium that is -- presumably he will argue on the record, and then to ask the witnesses to give their comments on things he has highlighted in it -- which we don't even know what they are -- to then file a written response to that after the oral hearing is closed is procedurally inappropriate and unfair.

So I would strongly object to that and it is -- it should not happen, sir.

MR. ELSON:  Commissioner Janigan, if I could speak to the issue.  I will say it is of lesser importance.  I acknowledge, because these witnesses have already provided their own testimony.

However, with respect to the fairness, there are only 20 or so pages which have any highlights and I sent the materials to Board Staff a number of days ago, flagging the specific pages that have highlights on them.

And, you know, Mr. O'Leary, these aren't his witnesses so I don't quite understand why he would have the standing to make an objection to this.

The specific materials on the evidence in this document here, they're all materials from the previous DSM plan proceeding.  So Enbridge has seen them at one point or another and they do have all of the areas that are highlighted, and I think it would be beneficial for the panel to have commentary from Optimal on these materials and some of the studies showing that large volume customers do not implement all cost-effective efficiency.

But I am in your hands, Commissioner Janigan. If you wish to have them comment on these materials, then I think that would be beneficial.  But if not, then I am happy to move on.

MR. O'LEARY:  If I may make a quick response --


MR. MURRAY:  Given it is a witness being offered by OEB Staff, perhaps I could interject and provide you with our view.

We would agree with Mr. O'Leary.  We do have concerns.  This is a large amount of material.  This doesn't look like material asked to us, and it strikes us as a lot to undertake and something that wouldn't be appropriate in this circumstance.

MR. ELSON:  Commissioner Janigan, I will retract my question.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Mosenthal and Mr. McDonald, you made some recommendations on large volume customers in your report on page 29.

Can you comment on whether those recommendations would materially help to reduce the free rider rate in the large volume sector?

MR. McDONALD:  On page 29 of the report, you are saying?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah, you know, that -- I think it is hard to be sure, but the part of our recommendations were geared towards things that, you know, would hopefully improve the free ridership rates in general.

MR. ELSON:  And do you have anything else to suggest, in terms of reducing free rider rates for large volume customers, in addition to what you already laid out in your report?

MR. McDONALD:  I mean, I think our report lays out the most pertinent suggestions. 

I think, you know, one, you know, the MOU question, or the account management question, and I know that Enbridge does, you know, have some form of account management.  They don't kind of pursue the MOU approach, and, you know, a lot of this stuff is -- the devil is in the details.  You can say you do something, but, you know, to understand how effective it is, you really kind of dig into the details, but there was a large customer free ridership study in Massachusetts, and they looked at the difference in the free ridership rate between managed accounts and unmanaged accounts, and there was a significant difference.

And I have it.  It is in the report.  I don't know the numbers offhand.  I am kind of trying to scan for it now, but it was a big difference between, you know, between kind of a managed account approach and a non-managed account approach.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I am going to turn to a couple of different areas.  First is the Building Beyond Code program.  You had discussed in your report how the program only provides incentives for developers who agree to put in gas.

And can you comment on that criteria and its impact on cost-effectiveness decisions?

MR. McDONALD:  The impact on -- you're saying this is the new construction program that we're on now?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  Right.  So, I mean, I think the main impact is that it precludes all-electric new construction, and so when you are evaluating cost-effectiveness, you know, even if what -- even if what they're doing is cost-effectiveness, it is not comparing the cost of its cost-effectiveness of the construction to the cost-effectiveness of non-electric alternative.

You know, I think I have seen -- I personally have seen evidence that -- it is certainly the case that the lowest-cost time to do all-electric is in new construction, and, you know, I've -- I tend to believe that, you know, low-cost new -- or, sorry, all-electric new construction is -- presents the cheapest lifetime cycle in a lot of situations right now, and I think we cited a report from RMI that kind of looks into that, that already at this point is several years dated.

But, yeah, I think that's the main thing is, you know, it can be cost-effective still, a project, but it precludes also kind of evaluating the costs and benefits of all-electric new construction and comparing the cost-effectiveness of one with the other and doing the best, you know, the best choice from the perspective of managing overall electric bill rather than the perspective of managing the gas bill.

MR. ELSON:  And the Rocky Mountain Institute report that you are talking about would have been looking at the cost-effectiveness of heat pumps in new construction, in U.S. states.

And I take it that generally speaking those wouldn't have the same escalating carbon taxes we do here in Ontario up to $170 per tonne in 2030.  Is that fair to say?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  It is state by state, and a lot of states use higher than others but, yeah, I think they're all -- they're all under -- as far as I know, that they're all under 170.  You know, I think Massachusetts right now is using -- you know, their primary metric for their efficiency programs now is greenhouse gas reduction, not electric or gas savings, just as an attempt to, you know, really provide a fuel-neutral approach now.

And I think in their screening they're using like 100, 120 dollar per tonne value for carbon, and, you know, as far as I am aware that is the highest.

MR. ELSON:  And when you were saying that the measure might be cost-effective, you mean that it might be cost-effective against the less efficient gas option, but it might be less cost-effective than an all-electric option, and your concern is that you are not looking at that, right?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah, that's correct, yeah.

MR. ELSON:  And so would you agree that that is inconsistent with the goal of helping customers make the right choices regardless of whether that is through more efficient gas or electric equipment?

MR. McDONALD:  Right.  Yes.  I think I would prefer -- I would recommend a fuel-agnostic approach that looks at the lowest life-cycle costs kind of regardless of what fuel source is providing the energy in a building.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Ms. Adams, if I could share my screen, just because I have a couple documents up, it would be I think a bit faster if I could flip them myself.

I am looking now at page 481 of our compendium here.  And this is one of your interrogatory responses.  And we asked:

"Market transformation programs are inherently forward-looking.  In this light, please comment on the prudence of developing a market in more efficient gas heating; i.e., gas heat pumps and hybrid systems versus electric cold-climate heat pumps."

And in response, you said:

"We think it makes more sense to develop a market for electric cold-climate heat pumps given, one, the technology is more mature, two, they yield more GHG savings, and 3, it is currently thought to be easier to further decarbonize the electric supply than the gas supply."

And now I have a follow-up question for both you, Mr. Mosenthal, and Mr. McDonald.  How would you respond to the argument that Enbridge's programs should not provide incentives to all-electric cold-climate heat pumps and its customers should not pay for those programs because it is a gas utility?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I guess my response would be that, you know, if it saves gas cost-effectively, then I think it is potentially a legitimate measure.

Now, you know, there could be a policy choice that it is better for the electric utility ratepayers to be funding it rather than the gas utilities, but it is certainly an efficiency measure that reduces gas costs, which I think is Enbridge's charge.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah, I will just add that it seems strange conceptually to me to say, oh, if you put in a heat pump that displaces 80 percent of the gas load, that's good.  That is gas efficiency.  But, you know, if you just increase the capacity a little so that it increases -- that it reduces most of the load, then that is not gas sufficiency.  It is inappropriate to fund the ratepayer dollars.  You know, what's the line on there?  It is a -- it's just a strange -- conceptually it is a little odd to me.

MR. ELSON:  And I take it one of the underlying motivations is again that desire to help customers make the right choice regardless of whether it is through gas or electric equipment, and you can only do that if you have a fuel-neutral approach.  Is that a fair way to sum it up?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  Yes.  So, I mean, right, I -- yeah, I think efficiency programs, you know, they should be a business.  They shouldn't, you know, they shouldn't look at a customer in terms of a gas meter and electric meter.  They should be, you know, they should be approaching a customer, a person who cares about minimizing total energy costs and maybe some other things, but, you know, they should be able to holistically at energy usage rather than just gas usage in isolation from electric usage.

MR. ELSON:  And now, we heard earlier during the hearing, and I think you also touched on it briefly in-chief, that in Enbridge's residential program participants must agree not only to keep on gas, but to keep gas as their primary heating source.

And it seems to me -- and I just want to confirm, because I think this is what you were getting at, but I'm not quite sure -- it seems to me that this conflicts with Enbridge's funding for hybrid heat pumps in their market transformation programming, because a good hybrid heat pump would offset likely more than 50 percent of the gas heating with electric heating.  Would you agree with that?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I would agree.  That is unclear to me what exactly is meant when they say primary.  You know, that requirement needs -- maybe it has somewhere that I haven't seen, but it needs -- you know, if there's going to be that requirement, I think at a minimum that it needs to be much more clear on what that means.

MR. ELSON:  And would you agree if there is indeed that conflict that the way to resolve it would be to eliminate the requirement that gas maintain as the primary heating source in the residential programs?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  That seems reasonable.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I have a number of questions likely for you, Mr. Mosenthal, relating to amortization.  I have put up on the screen a decision of the OEB in the mid-term review, which was a number of years ago.

And in this OEB decision, it outlines some benefits of amortizing DSM costs.  And I was going to go through these one by one, but perhaps the most efficient way for me to do this is to ask you to review these four bullets and let me know whether you agree that they are benefits of the amortization, and whether you have anything else to add.  And then I will have some follow-up questions.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  So I will read it.  Yeah, I would agree with all of those statements.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Elson, perhaps before you go on, is this document on the record?  And if not, maybe just for ease of reference -- like it is a decision, so obviously -- but it may help in terms of the evidentiary record and finding things.

So perhaps if you could describe the document and we will give it an exhibit number.

MR. ELSON:  This is a report of the Board in the DSM mid-term review and it is a document from 2018, I believe November 29th.

MR. MURRAY:  And that will be Exhibit K 5.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.7:  OEB DECISION IN DSM MID-TERM REVIEW, DATED NOVEMBER 29, 2018


MR. O'LEARY:  I wonder, Mr. Elson, can you confirm the page number, just so we can put that into the...


MR. ELSON:  Yes.  That would be page 27.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And it is the part above "OEB conclusion."

MR. ELSON:  This is -- yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay, thanks.

MR. ELSON:  It is under the heading "Amortized DSM costs", and the portion that is highlighted starts "the benefits of amortizing DSM costs include", and then there is four bullets.

So I would just like to address with you, panel, two concerns that have been raised in this proceeding about amortizing DSM costs.  The first concern is about building up a regulatory asset at a time when the future of gas is somewhat uncertain.

And first of all, would you agree that DSM assets have considerable benefits over gas infrastructure assets because improvements to things like building envelopes have a great deal of value, whether or not heating is with a fossil fuel?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Would you agree that the build-up of DSM costs will likely pale in comparison to the build-up of gas infrastructure costs?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I would agree with that.  I would also say that they're less likely to become a stranded asset in the event that, you know, the gas utility starts to decrease.  As long as the customers still have those, they're very diversified resources among lots of customers that are likely to still exist.

Whereas if you have a distribution line that you can't use for anything, it's pretty much just a hundred percent stranded asset, other than scrap value for metal, maybe.

MR. ELSON:  And if the build-up of a regulatory asset is a concern, would you agree that one mechanism to at least partially address that would be to track those costs so that they could be socialized, if the government decided to do so in the future?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I would agree that is a possible mechanism that could be used.

MR. ELSON:  And do you have any other comments on that issue of building up a regulatory asset?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Well, I guess simply that I think the risks overall are a lot lower for DSM as a regulatory asset, if the Board has approved it and being that those spending was prudent, it is hard to know what would change their mind in the future.

As opposed to if a utility makes a major capital investment in a piece of supply that is no longer useful, you know, there are issues around who should have to pay the rest of the debt on that.

MR. ELSON:  A second concern that we have heard is that customers under this argument end up paying more, because they have to pay for interest in addition to the DSM costs themselves.

But it seems to me that is not a strike against amortization of DSM because it applies equally to amortization of anything else, including infrastructure solutions.  Would you agree with that?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And also I think the paying more argument is wrong because it disregards the time value of money and the discount rate.  Do you agree with that?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And I think what I will do is pull up a page -- I am now looking at the First Tracks report, which is the Enbridge reply evidence on page 33.

This is a document that First Tracks put together, and the lines here represent net benefits.  Do you see that there, Mr. Mosenthal?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I do.

MR. ELSON:  And the orange line has the net benefits coming out at the end to being neutral, because the discount rate is set at the same cost as the capital in this chart.  Do you see that there?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I do.  I am not sure -- are those the net benefits of the savings?

MR. ELSON:  Well, maybe I can ask you.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Okay.  Ask your question.

MR. ELSON:  I think it is the same concept as in your report that you touched on, which is that to calculate -- sorry, I said net benefits, but that was the wrong term.  It is the net present value.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  And that if the discount rate is equal to the cost of capital, then amortization costs the same as expense treatment.  Is that fair to say?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Can you repeat that question?

MR. ELSON:  If your discount rate is equal to your cost of capital, then amortization costs the same as expensed treatment of DSM.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.  Yes, because you are discounting at the same rate that you are inflating it, yes.

MR. ELSON:  So that's how you would account for the time value of money is by having a discount rate, not just by adding up all of the interest payments and that being considered to be an extra cost.  Fair to say?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  That's correct.  And you know, as I mentioned on direct, if you assume you continue running programs, then you continue to have those expense bars.  You don't just have that tail that you are paying off all by itself.

MR. ELSON:  And if your discount rate is lower than your cost of capital, then amortizing costs is actually cheaper than expensing them.  And I think you provided that example in your report, where you talked about a comparison with a customer 10 percent discount rate.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think you meant to say if the discount rate is higher than the cost of capital?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, I did, thank you.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.  And while I think, you know, one could argue that DSM should be evaluated in terms of whether you are doing it based on a societal discount rate, whether it is cost-effective to society overall, I think there is a lot of evidence that customers do have a higher discount rate and might prefer to pay a little bit more in interest over time because it's better for their bottom line.

MR. ELSON:  And also if you divorce the performance incentives from the amortization scheme, you can have a cost of capital that is below the weighted average of cost of capital.  Right?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  You certainly could.  You know, one can think of, you know, investments returns as sort of having two components.  There's the sort of a risk-free return that might look something like a treasury bill, and then there is a risk premium and the risk year your investment the more you are going to demand a higher risk premium.

As long as you, you know, are taking care of that risk premium through your performance incentive, you could have a sort of a risk-free amount, you know, blended in with your cost of any debt, outside debt you are borrowing.

MR. ELSON:  And I guess that might tie in somewhat to your earlier comments about the lower risk profile of DSM as opposed to infrastructure spending.  Would it?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes, it would.

MR. ELSON:  I will turn now to Exhibit JT1.6, and I took Enbridge through this document and Mr. O'Leary took some other witnesses through this document.  I would just like to return to it one more time.

This is showing Enbridge annual gas costs, and in the bottom right you will see that in 2020 the total is estimated at roughly $5 billion?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  This is the commodity costs --


MR. ELSON:  Not only commodity cost.  It is the costs that show up on the bill, so --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Oh, okay, yes.  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  -- commodity cost, distribution cost, carbon cost --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Okay.  Yes, I do see the 4.9 billion, yes.

MR. ELSON:  So costs showing up on a gas bill.  And then that is -- it is actually 5 billion, because you will see there is three zeros there -- so it's 5 billion in 2020 --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah.

MR. ELSON:  -- you'll see that there?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah.

MR. ELSON:  And then in 2027 at the end of the term it will go up to 9.2 billion.  Do you see that there?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the proposed DSM budget is slated to grow by about 3 percent annually in real terms?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And so that means that DSM investments will be declining significantly as a proportion of overall gas bills?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I am pretty sure, you know, not having done the math in my head, it looks like this is more than a 3 percent per year increase, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Would you agree that the reasonableness of DSM cost impacts should be examined as a percent of gas bills, as opposed to an examination of costs in isolation?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think it is certainly one consideration one might have.  I would submit that if the efficiency is cost-effective that it is worth investing in, because it is cheaper than the alternative, even if it perhaps might be higher percent of total gas bills than one might have originally thought was reasonable.

MR. ELSON:  And I think what you are saying is that my question focused too much on costs and is ignoring the fact that DSM will reduce bills, and so if it is cost-effective you should be implementing it, even if it does increase the proportion of DSM spending as a percentage of bills.  Is that --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  That makes sense.  I would like to ask you a couple questions, Mr. Mosenthal, about coordination with the electricity system operator.  And I think coordination can mean a lot of different things that are getting a little bit conflated in this proceeding, and that can range, you know, range from informal discussions to formal discussions, to formal agreements regarding delivery, and even program design.  Would that be fair to say?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes, that's fair to say.

MR. ELSON:  And it seems to me like most of what's going on is a little bit of coordination with respect to delivery and, you know, communication.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think that's true.  I think that is my understanding, but I am not sure of the details.  Cliff may know a little more about some of the specific programs --


MR. ELSON:  And you know what?  That is fair.  I can refer back to other pieces of evidence on that.  I am just trying to lead up to a discussion about fuel neutrality.

And it seems to me that collaboration on program design is more important -- or is an important factor in comparison to collaboration just on delivery, if we're talking about achieving fuel neutrality in program design.  Is that fair to say?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah.  It is certainly important.  I think, you know, fundamentally delivery may be more important, in that, you know, some of the significant benefits of integrating electric and gas programs is it provides a much better customer service.  It is a one-stop shop where you can comprehensively look at all the options and do whatever makes the most sense, and then allocate the costs of that program reasonably between the electric and the gas side.  And it also is much more cost-efficient in terms of having one set of administrative costs and marketing and all of that.  So I think those are critical.

Now, one could argue a lot of that is the design, not the delivery.  But it is hard to parse out where that is, yeah.

MR. ELSON:  So you want a collaborative or joint delivery and design?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And I take it fuel neutrality is particularly important for market transformation programming?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Well, market transformation is a broad term, and you certainly can have market transformation about a very specific thing.

You could have, for example, if you wanted to, a market transformation program for gas heat pumps.  I would not recommend that.  I don't think it is -- it would be in society's best interests, because they are more expensive and less efficient than electric heat pumps.

But, you know, I am not sure that the term "market transformation" necessarily needs to be tied with the term of fuel neutrality.  But I think fuel neutrality is a good objective.

MR. ELSON:  Well, let's put it this way.  If you are designing a program that is very much so forward-looking and meant to be encouraging technologies that would be offered as resource acquisition programs in, say, 2030, I assume that they should be fuel-neutral because of the importance of making sure that you don't put your thumb on the scales between the fuels and because of the drive to reduce fossil fuels.  Would that be a fair summary?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Generally, yes, fuel-neutral could imply, you know, that you don't care which fuel it is. I think it has to be in the context of your policies, and if one of your policy objectives is greenhouse gas reduction, and electric in the long run is going to produce greater greenhouse gas reductions, you may prefer it for that reason.

Now, one could argue you're neutrally evaluating things, but I guess I would generally say you don't want to put your -- you don't want to bias decisions that are not based on objective things like reducing greenhouse gases or reducing customer costs.

MR. ELSON:  And so you are defining here fuel neutrality from I think the same way that I meant it, which was from a consideration perspective, which doesn't mean that your outcome is that you necessarily have to incentivize all different kinds of fuels, if for example one fuel is not consistent with a net zero future or one fuel is more expensive than others.  Is that --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Correct, correct.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So collaboration in the design of forward-looking market transformation programming could happen in a couple of ways.  And now I am really focusing on design here, because I think we've had a good discussion of delivery, and I think those are important points about having a one-stop-shop.

But in terms of designing those kinds of programs and how to collaborate, you would want to look at, for example, who is holding the pen, so to speak, and whose approval is needed for that kind of program if you are putting it together.  Is that one way to look at it?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  You are talking about in terms of the entity running the program or are you talking about approval at the Board level?

MR. ELSON:  I am talking about Enbridge Gas and the Independent Electricity System Operator and the need for there to be more collaboration between them, and specifically what collaboration might look like if we bring it up to the next level, where they're collaborating on the design of market transformation programming.

And it is one thing to say, please collaborate more, because that can just mean having discussions with each other.  And I am trying to get into a little bit more specifics as to what directions can be put forward, not only have discussions but, you know, jointly design a certain program and even within jointly designing a certain program, my question was that there be a number of ways to do it depending on who is holding the pen and who between those two entities would have, you know, approval over what gets designed in terms of the programming.  Is that one way to look at it?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.  You know, I would imagine that if it's truly collaborative, it might be, you know, a consensus building amongst both parties, but yes.

MR. ELSON:  Right now the gas utility is designing this market transformation program, but there is no reason why a gas utility couldn't contract with an electricity system planner, like the IESO, for the planner to design the plan with joint approval.  Is that fair to say?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  That is fair to say.

MR. ELSON:  And I think there might be some benefits of something like that.  And one of the things that it would do is perhaps not completely avoid, but partially address the conflict of interest of a utility that's designing a DSM plan when they profit from pipelines, and DSM plans will reduce or eliminate the need for pipelines.  Is that fair to say, having joint design with an electricity system operator?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah.  I mean it doesn't necessarily make the disincentives go away, but it means they have to get agreement with another party that has different incentives and disincentives.

MR. ELSON:  And I assume it would help facilitate a more fuel neutral approach and enable some of the benefits of a fuel neutral approach, such as economic efficiency, rationality, cost-effectiveness, and so on?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I would think so.

MR. ELSON:  And it might in some cases open access to low government financing for program cost amortization.  There is a lot of caveats there, but is that something that is a possibility?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I suppose, yeah.

MR. ELSON:  And if you had delivery contracted to, for example, the Independent Electricity System Operator, that might mean that you could avoid some cost of shareholder incentives as has occurred with other programs passed along to the system operator?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Sure.  You know, particularly if you are basing the incentive on level of investment and the investment is less because the IESO is picking some of it up, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And I guess it would depend who is delivering it, right?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah.  I mean, you know, utilities can hire implementation contractors that are pretty much turnkey delivered.  So you can choose to give somebody a shareholder incentive and they can still contract out to the other party to do delivery, I suppose.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And even if Enbridge contracted with the IESO or a third party to design these kind of forward looking programs, and deliver them frankly, there could still be mechanisms in place to access customer data and communications and that sort of thing, I take it?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Absolutely.  You know, an example of that is Efficiency Vermont, which is a sort of fuel-neutral efficiency utility, you know, primarily focussed on electric.

But when they were created, you know, I developed the plan to basically establish them and did a lot of the testimony.  And one of the things that the utilities were arguing because they didn't -- was that they wanted to keep delivery of the programs themselves -- was that they wouldn't -- Efficiency Vermont wouldn't have access to their data.

And the public service Board in Vermont when they approved having an efficiency utility simply also mandated that they had to have access, under appropriate confidentiality systems, to the utility data.

MR. ELSON:  And now aside from third-party energy efficiency agencies created under legislation, I understand that there are examples of utilities contracting with other utilities or other parties to design energy efficiency programming.  Is that correct?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah.  I mean generally it is either themselves or they're hiring consultants which are other parties, I guess.

But I am not sure I am familiar with an example where a utility simply asked a different utility to design their program for them.  It is certainly possible.

MR. McDONALD:  I think there is an example and I am trying to think of what specific utilities in the Pacific northwest.  I would need to just refresh my memory on that, but, yeah, there is an example where it was kind of a smaller utility -- I think Oregon-based -- contracting with energy or maybe a small utility based in Washington contracting with energy in Oregon to also kind of serve their bordering region with their programs.

But I would want to -- you know, I would need to verify the details on that.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  There is certainly -- certainly a utility can contract another party to run their programs, including the design.

I was maybe perhaps misunderstanding the question to be, you know, does someone just continue to deliver their own programs, but ask the other entity to design them for them.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Got it.  So in terms of examples where you're contracting with other parties to design and deliver, you say that is more common?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  A final few very high-level points, and I will be wrapping up early, which is hopefully good for our day today.

Enbridge's programs have an overall average TRC ratio of over three, right?  TRC being total resource cost.

MR. McDONALD:  That sounds right.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. ELSON:  I assume you would agree that these programs reduce average customer bills as a result of that, right?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Correct.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Some of these benefits accrue to all customers, participants and non-participants alike, such as avoided transmission and distribution costs, right?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And many of the benefits accrue specifically to participants, right?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Correct.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And rate impacts are not the right way to assess the reasonableness of DSM spending, because they disregard the benefits both to participants and to non-participants.  Is that fair to say?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes, that's fair to say.

MR. ELSON:  And one of the best ways to make DSM fairer to non-participants is to increase DSM investments so that there is a broader array of programming such that more customers can participate.  Is that fair to say?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, panel.  I have no further questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Elson.  We will now -- the next party to cross-examine would be Jay Shepherd with School Energy Coalition.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Commissioner Janigan, thank you.  The schedule suggests that at 2:45, there is a break.  Are you still proposing to do that?  Do you want me to find a place to break, or do you want me to continue and break after my cross?

MR. JANIGAN:  We came back at 1:45.  I think I would like to take a break at 3 o'clock, if possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be about halfway through my cross.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, excellent.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have only three areas to deal with, witnesses.  My name is Jay Shepherd, I am with the School Energy Coalition.  I asked you some questions at the technical conference, and of course you remember every single minute of it, I'm sure.

First of I want to start with the large volume question.  I have three components I want to ask you about.  The first is your -- the large volume stuff comes up mostly in your report in the context of getting rid of incentive caps, right?

That is one of the main things you're talking about is getting rid of incentive caps, so that you help those customers more.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  Yes, I think that is mostly true.  I think the incentive cap is maybe more applicable to the kind of the custom larger customers in the C&I that would be doing the C&I custom and prescriptive program, just because the large-volume program, I think, you know, they pay in and get back a percentage of what the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You read my mind.

[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you are talking about large-volume customers, you are not talking about capital L, capital V, large-volume customers as in the 28 members of the Industrial Gas Users Association, right?  You have a broader -- when you are referring to that you are referring to a broader group of customers, like universities and hospitals and people like that?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  So I think, you know, the report talks about specifically the custom and prescriptive program, and then it does talk specifically -- there is a section about the, you know, the large-volume kind of -- the large-volume self-direct program as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  I am just trying to -- in your direct evidence you talked about large-volume customers, and I wanted to make sure we understand you're talking about large-volume customers, not IGUA members.  Not just --


MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so the second thing I want to ask about is, dealing specifically with the self-direct program, one of the main proposals you have made is get rid of the caps on the incentives.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  I -- I'd have to refresh my memory on that a little.  I'm sorry, I just -- I am just trying to remember if there -- yes, there are caps, particularly there are caps -- yes, that is true, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay --


MR. McDONALD:  I just refreshed my memory on the caps.  There are caps set up for feasibility studies and technical assistance, and there is a cap for incentive.  I think it is 100,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the -- at the bottom page 29 of your report you say other utilities still have caps but they're not -- they're much higher, right?  Like Fortis --


MR. McDONALD:  That's correct, yes.  Yeah, not all of the utilities do have caps.  You know, I think we referenced Illinois and "Mass" that don't have specific caps.  You know, they might on a case-by-case basis say, we won't go above this in this project, but there is not -- there's nothing that is written into program rules.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the self-direct program, the actual amount of money that the customer gets is fixed, right?

MR. McDONALD:  In the self-direct -- my understanding is that it is ten cents per therm up to -- in a project up to a cap of 100,000, subject to check, I think that -- plus may be additional for some technical assistance study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm sorry.  I am looking at it the other way around.  I am a steel manufacturer.  I pay a million dollars in my rates into -- or a million and a half dollars into my rates for DSM programs.  I am going to get a million dollars to spend on my projects.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  That's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I decide how to spend it, but -- and there is caps, but the real cap is I get my million dollars back.

MR. McDONALD:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the reason I ask that is because if you change the cap per measure, right, for example, for an audit or all of those steam traps, those sort of things, doesn't that mean you are giving them -- you are still giving them the same amount of money.  You are not proposing to increase the budget, right?

MR. McDONALD:  I mean, that -- the budget could be increased, but, no, right.  Yes.  Assuming the SBC stays fixed, then over time they're getting the same amount of money.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But doesn't that mean that since you are giving the same amount of money but the caps for individual projects are higher, they're going to do less?  You're going to get less savings?

MR. McDONALD:  I wouldn't necessarily say that.  I mean, maybe one thing is you would decrease free ridership.  Maybe if you have a 100,000-dollar cap now that is going to enable incentives to make a meaningful difference in a much more -- in a much larger, more capital-intensive project.

And, you know, if you're capped at $100,000 and, you know, and you're doing -- and you want to do a project that is a million-plus, you know, how much of a difference is that incentive going to make in your decision on what to do versus if that cap can go up a little bit?

So, you know, I would say, you know, the purpose of raising the cap is to encourage, you know, deeper projects that may have longer simple payback periods instead of just --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are still only giving them their million dollars.

MR. McDONALD:  Right, yeah, but maybe instead of doing you know, ten $10,000 -- you know, ten $100,000 projects, they're doing one, $2 million, you know, I don't know, just throwing numbers out here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the last thing about this, the self-directs, is you made a comment that one of your recommendations is that you want to make the normal C&I incentives more attractive so that these customers opt not to be in self-direct.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is -- I didn't realize that the self-direct program was an opt-in or opt-out program.  Or is that a recommendation you are making?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah, that is fair.  Yeah, I think in our -- yeah, I think that recommendation is saying you want to just -- in general you want to make your program to the very large customers desirable enough and, you know, meet their needs well enough that they want to be part of the normal program instead of having their own kind of slice of self-direct funds.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then it sounds like what you are saying is the best answer, not the one you are recommending specifically, but the best answer, from what I can see in your report, is get rid of the self-direct program, put those customers -- the large-volume customers back into the normal C&I program, but with expanded incentives so that they like it more?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I think that -- I think that is an accurate characterization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you so much.  Now I am going to go to amortization.  And you have recommended that amortization be considered.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Only for costs.  Not for incentives, but only for costs, right?

MR. McDONALD:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you have recommended that you use WAML, the weighted average measure life, as the amortization period, right?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have a couple of general questions on that, but my first question is, did you do the math on that?  I didn't see in your report an analysis of the math on how that works over a long period of time.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  That was in the report.  I guess -- I don't know exactly what you mean by the math, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --


MR. McDONALD:  -- we had in our report kind of graphs of the benefits.

No, I don't know if we did exactly the weighted average measure life from Enbridge's programs, but we used a proxy of 15 years, I believe, and maybe the actual one was 17 years.  But --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But -- but --


MR. McDONALD:  -- considerations are the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are aware that these expenditures are still fully deductible for tax purposes in year one, right?  Which means that the actual cost to the utility in year one -- if it is amortized -- the actual cost is a negative amount.  Were you aware of that?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think we talked about that.  I think it refers to, you know, deferred tax treatment where the utility has an initial benefit that may or may not get passed on to ratepayers.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are not suggesting that that initial benefit go to the utility, right?  You are not suggesting to change how rates are done?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Right.  I think we did include -- well, Cliff should --


MR. McDONALD:  We assumed that there is -- you know, and again, I think we made this caveat in the report, but in the -- we're not incredibly familiar with how utilities' accounting is maybe specialized in Canada, but in the U.S. there is something called ADIT, which is accumulated deferred interest -- interest and taxes or income taxes --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Income taxes.

MR. McDONALD:  Income taxes, yes.  Income taxes, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It does not apply in Canada.  So you didn't look at that, right?

MR. McDONALD:  We did -- we -- so the analysis assumes that basically the -- the, you know, deferred taxes are reducing -- are reducing the rate base from -- or the amortized balance, unamortized balance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then am I right that all of your calculations of net present value and net benefits and all of that stuff, they're all incorrect because they don't take the tax deferral value into account, right?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I mean, it is -- we've gotten mixed messages on how that is handled in Canada, I think.  Phil -- so, yeah, I mean, we're not -- I don't think we can, you know, give a confident answer of, yes, this is how it is handled in Ontario, or no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then --


MR. McDONALD:  But I don't think it changes kind of the overall thrust of what it is showing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so you haven't done that math, though, right?

MR. McDONALD:  I mean it is just -- right, it is just a 30 percent or -- you know, it is just, it is just a flat percent multiplier on an unamortized balance, so it is not like very complicated math.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That is not correct, but that is okay.

All right.  One of the things you said is intergenerational equity is one of the key reasons why amortization is good, right.  Basically, you want to match the benefits from the expenditures to when the customers are paying for it and who is benefiting from it, right?

MR. McDONALD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then when you go through your various benefits of amortization, that is one of the ones.  And in fact, you just agreed with Mr. Elson that was one of the ones that is correct, right?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It did true that customers that are early adopters of electrification will exit, exit the gas system and no longer have to pay for those DSM costs, right?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So does that concern you?  I will step back and tell you that the reason I raise this is because my client is the schools, and the guys at the schools their immediate reaction is great, we want amortization because we will never have to pay for any of this stuff.  Because they will be off gas.

So does that concern you, that there will be groups of customers that will simply exit earlier and never have to pay for all of those building envelope upgrades and things that were funded today?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think it is a benefit because it sort of preserves the intergenerational equity.  If a customer leaves the system, they're no longer going to get the benefits of the, you know, long-term revenue reduction, requirement reductions coming from the energy savings that haven't materialized yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, see that is what I don't understand, Mr. Mosenthal.  If you come into my business and you give me an incentive -- not you, but you 
Enbridge -- give me an incentive to insulate and do all sorts of building envelope things that make my building more efficient and then I go to electric, right --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  I see.  I didn't realize you meant that they were the participants simply.  I thought you were talking about who is paying the rider that funds the programs.

But yes, you know, a customer could get a bunch of benefits and leave the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the last part of this particular area is -- two.  First you talked about the assets being stranded and it sounded like you were talking about the DSM measures as being the assets.

But actually from a regulatory point of view, the assets that could be stranded are the amounts still owing by customers, right?  It is a regulatory asset.  It is not a DSM measure.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Right.  But I guess generally you think of, you know, the cost that is stranded is maybe that they're not getting paid back. There's what are you paying for, and generally speaking, it is when you strand the thing you are paying for that you then would perhaps want to change who has to pay back that debt.

So for example, a coal plant being retired because it is no longer cost-effective, that has a lot of debt on the books, if that coal plant is not being used, that is the asset that is stranded and then the question is what do you do about the cost side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the same is not true when you amortize DSM costs because they're soft costs.  They're not hard costs.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I mean they're costs.  They're dollars.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  And I am not sure what you mean by soft versus hard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's no assets.  The utility has no assets --


MR. MOESNTHAL:  Well, the assets are -- right, the utility has no -- owns no physical asset any more.  Yes,  that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I just have one more question on amortization, and then we can have a break.

We have asked you about, and we asked Mr. Weaver as well about the potential lock-in effect of amortization.  That is because the amount taking place over time, the amount being built into rates over time is increasing and you have this overhang, you can't really stop the programs, right?  Because if you stop the programs, you have a period of time when you are paying -- and customers won't like it -- you are paying for a whole lot of stuff and you are getting no benefit -- no -- the utility's not doing anything any more.  It is like having an asset that is no longer used and useful.  True?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  No.  Because the part you are paying back is the part that -- you are getting those benefits in the future as well.  I mean, you can certainly choose to stop the programs and, yes, the customers will continue to pay those -- make those payments that were amortized.

But if they're amortized based on the weighted average measure life of the portfolio savings, they're only paying it until that portfolio savings ceases to provide savings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  So the benefits are still coming in, in alignment with the payments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Janigan, this is probably a convenient time to break, if it is convenient for you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, it would be, Mr. Shepherd.  We will take a break to 3:20, please.
--- Recess taken at 3:03 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:22 p.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Shepherd, can you resume your cross-examination.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.

I actually just -- I do have one more question -- I lied about not having any more questions on amortization.  I do have one more.

The thing that actually confused me the most -- the people around the room here are aware that I love my spreadsheets.  I tried to do a spreadsheet of how this would actually work in practice, and I couldn't.  And here's why.

You're not proposing that you amortize everything, right, because if you amortize everything then you go from $140 million in rates to a credit of $20 million in rates.  You drop rates by 160 million in one year.  You are not proposing that?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  You know, we were providing some scenarios to help the Board think about this.  The scenarios we did -- correct me if I state this wrong, Cliff -- but the scenarios we did were amortizing 100 percent of the program costs but not the performance incentives or the lost revenue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, understood.  But I guess here's my concern, is that the program costs are $142 million.  So right now there's approximately that much in rates, and --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and so whatever the year is that we transition to your proposal, isn't there a big rate drop?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  There would be.  If you have level funding and you amortize the whole thing, yes, there would be a big rate drop.

And our graphs show that, you know, there's a bunch of savings in the early years and then some of that gets paid off through interest in the later years, but you could choose to amortize 50 percent or 75 percent or, you know, phase it in --


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So that's why I asked the question, because has anybody given any thought to how you would actually implement this?  Like, you can't just drop rates by $160 million a year.  I mean you could, great, and we will take it.  But I don't think that the Board is going to do that.

So has anybody proposed in any of the various expert reports or have you proposed or thought through exactly how you would do it, how much budget increase would you include and how would you phase it in so that there is no rate shock?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  You know, I don't think we made an explicit recommendation, but certainly there are places I am familiar with; for example, Illinois went to amortization, and the -- you know, they amortized the full amount overnight from expensing to non-expensing, so there was a big rate reduction, you know, which obviously is a benefit upfront to the customers.  You can choose that, or you could phase it in if you would rather have it be more of a level thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the Illinois was it an election year?

[Laughter]

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I can't remember.  The budgets did increase significantly, so there was still a rate reduction, but, you know, the budgets were also going up a lot.  So if you hadn't moved to amortization they would have gone up a lot more.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- but you are not proposing that the Board simply put 1/16th of the budget into rates?  You are not proposing that?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  1/16th of the budget into rates?  Oh, the 16 weighted average measure life?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You are not proposing that.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think that is certainly something they could consider, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then -- now, I want to move to my last area, which is -- oh, let me just ask you.  Would it be a big undertaking to actually sort of do that model, calculate the model of what it would look like if you transitioned in?  Is it a lot of work?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Cliff, you want to answer that?  You are on mute.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're on mute, Mr. McDonald.

MR. McDONALD:  Sorry.  Yes, do you have a specific -- I mean, I can imagine the phase-in -- a phase-in being designed in many different ways.  So do you have a specific phase-in scenario in mind?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am really asking -- you are the experts, so I am asking whether you can propose something and produce the model that delivers on that proposal.  And maybe it is just too much work, and if it is, that's fine.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah, I mean, I guess I would just ask for some parameters, what are we trying to optimize for?  Are we just trying to not increase the -- are we not trying to not decrease the rates at all in year one?  You know, what is the future scenario in terms of budget increases?  You know, like -- you know, our report recommended amortization, and if there is a desire to significantly increase budget, and that is being -- or increase savings, and that is being prevented from, like, concerns of short-term rate impacts.  You know, we didn't necessarily do a wholehearted recommendation for amortization.

So in this scenario, is this combined with a budget, a significant budget increase over time?  And, you know, if so, what's, you know, what is your -- is your concern that the rates shouldn't drop at all?  It should just be a manageable rate increase?  You know, I just can see a lot of different ways to structure this depending on what you are trying to optimize for, and I don't want to assume what the Board wants to optimize for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine, Mr. McDonald.  I was really just looking for having something that we could all look at and say, this is what we're arguing about, but if you don't have a particular proposal that's fine.  We 
can -- we will find ways to put spreadsheets into our arguments, I am quite sure.

My last area then is the target adjustment mechanism, and I only have a couple of questions on this.  If I understood your direct -- you talked about this in your direct evidence, which is why I added it.  And we also have talked about it at other times.

If I understand your evidence correctly, what you are saying is that there are a number of changes -- there are a number of things that the proposed target adjustment mechanism reflects, changes in three different types of assumptions, plus past performance.

So I just want to walk through those four items and see -- get your rationale for why you shouldn't adjust for it.  The first is net-to-gross.  You are saying, if I understand correctly, you're saying net-to-gross is at least in part within the utility's control, and they're supposed to adapt to keep their net-to-gross under control.  Right?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  That's generally my feeling, you know, that they can do things to try and maximize net-to-gross, and they can also respond to a low net-to-gross by shifting away from that measure, which maybe doesn't make sense, because the market is transformed, for example.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  And that they should have the incentive to manage their diverse portfolio of measures to deal with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the second calculation, the second assumptions -- set of assumptions is the assumptions related to the baseline.

And so you start with an assumption as to what would happen without a measure, often in the technical resource manual, but you can have all sorts of changes that affect that in the real world, some as big as changes to the building code or the technical standards and some as minor as a particular industry simply changing its practices.

And you're saying that those should not be adjusted for in the target adjustment mechanism in most cases?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  You know, I think I want to clarify.  We're not saying these should never be adjusted for.  We're just saying that the burden, if these changes come down the line and they are so big enough that the utility feels they can't offer -- get the same amount of savings, then, you know, the burden of proof should be on them to proactively kind of propose that and make that case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They should come to the Board and 
say --


MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- the building code has changed, that changes this whole program, and we were relying on it.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  So the burden -- it is shifting the burden -- is a matter of who the burden of proof is.  You know, is it -- do they automatically change the goals or, you know, in some cases maybe, you know, the program administrator might be able to say, okay, well, we can change the program design, you know, emphasize this measure instead of this other measure that had a low net-to-gross, and adapt, and, you know, that's the ideal scenario, but, yeah, you know, I don't think we're saying that they should never be adjusted.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  And, you know, part of the logic there is that if you just automatically adjust things and you sort of hold the utility harmless, they don't have an incentive to shift gears if they're doing something that no longer is really providing cost-effective savings if you are just going to say you get to count it anyway.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, so you want to motivate them to be flexible and nimble in their program administration.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Correct.

MR. McDONALD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the third of the sets of assumptions is how you calculate the actual impact of a measure.

So for example, you have a new study done that shows that because of behavioural changes, this new thermostat doesn't actually save what it technically should be able to save, that sort of thing.  And you're saying that they should be reacting to that, too, and adjusting their program accordingly, is that right?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I think our answer for that would be the same as the net-to-gross.  If it turns out that a measure doesn't get the savings you thought it would, you should adjust -- rethink whether or not you want to promote it and how hard you want to promote it.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  And if it is a measure you were relying on so majorly such that it is really a problem to meet your goals, you can come in annually and say, look, we need an adjustment here and here is why, and the Board would reconsider that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The last part is the target adjustment mechanism adjust for poor performance -- or good performance, I suppose, but past performance -- and you are saying that that is not -- normally you shouldn't be increasing or decreasing somebody's targets in their job for how well they'd done last year.  Is that true?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I think this is the aspect of it that we find most objectionable.  There are other jurisdictions that do automatic adjustments for, you know, net-to-gross and adjusted gross savings, those other three categories.  But we're not aware -- or at least I am not aware of anywhere that does automatic adjustments just based on poor performance or good performance, independent of evaluation results.  So, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if -- so you proposed fixed targets, right?  The Board says here's your budget, here is your targets for the planned term.

And is it correct to say that the utility's ability to deal with fixed targets is improved if those targets are cumulative year by year, rather than one year at a time?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  Our recommendation is for cumulative targets, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Those are all of my questions.

Thank you, Commissioner Janigan and Commissioners, and I am done.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd.  Next I believe is the Green Energy Coalition.

MR. POCH:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, panel.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  I am not going to be as meek as Mr. Shepherd.  Of course I am not known for being very meek.  I would appreciate if you could, if it is not too difficult, if you could do a graphic of an amortization scenario where, for example, we ramp-up DSM budgets, say they achieve a doubling over the course of this five year plan by the end of it, but you model your amortization in such a way that we -- the rate impact in 2023 is perhaps similar to, in the range of what Enbridge is proposing.

And beyond that, I would leave it, you know, up to you to model something which addresses the concern Mr. Shepherd had, which is we don't want to see dramatic rate shifts overnight either way.

Is that something that would be manageable?

MR. McDONALD:  I would think so, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps if I could interject.  Lawren Murray for OEB Staff.

Mr. McDonald, perhaps if you could give us a sense of what sort of time commitment this would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, before you answer Mr. McDonald 

-- sorry to interject, Commissioner Janigan -- but I deliberately moved away from this because if you are going to do it, I would like you to make sure you include the tax impacts which makes it significantly more complicated, but has a big impact on the result.

So I just -- before Mr. McDonald says how much work it is, I would like to add that request.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  So perhaps with that, Mr. McDonald, do you have a sense in terms of the time commitment, because we're mindful of the fact that -- it's obviously on the record right now, if this is something that would be helpful for the commissioners, obviously it is something we can do.

But perhaps it would be -- it is hard to ascertain exactly how much work would be involved here.

MR. McDONALD:   Yeah.  I mean it would be a few hours, at least.  So yeah, I am trying to -- I am just trying to think off-the-cuff.

I don't know -- maybe if -- would it help if we have a breakout room for this, so we can discuss a few key things before we answer that?

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps, yes.  You two can go into a breakout room.

Before we do so, perhaps we could -- do you need any clarity from Mr. Poch in terms of what specifics you would need for a scenario?  Or do you feel like --


MR. McDONALD:  No.  I think that was clear.  The request was clear.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  So perhaps you and Mr. Mosenthal can go into a room and discuss.

MR. JANIGAN:  And can you respond to Mr. Shepherd's request that the graph also show tax impacts?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. WALTER:  Mr. McDonald, you are on mute.

MR. McDONALD:  Sorry.  Yeah we're back.  The reason I requested the breakout room is I think Mr. Poch's original request is pretty straightforward and wouldn't take that long.

You know, the complication is, you know, as we kind of said during Mr. Shepherd's testimony, we're not experts in how tax accounting is done in Canada.  And we can do it under kind of some assumptions, we can -- you know, especially kind of how we have seen it done in the U.S. jurisdictions that we operate in.

But you know, we would be a little bit reluctant to kind of pledge yes, this is exactly how it would be done in Canada.

MR. POCH:  Can I volunteer, Mr. Shepherd, to consult with you off the record on Canadian taxes?

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I was going to say, Commissioner Janigan, is I believe there is already a live Excel spreadsheet on the record that with put to Mr. Weaver that has this stuff in it.

I think he used it for some of his calculations.  So it may be that we're quite a bit ahead of the game there.

MR. JANIGAN:  I think, Mr. McDonald and Mr. Mosenthal, if you could produce the chart and use your best efforts including the information that Mr. Shepherd has just conveyed to you, to attempt to build-in the tax impacts.  And if that can't be done, that should be specified in the material that you end up putting forward.

MR. McDONALD:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  So we will mark that undertaking -- I realized earlier at the beginning there was -- the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers got an undertaking number and it's clear if it will be an undertaking.

So we will scrap that undertaking for now, and we'll just give this one J5.1, and in the event the Ontario Vegetable Growers' undertaking is given, that will be a later number.  But this one will be J5.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  TO PROVIDE AN AMORTIZATION GRAPHIC WITH RAMPED-UP SPENDING AND WITHOUT SUDDEN RATE CHANGES AND IF POSSIBLE WITH TAX IMPLICATIONS INCLUDED.

MR. POCH:  And for the reporter, we will just call that an amortization graphic with ramped-up spending and without sudden rate changes.

MR. MURRAY:  And I think there is also something about the tax implications.

MR. POCH:  If possible, with tax implications included.

If that is satisfactory, I will get to my ten minutes of cross --


MR. MURRAY:  Yes, yes.

MR. POCH:  -- apologies for that.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, that will be J5.1.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Gentlemen, I think these will be quick, though.  Energy Futures Group indicated its view that efficiency potential studies tend to be inherently conservative, and they cited an ACE Triple E report to that effect.  Has that been your experience as well?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes, yeah, Chris Neme and I have both, I think, written on that a number of times, and there is a whole host of reasons why they tend to be conservative.

I have done, you know, in the tens of potential studies over my career and am very familiar with them.  In fact, I at one point presented at a national conference an analysis I did where I looked at 55 potential studies done across the country and looked at their maximum achievable potential, and the median theoretical, maximum cost-effective achievable potential, was about half of what Massachusetts and Rhode Island were currently achieving.  And in fact, I think even the highest was below what Massachusetts and Rhode Island were achieving.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And turn to another topic.

Would you agree that net-to-gross ratios could be significantly affected by program design?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And would you agree, leaving other factors aside, that assuming net-to-gross would not improve when comparing the status quo cost to a portfolio with significantly higher participation rates would tend to overestimate the cost per unit of savings of that higher achieving portfolio?  In other words, if you fix net-to-gross -- all right.  Let me --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah.  I think I need you to repeat the question.

MR. POCH:  Yeah.  We have had some comparisons in this case where people have tried to compare Enbridge's proposal with, for example, the higher scenarios in the achievable potential study, and they have simply taken Enbridge's current net-to-gross ratio and assumed it would be what would be experienced if you went after much higher participation.

And my assumption is that that would be wrong, because net-to-gross is going to change as you increase participation.  Would you agree with that?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.  I mean, almost by definition, the free riders are presumably already collecting their money, because they were doing it anyway, and the incremental increase in participation is most likely to be people that weren't going to do it anyway.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Another topic I have asked others about, I will ask you, which is, do you believe that a full consideration of bill impacts of DSM spending should include DRIPE and cross-fuel DRIPE and long-term transmission and distribution savings?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And would you agree that widespread opportunity for participation in DSM programs over many years can mitigate concerns about rate impact as more customers enjoy reduced bills from DSM due to both the current and the accumulated past participation?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.  I think about a year or two ago I actually did an analysis looking at rate impacts in, I think it was New Hampshire, and on the electric side, and, you know, basically buying two lightbulbs completely offset the rate impacts.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  And so as long as you have a broad base of programs that everybody can participate in, it's not that hard to reduce the rate impact.

MR. POCH:  And that logic would equally apply to, especially in an amortization scenario, to somebody who might not be a participant for another five years, over time they're going to come out ahead.  Is that fair?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah.  Typically.  I mean, obviously, it all depends on the specifics, but most likely.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And would you agree that placing emphasis on conservation for low-income customers is a key -- a key thing to be concerned about if we want to mitigate any concern about rate impacts from DSM?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  I think you have already covered with Mr. Elson the fact that we should be focusing on efficiency measures that will have surviving value in an electrification situation.  Let's leave that aside.

Now, Mr. Neme and Mr. Weaver have had a lot of back and forth on how to compare Enbridge's DSM savings to gas sales volumes' ratios to that of leading U.S. cold-climate jurisdictions.  I assume you are aware of that but haven't followed the discussion in detail.

But having reviewed Enbridge's evidence and having worked on DSM matters in several of the leading jurisdictions, would it be your opinion that with more budget and better program design and coverage Enbridge could improve its DSM energy savings significantly compared to where it is today?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  We will now return to Mr. Buonaguro of the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers Association.

Mr. Buonaguro?  No good deed goes unpunished, you realize.

[Laughter]

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I am in your hands.  As I said, I mean, I guess the quickest and easiest solution is just to go through the questions orally like I would have and exactly how Board Staff did for recommendation number 18, and then Mr. O'Leary will be in the same position he is with respect to Board Staff's examination in-chief.

MR. JANIGAN:  That would be our preference as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  So thank you.  Again, Michael Buonaguro for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

And if we can quickly pull up JT2.10 and scroll down to number 19, which you already have on the screen.  Someone has been anticipating my thoughts.

So I'm just going to go through these very quickly and ask you to respond in the same nature that you responded to Board Staff or Mr. Murray's questions with respect to number 18.

So recommendation number 19 with respect to the commercial industrial custom programs was perform a process evaluation with an express goal of understanding programs' influence on decision-making process and recommend ways to increase participation and reduce free ridership, and Enbridge provided a response.  If I can paraphrase, basically, they said they -- I think they're saying they have already done that and they have done several process evaluations and directed you to Exhibit I.5.EGI.Staff.10, or at least I should say directed Board Staff to that cite.

Does this answer change your recommendation in any way?  And if so, how?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  So I would say, you know, we did review those evaluations.  It was a while ago that we wrote the report now, and I would want to go back and re-review them.  My recollection is that they were not specifically focused on kind of understanding the decision matrixes or the decision processes, the decision trees of the customers, and how -- how the program might influence -- create more influence on non-participants and reduce free ridership rates.

So, you know, the recommendation really is in regards to, like, a very targeted study specifically looking at, you know, why the free ridership rates are as high as they are and, you know, thinking of recommendations to address them, specific recommendations to address them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  You can only do so much about getting into the reasons for this stuff.  When you are reading reports you need to be able to talk to non-participants and participants and program managers and the people that are delivering the program.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Recommendation number 20 was, consider moving towards negotiated incentives for custom projects.  And Enbridge's response was that negotiated incentives may result in the perception of affording some customers preferential treatment over others, and they note that they have limited time offers, for example, where there is -- all customers can access limited time offers with respect to increased incentives.

And I paraphrased that obviously.  The text stands for itself.  Same question; does this change your or augment your recommendation at all?  And if so, how?

MR. McDONALD:  No.  I would say in the world we're moving towards, as people are increasingly expecting custom treatments, different organizations have different financial criteria and, you know, some look at simple payback, some look at total lifetime costs, some look at internal rate of return.

And, you know, having -- I don't think that having the flexibility to work with -- work with a customer on a custom basis to prepare a customized incentive package, you know, I don't think that equates to preferential treatment.

The goal is to move the project and make sure it gets done and work with the customer to say, okay, how specifically can I get that done?

You know, the other thing is the context of Massachusetts, this is kind of important for them when they're -- you know, we talked about MOUs, memoranda of understanding.  And so, you know, so a lot of times what -- you know, a lot of times the account managers will kind of form these agreements with the entity, with the business that are multi-year agreements and maybe, you know, in the first year they start with a cheaper stuff and get lower incentives and as they get deeper and deeper into the projects in the building, the incentives also grow.

And, you know, I think this kind of ability to, I guess, be creative on -- be creative and customize on how you offer your incentives, you know, you can kind of tread that line, you know, you can give higher incentives for more custom comprehensive projects or give higher incentives as the commitment gets deeper and deeper.

It gives a lot more flexibility to work with people on an individualized basis to make sure they have what they need to perform projects.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And number 21; evaluate the effectiveness and extent of current account management for large and medium customers.

I will use that as a summary.  Again, obviously the text stands for itself.  Then Enbridge has a response which points to the activity of their energy solutions advisors on projects.

Sorry, I should say the second part of your recommendation had to do with creating multi-year memorandum of understanding outlining specific energy commitments.

And Enbridge's response was that seeking commitment to an energy target through an MOU in order to have access to this level of support is not the approach adopted by Enbridge Gas, it is neither customer centric nor does it provide flexibility to customers who are at different stages of maturity in terms of energy management.

So I just tried to summarize the recommendation and the response; the text stands for itself.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you provide me your opinion in terms of whether --


MR. McDONALD:  My objection is maybe Enbridge isn't understanding what we're suggesting there, because I don't -- you know, if you're working individually through close account management with a large customer to make a customized memorandum of understanding, that is -- to me that is both more customer centric and more flexible, you know, because you can just determine the exact scope and it is very individualized.

So I guess I don't understand why they would characterize that as not customer centric and not flexible.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you, lastly number 222, over the next page.  Consider adding RCx/SEM/energy manager programs.

My apologies.  Off the top of my head, I can't remember what RCx and SEM stand for.  You will have to fill that in in your answer.

Enbridge's response was that their experience of offering stand-alone RCx and SEM programs has not proven to be cost-effective, and then there is more explanation associated with that.

Again, can you provide your comments on how this affects or doesn't affect your recommendation?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I mean, I guess I would just say -- so, just to step back,  RCx is retro commissioning, basically you are commissioning a study that is doing an audit and is basically looking for load at no cost operational improvements in the building.  You know, maybe some controls are broken or not working correctly, you know, maybe there is some just very simple fixes, maybe you can, you know, replace a bunch of steam traps. It's a bunch of very low payback measures that maybe individually aren't creating a lot of energy waste.  But taken together, it could be significant savings.

A lot of times you see in the 5 to 10 percent savings, 5 to 15 percent savings when they do these studies.

So I would just say that we work in a lot of jurisdictions that offer RCx programs and have RCx offerings that are cost-effective.

So you know, if it is true that they've offered ones that aren't cost-effective, you know, I don't doubt that, but I would want to look into the details and figure out why maybe they weren't cost-effective rather than just writing off the whole concept of retro commissioning.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just before I leave off, I think in fairness to Enbridge, your report on this whole issue of custom and industrial custom programs, you did say that their proposal was in line with the other jurisdictions you reviewed generally.  And I would think it is fair to characterize these as -- and I think you actually characterized most of your recommendations as good faith recommendations that you thought might help out.

MR. McDONALD:  That's correct.  And you know, they do have some level of account management, too.  It is not like they're not doing any sort, you know, they have energy solution agents.  I think they're called ESAs.

So it is not clear based on the report exactly the details of that and it is important, the details are important, you know, how many touch points are there, what is the size limit that they're managing, you know, what kind of -- so those details are important, but they do have account managers at some level.  I acknowledge that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Buonaguro.  Next to question the panel will be Mr. Brophy from Pollution Probe.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Brophy.  I am here on behalf of Pollution Probe today.  I should be within the 25 minutes we estimated, so I will keep things on track.

First of all, I wanted to mention that I did really enjoy reading your materials.  Obviously we heard a lot about Optimal as a leading firm in North America and I think it's been of high value in the proceeding based on the material.  So thank you for that.  It's been very helpful.

MR. McDONALD:  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  So you were talking to Mr. Elson yesterday about some of the issues related to Enbridge delivering DSM programs, and some of that driving some odd customer outcomes.

And I think one of the examples that you talked about is an air source heat pump.  It is good to save energy, but if it saves too much energy then it is contrary -- or potentially contrary to some of Enbridge's program conditions.

Earlier this week, I know Mr. Shepherd was asking questions about some of these conflicts and it was acknowledged that DSM is in conflict with some of the utilities' core business of building gas pipelines and the way executives get incented.

I assume that you understand these types of utility conflicts from your work?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Are you aware of any jurisdictions or utilities other than Enbridge that includes a program condition that a customer must keep natural gas as its primary heating fuel in order to receive an incentive?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I'm not explicitly aware that it is an explicit written, you know, term and condition on a rebate form, but I would not -- it may well be.  I don't know.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So you are not aware of any, but there could be some, somewhere is I think what I heard.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And aren't those kind of program incentive conditions contrary to what DSM is supposed to achieve, i.e. reduced energy.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes, yes.  I mean, you know, 
there's -- you know, on the electric sides of course it doesn't really come into play, because people are always going to use electricity for something.  But you know, saving gas taken to its extreme is -- if you I save at all, then isn't that better than only saving some of it?

So you know, it seems like it makes sense to continue to support that, from a societal perspective.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And then do you have any advice on how regulators protect consumers from that kind of utility behavior?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Well, I think, you know, as with other consumer protection issues, the Board has a lot of authority to regulate the utility and ensure that they don't do certain things if the Board thinks they shouldn't be doing them.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.

So I am going to move to table 2 in the Enbridge reply evidence, the First Tracks report.  I think it might be page 12.  And just while it is getting pulled up, I had a quick question or two.

So you had indicated your recommendation would be is if the OEB decides amortization should be what goes forward, then the interest rate should be set to cover the utility's cost of debt and no more.  Did I capture that correctly?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes, I think so.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I know I was discussing this with Mr. Weaver before around, you know, your rate, I think you had said it was around 1.17 percent for Enbridge or, you know, just above 1 percent.  He thought it was different, but it's in around that range, or -- of around 1.2 percent?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Well, I think there was a little confusion there, because there were some documents indicating a short-term cost of debt, but short-term, you know, I think we would agree that if the loan is something in the range of 15 years, that perhaps, you know, something more like the higher numbers there would be appropriate.

And I should just say, in response to your first question, our suggestion was that one way to do it is to simply allow the utility to recover the cost of debt but not make a profit on the amortization and have the performance incentive separate, but there are ways you could structure a single package that sort of did some of each.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And, you know, as you know, I think you have heard Mr. Weaver has warned us about taking examples from other jurisdictions and applying them in Ontario without thinking them through.

And Mr. Weaver had put forward some jurisdictions where he indicated the weighted average cost of capital is used for amortizing DSM, and he suggested that that would be relevant to Ontario or Ontario-specific context.

So you are not proposing that.  So why -- why then is the cost of debt the best option in Ontario, if he has examples that show something different somewhere else?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I guess our main -- main recommendation, you know, you can see in the table you have up on the screen that there is an equity component in the weighted average cost of capital.  And in this case it shows us as 9 percent.

So by providing that full weighted average cost of capital, you are effectively giving Enbridge 9 percent return on, you know, that portion.

And the performance incentives are designed to give the shareholders a return, and we're simply saying we like the idea of the return being scaled based on performance, and it doesn't necessarily make sense to give them two rates of return.

So one approach, which New Jersey and Illinois have taken, is to say, okay, we will use the weighted average cost of capital, but then we're going to scale it up or down some number of basis points depending on your performance, and an alternative that seemed to make sense to us is you could simply not include the shareholder return part of the interest rate and keep it as just a separate performance incentive piece, and then you are not compounding that -- that return on past costs, you know, you are getting a return each year on what you spent.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I tried to think through the example that Mr. Weaver put there in the table, and I am just going to walk you through my thinking quickly, and you can tell me if something doesn't sound right.

So, you know, we are hoping that, you know, DSM budgets increase because of all the benefits that, you know, we've talked about.  But if we just use a simple example of Mr. Weaver's table and estimate $200 million of DSM spending a year, it looks like using the weighted average cost of capital to amortize, so 200 million Enbridge's shareholders would be getting about 6-and-a-half million extra from ratepayers every year.  Does that sound about right?

So I took the -- that 3.24 percent --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  -- and times 200 million would be about 6.5.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.  That sounds about right.

MR. BROPHY:  That sounds right.  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  And then so that is the first year, but of course it is over, you know, the measure life, you know, I think Enbridge said 16.4 years or somewhere in that range.

So then -- so what I did is I took the 6.5 -- or I will use a 15-year measure life to make it even simpler.  So 6.5 million of extra shareholder payments times, you know, around 16 years, you're in the neighbourhood of about a hundred million dollars, but it is declining.  It goes from 6.5 million the first year down to close to zero by the last year.

So my understanding then, okay, it would be about $50 million over that term that Enbridge's shareholders would get, using that example.  Does that sound right?  Or I can try and play it back.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I am not sure I followed all the math, but subject to check, I will agree that you have done your math properly.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So Enbridge has a DSM application before the Board right now to clear their latest DSM accounts for 2020, and the total shareholder incentive they're requesting in that is $6.2 million, so using that number and comparing it against the extra payments they get from weighted average cost of capital, it looks like they get much higher shareholder incentive using weighted average cost of capital than they're getting through the annual shareholder incentive today.

Does that -- do you understand that?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think in nominal terms, because of the compounding over years, that would be true.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  You know, there's the time value of money, arguably, so in present value terms maybe it comes out similar.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So if we amortized using the weighted average cost of capital, and Enbridge shareholders makes more on the weighted average cost of capital amortization than it does from its shareholder incentive, even -- wouldn't that dilute the impact of having an effective DSM shareholder incentive?

If you are making more money by just spending on DSM without any results, then what you earn as a DSM shareholder incentive becomes less important, I guess is what I am trying to say.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Well, I mean, if you do it under the sort of performance incentive metric approach that Ontario does now, they're spending the money in the year, but they are getting that return immediately, which, you know, has benefit to them.  It is a full present value.

If they continue to get more money at the same rate as sort of their discount rate, they kind of end up in the same place.  You know, in other words, they could take that performance incentive and reinvest it somewhere in something else, if that makes sense.

So, yes, in nominal terms, if you add it all up, they would get more money if you gave it to them every year under the weighted average cost of capital here, but that doesn't necessarily mean they would prefer it, depending on their time value of money.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I only have one more question on this area, and that is, would you agree that amortizing DSM using weighted average cost of capital provides a shareholder incentive to spend ratepayers' money rather than achieving excellent DSM results in a cost-effective manner?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes, yes.  You know, that was one of the things I mentioned was -- and I think you want to incentivize the performance, not the spending.  And obviously if it is just tied to how much money do you spend, then the more you spend the more you earn.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, I think we can all agree that that would be a problem.

That's it.  I am going to finish now on Friday afternoon.  Have a great weekend and thank you very much for the answers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.  Next we will hear from the Building Owners and Managers Association.  Mr. Rutledge, is it?

MR. JARVIS:  No.  It is me.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Jarvis:


MR. JARVIS:  I will go through.  Good afternoon, Mr. McDonald and Mr. Mosenthal.  Let me echo Mr. Brophy's comments that we found your evidence helpful in a number of areas which are important to us, and wanted to pick up on some of the areas that Mr. Buonaguro was addressing before.

Ms. Adams, can we go to the BOMA compendium page 62, please.

I am going to do the worst thing you can do at the end of a long week, read your own evidence to you.  But I think it is helpful in a couple of areas.

Ms. Adams:   Sorry, I am having a technical difficulty at the moment.

MR. JARVIS:  We completely understand.

MR WASYLYK:  Ms. Adams, if you think it may be a minute, maybe I could help you and pull up that exhibit.  Never mind.

MR. JARVIS:  Page 62, please.  Scrolling down a little bit, the BOMA interrogatory in the middle of the page.

This is referring to the Optimal suite of programs issue and picking up on the feedback that Optimal had provided around a number of types of programs.

So it picked up on the area that we are obviously interested in around whole building pay-for-performance the energy performance program kind of idea, but also talking about RCX retro recommissioning, strategic energy manager energy management programs and the same paragraph referring to account managers.

And we see these as perhaps directionally forward looking kind of programming in comparison to, for example, utility participation in a custom energy project, even a large one.

So I am wondering if you are able -- and perhaps this is you, Mr. McDonald -- to characterize these programs, these kind of engagements relative to again traditional involvement in a project; you do the project, you are done and move on.

How would you characterize this kind of programming?

MR. McDONALD:  Right.  So I think in a traditional or at least, you know, I guess a standard off the shelf custom prescriptive program for example, you just put out a bunch of applications, they're prescriptive applications.  Maybe you say you get this much per widget.  You fill out how many widgets you get, you get an application.

If it is custom, it is a little more complicated.  Maybe they say 16 cents per kWh or ten cents per metre cubed saved.  They verify it in some way, maybe based on some engineering calculations and give it to them.

There may or may not be significant marketing or outreach and maybe just kind of rely on contractors and customers to bring in the programs and, you know, just in a bad case, and you know, I don't think -- I think Enbridge is better than this example that I am about to say, but in a bad case you put the applications out there and kind of wait for people to, you know, put them in.  And we have certainly seen programs like that.

You know, what we're talking about here is a much more close level of engagement where, you know, you have --especially for the larger C&I customers, you have account managers that are assigned to specific accounts, commercial accounts, you know, you have relationships with them.  You have multiple touch points per year.  You kind of know about their capital planning cycle, their capital requirements and you work with them, you work around their needs in order to -- in order to really kind of address what they need and what they're lacking.

MR. JARVIS:  And --


MR. McDONALD:  Much more customized approach and it is a much more customer centric approach.

MR. JARVIS:  And you say closer relationships, often multi-year relationships.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes, yes absolutely.

MR. JARVIS:  And would you suggest that these might lead to lower free ridership rates, this kind of relationship with a large commercial owner which is getting into operational practices, management practices?  Could this bring down the free ridership rate?

MR. McDONALD:  Oh, yes, I think it definitely would.  I think I mentioned earlier this afternoon in a recent -- I don't know how recent it is, but an evaluation looking at free ridership in Massachusetts of a custom versus non-custom accounts -- or sorry, looking at free ridership of managed versus non-managed accounts and they show a big drop in free ridership in the managed -- when you have the managed account.

MR. JARVIS:  Ms. Adams, can we scroll down a little bit further along the same document and get to my second and final question for these hearings.

So we're tracking now down to the idea of measuring performance at the meter as opposed to by models and calculations and so on, and particularly relating this to new construction.  So this is much more of a granular question that again I will pose to you.

So looking at, as we have been, large numbers of buildings built to LEED certification or built to very high levels of model energy performance and seeing how they actually turn out in practice and looking at savings by design, which we consider an excellent program that Enbridge has been running.

And we asked the question then of, should they be part of that performance incentive around savings by design that would be contingent upon actually demonstrating, after the fact, that the building met that performance.

And could I turn to page 30, briefly, and just to give you an illustration of this.  Again it is the famous to us -- perhaps not yet to you, but it will be.  This is the actual post opening energy natural gas consumption of Humber River Hospital, which is quite a celebrated case study within Toronto right now.

We have it documented as the second most energy efficient acute care hospital that we found globally, but this is the building opened.

The red dot -- the blue dotted lines here are the actual monthly gas consumption and the red dotted line is the weather normalized baseline consumption which is essentially the first year it opened.

And really the punch line here is over a four year period, the energy use started good, but nowhere close to what was originally modelled and it took them four years to get to the modelled level, and in this case, because the facility manager had a vested interest through a gain share/pain share arrangement.

So this is to illustrate, again going back to the answer to the question, it takes time to get there. So I just wanted to confirm with you that this, this idea of making part of savings by design incentive contingent upon performance, that this still makes sense to Optimal's view of the world?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I mean, I think -- I think largely it does make sense.  I think this also demonstrates the importance of focusing on operation, how the building is operating and making operational improvements, kind of like a strategic energy management approach, as you said.

You know, yeah, I think -- I think it's -- yeah, I think it's good to measure performance as is, and, you know, a lot of programs, new construction programs, do hold back a portion of the incentive to wait on metered -- to wait on the metered data, and metering is becoming much and much -- you know, much better, and it is much easier to kind of verify, much easier and cheaper to kind of look at these things.

The trick is -- the trick is determining a baseline.  You know, I think that is the trickiest part of this, you know, what is the baseline, especially in new construction.  You have no, you know -- you know, I guess you compare it to some other hospitals or other similar hospitals and you make some normalizations with the weather data, but --


MR. JARVIS:  And I think in this case most of these kinds of buildings these days, especially in the public sector, are modelled coming in, so the model shows us where we should be.  And that, in fact, I believe is the basis for Enbridge's incentive, is the model performance being significantly better.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  Right.  So I used to do modelling, and we always told people that -- I don't need to get into that detail.  But, yes, I think it is -- I think it -- I think it makes sense to use measured data when possible and, you know, I think if you can move towards a scenario where you can confidently do that, it unlocks other possibilities in terms of program designs too, yeah.

MR. JARVIS:  Thank you, Mr. McDonald and Mr. Mosenthal.  Those are our questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Jarvis.

Apology to Mr. Quinn, which -- I missed him in the order of cross-examination.  So I will ask him now to provide the questions on behalf of the Federation of rental providers and property owners.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  No problem, Mr. Janigan.  It is late on a Friday and you have done well keeping us managed to the schedule.  So good afternoon to you and to the rest of the panel members and to the gentlemen from Optimal Energy.

My name is Dwayne Quinn.  I represent the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.  I did not submit a compendium.  Instead I alerted Ms. Adams that I will be referring to this panel's response to our interrogatory 3.FRPO.1.OEBStaff.1.  Thank you, Ms. Adams.

So in this interrogatory response we were asking about your experience with the multiple jurisdictions that you have been working in and your experience with third-party providers in these jurisdictions.

And I think if you scroll down, thank you, you can see the variety of states that you have provided to us that use -- third-party efficiency program administrators is the term you use, so thank you -- to provide a portion or all of ratepayer-funded efficiency programs.

So specifically from your experience, does the funding for the third-party provision of these programs generally come from an allocation of revenue generated from the rates of the energy customers in the respective jurisdictions?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.  Certainly most of them that I am intimately familiar with, and I would not be surprised if all of them do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's -- thank you.  And while I understand these jurisdictions may vary in how they have their ratemaking and allocation methodologies, would these allocations generally be determined on some proportional allocation of the revenues generated for the purposes of conservation in that jurisdiction?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Sure.  You know, I mean, in some cases it might be all of it, like it was in New Jersey for a while when the Board of Public Utilities was delivering programs and the utilities weren't.  In other cases there may be a portion that they're responsible for.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions for this afternoon.  Thank you, Commissioner Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Next we have Ian Mondrow from the Industrial Gas Users Association.  We suspected that we were going to see you, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I wanted to give you a chance to get that full name rather than the acronym rolling off your tongue, and you stepped up, so thank you very much for that.

[Laughter]
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that.  And I promise I won't take a lot of time.  I know it is late, but I appreciate the opportunity.  Thanks very much.

And Mr. Mosenthal, Mr. McDonald, good late afternoon.

I have just two topics briefly to talk to you about.  So as you know, as you have heard, I am counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association.  So that will give you a hint of what I am going to talk to you about, probably.

But I want to start first with some references in your written evidence and your oral testimony.  You have been referring -- you have used a couple of terms, efficiency surcharges and system benefits charges.  And we don't use that terminology in Ontario.

So I wanted to just start by asking you what you mean by those terms.  What are those?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Well, they are basically how, you know, how the efficiency programs are funded.  So, you know, typically some kind of a rider or surcharge on top of the otherwise rates that exist, absent any efficiency programs.  You know, there may be an extra amount per cubic metre or whatever the units are that the customers are paying-in that fund the efficiency programs.

MR. MONDROW:  Are those generally legislated in the jurisdictions that you are familiar with, that you referred to?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Usually not.  But sometimes they are.  Generally speaking they're, you know, decisions by the regulatory commissioners.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And are those decisions pursuant to legislative direction to undertake efficiency or regulatory policy or a combination?  Is there a predominance?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yeah, it varies.  Connecticut, for example, I think there is -- the legislature imposed a cap, a spending cap.  New Hampshire, the case was before the Commission recently, and the legislature, I think, tried to -- or actually, the Commission decided to cancel programs and stop the funding, and the legislature stepped in and tried to put it back.  So, yes, it can vary depending on where it happens.

MR. MONDROW:  And you referred, Mr. Mosenthal, to Massachusetts a couple times earlier this afternoon, I think.  What is the situation in Massachusetts?  Is that a legislated charge or a commission policy?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  It is a commission policy.  The legislature passed a law called the Green Communities Act that calls for an objective of capturing all cost-effective efficiency.  So they provided that direction to the commission, but the commission is the one who ultimately approves the utility plans.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So that is helpful.  So what I should have asked you, I guess, is not so much who sets the charge but is it a legislated mandate generally to set a system benefits charge or an efficiency surcharge?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I wouldn't say generally, but there are cases where that is the case.

MR. MONDROW:  Is that --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Such as Massachusetts, for example.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Is it predominantly a legislated mandate, or you wouldn't even go that far?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I don't think I would go that far, but --


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  -- I am not really sure.  I don't think so.  I think often there may be some kind of a general statement of objective or, you know, things like that, but not necessarily a mandate that the commission has directed that they have to approve something like that.

MR. MONDROW:  So very jurisdiction-specific, really?

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I do are one evidentiary reference just on this topic, so thank you for that explanation, and I will tell you why I was asking.  Well, you will see in a minute hopefully why I was asking.  And this is to your second report to staff.

So Ms. Adams, if you wouldn't mind.  It is Exhibit L.OEB Staff 2.  This is the program review report.  And I am looking -- the pages aren't numbered, but it is page 86 of the PDF.  It is under the large-volume customer.  There is a brief section on large-volume program, and it is in that section.  It is the second page of that section.  So again, on my PDF it's PDF number -- page number 86.

There we go.  Very well done, thank you very much.  Right there is perfect.  Just a little bit up.  Thank you, Ms. Adams.

I think you are prescient in some ways.  It is a fantastic skill.

I am looking halfway through the second line here where it says -- the sentence starts with word "however", the second sentence in this paragraph.

And you see it says:  
"Self direct is more desirable than an opt-out, because it still ensures that the large customers not paying the efficiency surcharge are investing in efficiency."


And I don't quite understand the notion that self-direct customers -- and we're talking about Enbridge's programs now -- are not paying the efficiency surcharge.  Is that what you meant to say?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Go ahead.

MR. McDONALD:  There is an echo there, I thought that was you.

I think in -- yeah, I mean I think -- when I think of an efficiency surcharge, you're putting it into a pool of money and then, you know, that is getting distributed according to the program administrator.

A self direct program is more like, you know, you used that money that you would have put into the SBC you are using in your own facility, or at least the majority of it.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, I don't understand.

MR. McDONALD:  Not heavily precise.  They still have an allocation of funds that they need to use on their own facilities.  But, you know, it is not quite the same situation as for our other customers.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think to paraphrase, the self-direct customers are still paying the surcharge.  It is just that it is sort of held in reserve for them.  Is that what you are trying to say, Cliff?

MR. McDONALD:  Exactly, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  But if we look at the sentence, you say self-direct is more desirable than opt-out because it still ensures that large customers not pay an efficiency surcharge are investing in efficiency.

So did you want to clarify something?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  So opt-out -- so you know, in an opt-out program that, you know, that is done, that is done in various jurisdictions.

And in that there is literally -- you know, a large customers can opt-out completely of the surcharge.  And you know, there is no requirement that they have to fund projects in their own -- in their own facilities.  It is just they can opt-out.  They don't pay the surcharge.

So in self direct, they do pay the surcharge still.  You know, and it is used, it is just that, you know, it is indicated for efficiency projects in their own utility.

In an opt-out program, there would be no kind of similar requirement.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  No, I understand that.  I understand what opt-out is.  But you are suggesting that this is a reason that self-direct is more desirable than opt-out, because it makes customers who aren't paying into the program nonetheless implement efficiency.  And that is not a correct statement, right, for Ontario?

MR. McDONALD:  Are you saying it is not correct because they are paying into -- this seems like -- maybe it is worded a little confusingly.  We're not suggesting they're not paying into the program.  We're suggesting that it is allocated to their own facilities.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I think the sentence is incorrect.  It really shouldn't say they're not paying in, paying the efficiency surcharge.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right, that's fine.  Thank you.  I appreciate that correction.

Let me move on then to my second topic of the two.  Mr. Elson for Environmental Defence started off examining you on your evidence, and he asked you right off the top whether you disagree with the proposition that large customers are self motivated to do efficiency due to higher energy costs.

And Mr. McDonald, you said you did disagree with that statement, which is what he wanted you to say, I think.

And as I understand your testimony, you disagreed with the statement on the basis that because the customers that Mr. Elson was talking about, all of their costs are higher, that is all of the costs of running their business is higher.  The fact that their energy costs are higher than other customers really didn't impact their motivation to do energy efficiency one way or the other.

Did I understand the --


MR. McDONALD:  So I think we gave a lot of reasons, one of the -- one of the points that I made on that was that just because they have -- just because a customer has high absolute energy costs does not -- it does not logically follow from that that their energy costs are higher as a proportion of total costs than for other customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And you did exclude from your disagreement -- so your agreement with Mr. Elson and your disagreement with the proposition, you excluded -- and I think you said some industries that are particularly energy intensive.  Did I hear that correctly?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  So I guess the point is not -- maybe it is true in some cases that the larger customers have higher proportion of total energy use than an average customer or like, you know, than an average customer, but not universally so.

And I think I further kind of clarified that even in those cases we think there is, you know, we don't think that they do all the cost-effective efficiency.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And there are a number of reasons for that; capital constraints, budgets.  You went through those with Mr. Elson, so we have that record.  I appreciate that.

But the point that you were making, I think, with your exclusion from your agreement with Mr. Elson is that a proportionately significant input cost does tend to attract attention from a business for minimizing wastage or controlling costs in that area, right, behaviourally?

MR. McDONALD:  I think that is generally true.  I would be cautious to make that as a blanket statement.  I think there is a lot of energy intensive industries where the energy using processes are very integral to the central business purpose.  If you think of industrial, the energy uses are you know, built around producing the product that they sell.

And so they can be, you know, that can create a huge reluctance to try to make changes to that, even if they, you know, are somewhat likely to save money, save energy costs.  Just the -- yeah, there is a risk maybe associated with change and especially change in your core business process.

MR. MONDROW:  So a risk in changing the process is what you are talking about?  A risk in innovating?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So you are suggesting that if an industrial has a very high input cost, there would tend to be an inertia against innovation in respect of that cost component?

MR. McDONALD:  I don't think I suggested like a causal relationship.  There might be some -- you know, I suggested that there is a barrier that's involved in customers, and especially industrial customers that are particularly energy intensive, because that energy intensity is usually or often and can be related to a core business process.

And there is a reluctance to modify that process if it is working, even if it could make it better.

MR. MONDROW:  Have you worked in large industrial facilities, Mr. McDonald?

MR. McDONALD:  I have not.  But I think there's been lots of studies cited looking at this.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, okay.  But you did testify earlier that some industries that are particularly energy intensive might well fit with the proposition that those customers would have a degree of self motivation to be efficient in their energy use.  I thought you agreed with that.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I think everyone has a degree of self motivation.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. McDonald.  Obviously everyone has a degree of self motivation, but that wasn't the question you were asked and that wasn't the exclusion.

Your exclusion earlier today was some industries are particularly energy intensive and they may be more inclined, self motivated to do energy efficiency than industries that are less energy intensive.  So you are changing that answer now, are you?

MR. McDONALD:  No, I'm not changing that.  I think it is a possibility.  Except there is a lot of factors in this, but yeah.

MR. MONDROW:  And that is one of the factors?

MR. McDONALD:  One of the factors is how much of -- yeah, I mean -- again I am hesitant to just make a blanket statement like this because especially when you get to large customers, there is a lot of site specific customer, specific factors going into this.

MR. MONDROW:  But, Mr. McDonald, you make made a blanket statement in agreeing with Mr. Elson.  Your blanket statement was it doesn't matter how high their energy costs are, they're not proportionately greater than other customers.  They're no more self motivated.

That was a blanket statement.  You stick with that statement, I assume.

MR. McDONALD:  I think there are -- yeah, I think if you take two customers that have the same portion of energy costs of, you know, total costs made up of energy, one could be more motivated to make improvements in efficiency than another.

So you know, I don't think that that's the main factor of how motivated a customer is.  There is, you know, there is a lot of factors that go into this.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And one of the factors I thought you said earlier was energy intensity; that is, more energy intensity would lead to a greater predisposition towards efficiency, everything else being equal.  Do you agree with that?

MR. McDONALD:  So I think I said I could see reasons why that might be the case and I could see reasons why that might not be the case, and so that's kind --


MR. MONDROW:  Okay --


MR. McDONALD:  -- of what I thought I said.

MR. MONDROW:  And it is the proportionality of that input.  So for example, there are a lot of large-volume customers that use as much and probably more in many cases gas as a process input because they need the methane molecule, not the -- they don't burn it.  They -- for heat or for energy to drive a turbine they use it in their process.  And if they use an awful lot of methane and they get that methane from natural gas, that would be a very high -- a very large input into their process.

And your point was that in some cases the significance of the inputs, natural gas input, to the process could yield a greater sensitivity to being efficient with that input, and you have just qualified that in some cases it might, in some cases it might not.  There are arguments on both sides.  But it is the degree to which natural gas figures as a prominent input cost, was the topic that you were addressing, right, whether for process heat or for the methane molecule, for whatever reason they use the gas, like any industrial input.

MR. McDONALD:  So I mean -- yeah.  Can you -- sorry, can you -- is there a question?  Can you rephrase what the question is?

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.  So the quote I had written down from you from earlier today -- I'm sorry this is so difficult.  I am really struggling with -- I think you are clarifying, so I appreciate your efforts.  Earlier today you said some industries that are particularly energy-intensive might in fact have a greater -- well, now I am paraphrasing the rest -- might in fact have a greater self-motivation to do efficiency.  And what you just --


MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  They might in fact have a greater, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And you said energy-intensive, but it also -- whether they use the gas for energy or they use it as a chemical input into their process, the point is that they use a lot of gas relative to their other inputs, that that would be the intensity that is under consideration here.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  I -- yeah.  That -- yes.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And you have said in some cases that intensity -- that proportionate share of the input cost could lead to greater attention on efficiency in respect of that input, but not in all cases, there are a lot of different factors.  That is what I understand you to be saying.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.  I would agree with that, yeah.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right.  That's helpful.  Thank you very much.

And Mr. Chair, I will stop there.  Thank you for your indulgence.

Thank you, gentlemen.  Have a good afternoon.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Mondrow.

We're going to take a five-minute break, bio break, right now and come back at 4:50 with Mr. O'Leary.
--- Recess taken at 4:46 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:51 p.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, Mr. O'Leary, you are occupying my least favorite position when I was counsel, cross-examining the last on get-away Friday.

MR. O'LEARY:  You have taken the words out of my mouth, Mr. Chair.

[Laughter]
Cross-Examination by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  I still have a couple of questions, but I have done a little bit of slashing and burning so I don't think I will be that long.  But I must say that I felt compelled and would feel remiss if I didn't ask at least one question in respect of Mr. Buonaguro's question.

So, Ms. Adams, could I take you to JT2.10 and I didn't get the page number, but it is -- this is the response of, yes, item 20.  It is the one dealing with negotiated incentives.

So I saw the word "negotiated" and I said this must mean there is work for my commercial contract colleagues, but I know that is not what you are meaning.

I do have a couple of questions.  So first of all if a negotiated incentive was something that the Board approved, can you tell me, would the Board be setting -- would you or ask the Board to set parameters on the rules for that or would it be within the discretion of the company?  I guess that is for you, Mr. McDonald.  You are on mute, I think.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  You know, I think -- I think there would likely be some parameters.  You know, in general I like maintaining flexibility, you know, and in this as much as possible.

But certainly you don't want to go too much or maybe, you know, maybe incentives over a certain amount in some cases would require approval.  So you know, I think there is various ways you could put parameters on what the incentives should be, or what they could be in a max way and, you know, whether that is coming from the Board or some management -- from the utility or some combination of those two could be, you know, part of the details.

But, yes, I mean certainly, you know, it needs to be cost-effective.  Maybe it should go above a certain amount of the project costs, maybe those kinds of parameters are still applicable.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And the company's response was that negotiated incentives may result in the perception of affording some customers preferential treatment.

Let me just ask you a little hypothetical. You have two greenhouse vegetable growers that are, you know, a mile apart.  One negotiates incentives at a certain level and the other negotiates incentives at twice that level.  They get to talking and find out one has done better than the other.

Do you anticipate that one might be concerned about the fact they weren't receiving the same level of incentives as the competitor?

MR. McDONALD:  So I mean, I think this level of -- there is variation in pricing in a lot of different industries.  I can get two quotes on a HVAC installation and get pretty different results.

So you know, I don't think it is a very uncommon situation.

You know, I guess I don't know they both got what they felt they needed to do to move the Board closer, you know, and I would certainly want some guidelines on incentives.  You know, maybe don't buy it back under a certain payback, you know, and those kind of parameters.  Maybe you can't go higher than, you know -- maybe there is a minimum payback that would you see them buy it.  Maybe there is a minimum IRR, or maybe both, however you want to structure it.

MR. O'LEARY:  You would agree -- sorry, you would agree with me that the utility should treat its ratepayers on an equitable basis.  Fair?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes, absolutely.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay, thank you.  Ms. Adams, can you please go to Mr. Weaver's reply evidence at table 2, page 12.  It was what Mr. Brophy took us to.

And these questions I believe are for you, Mr. McDonald, because you are the one that responded to the questions from Mr. Brophy.

You see the first column is capital structure, 64 percent long term debt, 36 percent equity.  Are you aware of the fact that the capital structure has actually been set by the Ontario Energy Board?

MR. McDONALD:  We're aware of that, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And there was a long proceeding many years ago that actually resulted in that capital structure?

MR. McDONALD:  Okay.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And what I understand you are proposing now is that the regulatory asset that is going to build up over the years if we go to an amortization cost recovery model, the interest will accrue at the long term debt which is 4.0 percent.

That is what you are now proposing, right?

MR. McDONALD:  I mean, I think we're proposing that a portion of the return on equity should be tied to performance of the program, and not just automatic based on spending.

MR. O'LEARY:  We haven't seen any details about that.  But in terms of calculating what goes into rates, you are saying that the cost of capital should be 4 percent, not the weighted average cost of capital.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  Right.  I mean, so we're saying that the interest rate on the balance should be set to make the utility whole for their own, you know, their carrying costs of the debt, but not to provide kind of an incentive, a return for the shareholders.  That is covered in the performance incentive.

MR. O'LEARY:  So you will agree with me that if you've got -- let's pick a number, because it seems to be used regularly.  If the regulatory asset reaches the one billion mark or better, somebody has to finance that.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. O'LEARY:  Somebody has to go to the capital markets and say, we need a billion dollars.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  Right.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And if it is all done in long term debt, would you agree with me that the company's capital structure is then going to change?  It will no longer be 64 percent.  It is going to be a higher number.

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Which means the equity component is going to drop, right?

MR. McDONALD:  If it's all financed in long term debt, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Correct.  So for the company then to maintain its capital structure at 64/36, won't it then have to actually earn a higher equity component on its physical assets to make up the difference, and then be in compliance with the capital structure that's been set by the Board?

MR. McDONALD:  I don't think we're necessarily saying especially if that capital structure is something that is set and settled, I don't think we're necessarily saying finance it all in long term debt.  We're saying the portion -- that return associated with the shareholder equity, that should be tied to performance of the program and not just automatic.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But at the end of the day, somebody has to go to the capital markets and say, we need a billion dollars.

MR. McDONALD:  Right.

MR. O'LEARY:  If you tell the capital markets we're only going to earn four percent on that --


MR. McDONALD:  I mean, you're telling the debt markets that, you know, the interest rate is going to be guaranteed and you are telling the shareholders that if -- if assuming they perform well, you know, assuming the performance is good, they're going to get the 9 percent return.  It is just that it is predicated on the performance being good, right.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. McDonald, you told us at the technical conference at page 190, "we are not experts on utility financing."  Those were your words.

So I would ask you to accept that you are not here and you are not capable of providing evidence of an expert nature to the Ontario Energy Board about how to finance regulatory assets and physical assets.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONALD:  Well, that is kind of why we said, you know, instead of saying specific your interest should be at 2.53 percent, we said it should be set in a way to make you whole in the carrying costs of debt.  That is kind of what I think the context of that statement.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, let's --


MR. McDONALD:  We are not going to make a recommendation that this specific is your interest rate, and this is your carrying cost, because that is not what we're experts in and that is not what the scope of our work was.  But we can set the recommendation that, you know, the interest rate could be set according to these parameters.

MR. O'LEARY:  Let's go to something that we believe you were qualified to give expertise about, and that is what has been taking place in the United States.

If I could ask Ms. Adams to go to page 69 of the Enbridge compendium, if you scroll down to the bottom -- just to shorten things up, the reason why there is the black bar in the left-hand side is because Optimal has changed, updated its earlier report to reflect more updated information.

And specifically, you will agree with me, Mr. McDonald, that what you determined was your earlier information in your report about what the state of Missouri was using for the interest rate was actually out of date and, in fact, Missouri was using the weighted average cost of capital, so you have corrected your earlier report from short-term carrying cost of debt, which was wrong, to the weighted average cost of capital.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  Right.  Yes.  I point out that Missouri used to amortize, as I think it kind of moved away from it after it passed the legislation in 2015, I think.  You know, they still -- the electric utilities still do recover their performance incentives over six years, and for that they use the short-term cost of debt.

So it is just -- you know, I think there's nuance there, but, yeah, we -- the report -- information in the original report was outdated.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And then could you go to page 71, Ms. Adams.  As a further result of you determining that your information was, I will say wrong, you made a further change, because your original recommendation was that the interest rate would be calculated on the basis of the short-term carrying cost of debt, and I believe that is the number that Mr. Mosenthal was referring to about 1.2 percent.  Is that --


MR. McDONALD:  So I think, you know, that's not -- that change was maybe updated based on -- based on some of the, you know, discussion in the interrogatory responses where, you know, we said short-term cost of debt and, you know, that's -- that was probably not the correct language, because what we really meant is that -- is that the interest rates should be set so that the carrying costs of the debt are recovered, and if the short-term cost of debt is -- you know, if that is like a one-year loan term and, you know, you're taking out loans on 15-year terms, then that is not precise enough language.

So, you know, we tried to update the language to be more precise, but I don't think that is related to the Missouri change specifically.  I don't think changing Missouri impacts that.  You know, we just wanted to be more clear that short-term cost of debt could mean one year, but we really mean it should be -- it should match the term that you amortize over.

MR. O'LEARY:  You will agree with me, Mr. McDonald, that what you are proposing to the Ontario Energy Board is not done in any other jurisdiction in North America at this time, correct?

MR. McDONALD:  That's correct, as far as we are aware.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  I just wanted to clarify, you know.  We made a recommendation on the principle of -- you know, that we think the Board -- it makes sense for the Board to make a judgment about what kind of risk is associated with delivering DSM programs and to provide the shareholders with a reasonable rate of return that's going to attract the equity necessary and compensate them for that risk, but that it should be scaled based on performance.  And one of the things we pointed out is you can do that the way New Jersey and Illinois does it, which we talked about in the report, where you bundle it all together.

So you are getting back your WACC, your weighted average cost of capital, on the amortization, but it goes up or down depending on the scaling.

I think investors can be sophisticated enough to accept that, okay, there's two pieces of our investment return, and add them up.

So I think there is different ways it could be structured, but the main message was, we think that earnings share of the money ought to be based on performance, not just spending the money.

MR. O'LEARY:   Yeah, I understand what you are saying.  It is just, I had concern that you're not actually basing it upon any other jurisdiction that is doing exactly what you are proposing.  But let's move on.

Could I ask you to please go to, Ms. Adams, our compendium, page 45.  And again, to speed us along here, you should recognize this.  This came from your final scope-of-work document, and it is the milestone dates that you set with Ontario Energy Board Staff for the delivery of your reports.

And if you just -- yes, scroll down -- you will see that your -- the anticipation originally was that your report would be delivered in around October 9, 2020.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And is it fair to say that a good portion of your report was completed by that time?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  Sorry --


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary.  It's Lawren Murray here.  I am not entirely sure of the relevance of this line of questioning.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I will show you in a second, but I think I heard Mr. McDonald say yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And the other question I have, and this sort of relates to the objection you raised earlier with Mr. Brophy, to the extent that you want to explore these issues, it is not clear to me why you didn't in the technical conference earlier.

MR. O'LEARY:  This is cross-examination.  They're not technical conference questions.

MR. McDONALD:  I also would like to clarify, you know, there was a draft of the report kind of on this timeline, but there were significant revisions and updates.

MR. O'LEARY:  And that may be.  I wasn't trying to go anything further.  I am just trying to set some context here.

So could you please go to page 27, Ms. Adams, of our compendium.  And this is the OEB's directive letter, which has come up numerous times here.  And I want to ask you a couple of questions about this.

So would you please scroll down to the second page.  And just to familiarize you with this, this is the letter from the Ontario Energy Board to Enbridge which said, we're going to discontinue the consultative, and we want to start down the road of you filing a plan, and it gives various directions here.

And would you scroll down a little more, Ms. Adams?  At the bottom it states that, starting the second line, the OEB states:

"Following its review and consideration of the submissions of the various parties to the consultation, the OEB is of the view that the primary objective of ratepayer-funded natural gas DSM is assisting customers..."

So let me stop there for a sec.

I asked Mr. Neme yesterday whether he agreed that the reference to customers means natural gas customers.  And he agreed that it does.  Do you disagree with Mr. Neme?

MR. McDONALD:  No, that sounds right.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And then --


MR. McDONALD:  I am trying to find the line.  The very bottom of the page?

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry.  I don't mean to jump ahead.  Let's go over the whole paragraph if it would help.

MR. McDONALD:  No.  I can read it.  "The primary objective is assisting customers" -- yes, I would say that my interpretation would be that that is natural gas customers.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay, thank you.  And then if you could scroll over to the next page, Ms. Adams.  And I won't go through it all, but in the second full paragraph, about halfway down, it states that:

"The OEB anticipates modest budget increases to be proposed by Enbridge Gas."

MR. McDONALD:  Okay.

MR. O'LEARY:  You see that?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And there's been discussion about, what does a person believe "modest" means throughout this proceeding, and I wasn't going to ask you that.  But would you agree with me that in your report dealing with your recommendations about Enbridge's program offerings, there is no reference whatsoever to the Board's December 1, 2020 letter in it?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  We did not reference this -- the letter, and we don't quote this direction for modest increases.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  So it is fair to assume that your recommendations were all made without having regard to the OEB's direction in terms of concentrating on natural gas customers and, secondly, proposing modest budgets.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah.  I mean, I think we were hired to give recommendations on policy going forward.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.

MR. MOSENTHAL:  Just to clarify, that was the first report that was written before the directive.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But my --


MR. MOSENTHAL:  Not both.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  But the second report, if it was written after it, also did not make any mention -- sorry.  Specifically, the second report made no mention of the December 1, 2020 letter.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  Right.  It wasn't -- that wasn't the purpose of that report, just --


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And all I am simply trying to say is that you've generated a report which says, here's what we would recommend if there are no budget constraints on the utility.  Right?

MR. McDONALD:  I mean so -- yeah, I think a lot of those recommendations would apply regardless of whether or not there is budget constraints.

MR. O'LEARY:  But your recommendations, to a large extent, refer to increasing the incentives payable in respect of certain measures, increasing the measures that are available, and we heard you talk in your evidence today about eliminating certain caps.

So you would agree with me that means increasing your budget...


MR. McDONALD:  Look, I think if there is a budget constraint, you have two options.  One is to kind of offer worse programs to a lot more people, and more --just do a lot of cream skimming.  And the other is to force yourself to limit participation and still offer them kind of deep comprehensive services.

And you know, I can't speak for Phil or anyone else, but my personal preference would be to go with that latter, and when you -- you know, when you have a DSM program right there is a lot of costs associated with acquiring a customer, doing an audit, identifying measures and to go through all of those costs and say oh, we're only going to do a quarter or half or whatever of the cost-effective measures, that to me is a backwards way to look at it and a lost opportunity.

So if there is a budget constraint, my preference would be to go deeper among a fewer -- a fewer amount of participants rather than just to cream skim from everyone.

MR. O'LEARY:  And if there are fewer participants, then fewer ratepayer natural gas customers are actually benefiting from the DSM measures, right.

MR. McDONALD:  Which is why our recommendation would also be to expand the budget, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  One further little area is -- could you, Ms. Adams, go to page 20 of the compendium.  I similarly took a witness to this.  This is the integrated resource planning decision of the Ontario Energy Board dated July 22nd, 2021.

So it is even after the direction from the OEB that was given to the company about modest budgets.

Could you flip to the next page?  And I will try to do this quickly, but in that proceeding -- are you aware of the integrated resource planning is?

MR. McDONALD:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  I don't ask that disrespectfully.  I just want to make sure we're talking about --


MR. McDONALD:  I am not super familiar with this particular IRP or this particular IRP process, but yes I am familiar with IRPs in general.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  The page I have taken you to is the Ontario Energy Board's summary of what was asked for and it reads:  
"Enbridge Gas sought approval to use non--gas alternatives, including electricity-based solutions, as integrated resource planning alternatives and specifically requested confirmation from the Energy Board as to whether or not non--gas alternatives can be considered.  Potential non-gas alternatives could include electric air source heat pumps, geothermal systems and district energy systems."


So you are now aware that Enbridge had actually asked the Board to allow it to do all electric IRP alternatives.  Fair?  That is what it says.

MR. McDONALD:  Sought approval -- so this is kind of a non-pipes alternative request?

MR. O'LEARY:  That would be one way to put it, yes.

MR. McDONALD:  Yeah, that is what it says, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And Ms. Adams can you flip over to page 25 of the same compendium?

And you will see the highlighted portion there.  The first bit says -- now, this is the actual Energy Board's decision.
"Enbridge Gas also proposed non-gas IRPAs, specifically electricity-based alternatives.  The OEB has concluded that as part of this first-generation IRP framework, it is not appropriate to provide funding to Enbridge Gas for electricity IRPAs."


So the non-gas all electric alternatives, the OEB said, in December of 2021 -- just about eight months ago -- no.

So is it fair to say that your recommendations in respect of --


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary, just perhaps for the record, we could correct that.  You said it was December 2021.  The decision, at least at the bottom of the page, says July 2021.

MR. O'LEARY:  I'm sorry.  I meant to say July.  I misspoke, sorry.  I was right about eight months ago.

All I am simply trying to ask is for the purposes of your report and your recommendation that the company should be pursuing fuel agnostic or all electricity solutions, would you agree that that is in direct conflict with what the company has been told to do by the Ontario Energy Board?

MR. McDONALD:  You know, I would need more information and more context to make that statement.  A lot of jurisdictions treat these kind of IRPAs differently than general efficiency.  You know, I think our recommendation is not that you promote electric. It is that you allow it in programs and that you offer, you know, you maybe coordinate with electric providers.

So I don't -- you know, it certainly seems like this decision rejects it in the context of kind of, you know, specific projects meant to offset supply-side solutions.  But, yeah, I am just -- you know, I'm not -- I'm not that familiar with the context of this specific IRP and this specific IRP proceeding.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. McDonald.  Thank you, Mr. Mosenthal.  Those are our questions.  Thank you, Commissioners.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  The panel has no questions for these witnesses.  Is there any redirect, Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  Commissioners, there is no redirect.  So the Optimal Energy's day is done.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  We will thank to the panel, witness panel, Mr. Mosenthal and Mr. McDonald, and wishing you having a very good weekend.
Procedural Matters:


I am reminded to remind Mr. Murray that he has to read-in the exhibit numbers from presentation day at this juncture.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  This is absolutely the most interesting part of everyone's day now, but we understand that some parties have suggested that we enter in the various presentations that were given on presentation day and give them exhibit numbers, as it was not done during the original presentation day.  So I will do that now.

Please note that we are going to be referring to them as KP rather than just K because the presentation day is sort of a distinct element from the oral hearing which occurred this week.

So KP1.1 will be the Enbridge cover letter of its presentation day materials.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.1:  ENBRIDGE COVER LETTER OF ITS PRESENTATION DAY MATERIALS


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.2 will be Enbridge's presentation from presentation day.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.2:  ENBRIDGE'S PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.3 will be Enbridge's presentation day compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.3:  ENBRIDGE'S PRESENTATION DAY COMPENDIUM


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.4 will be First Tracks' presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.4:  FIRST TRACKS' PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.5 will be OEB Staff's presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.5:  OEB STAFF'S PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.6 will be the GEC/ED.EFG presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.6:  GED/ED.EFG PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.7 will be Environmental Defence's presentation by Dr. McDiarmid.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.7:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE'S PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.8 will be the Small Business Utility Alliance's GEEG presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.8:  SMALL BUSINESS UTILITY ALLIANCES GEEG PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.9 will be the BOMA Enerlife presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.9:  BOMA ENERLIFE PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.10 will be Pollution Probe's presentation from presentation day.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.10:  POLLUTION PROBE'S PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  KP1.11 will be Anwaatin's presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.11:  ANWAATIN'S PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY:  Finally, KP1.12 will be the School Energy Coalition's presentation.
EXHIBIT NO. KP1.12:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION'S PRESENTATION FROM PRESENTATION DAY


MR. MURRAY: That is all of the materials from presentation day.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  I would remind participants that the dates for final submissions on this matter have been set out in a procedural order, and we intend, as I indicated earlier, to be issuing a letter next week that may be assisting you with the process of preparing argument for this proceeding.

Finally, I would like to thank all of the participants for their cooperation in allowing us to hold this proceeding within the five day time window, and to do it in an efficient manner.

There's some people that also need to be thanked.  Ms. Bonnie Adams, whose magic with those documents continues to amaze me, particularly when it takes me three minutes to pull up any document and that's a short period of time for me that I require.

I would also like to thank our court reporter Ms. Teresa Forbes, who has done a yeoman's service, particularly in times when we have extended the morning period well into the afternoon.

In our own -- on our own team, extended thanks to Cherida Walter as our hearings advisor that keeps us in line, and Lillian Ing that stepped in for her.  And of course our case manager, Josh Wasylyk, who is indispensable, and as well for Lawren Murray who has been a source advice from time to time on proceedings.

So with that --


MR. O'LEARY:  May I interrupt for a second, Mr. Chair, and express on behalf of all of the participants our thanks for your dedication and attention throughout this lengthy proceeding, and we wish you the very best and thank you once again for all of your efforts.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary, and last but not least I would like to thank my fellow panel members who have had to put up with me for the last five days.

So wishing everyone a very good weekend and we will be in communication in the near future.  Thanks again.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 5:23 p.m.
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